
 

 

For all enquiries relating to this agenda please contact Sharon Kauczok 
 (Tel: 01443 864243   Email: kauczs@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

 
Date: 18th March 2015 

 
 
 
 
Dear Sir/Madam, 
 
A meeting of the Health Social Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee will be held in the Sirhowy 
Room, Penallta House, Tredomen, Ystrad Mynach on Tuesday, 24th March, 2015 at 5.30 pm to 
consider the matters contained in the following agenda. 
 

Yours faithfully, 

 
Chris Burns 

INTERIM CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 

Pages 
  

1  To receive apologies for absence.  
 

 
2  Declarations of Interest.   

Councillors and Officers are reminded of their personal responsibility to declare any personal 
and/or prejudicial interest (s) in respect of any item of business on this agenda in accordance 
with the Local Government Act 2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Code of Conduct for 
both Councillors and Officers. 
 
 

To approve and sign the following minutes: -   
 
3  Health, Social Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee held on 10th February 2015.  

1 - 8 
 

4  Consideration of any matter referred to this Committee in accordance with the call-in procedure.  

Public Document Pack



 
 

5  To receive a verbal report from the Cabinet Member for Social Services.  
 

 
To receive and consider the following Cabinet reports*:-  
 
6  Scrap Metal Dealers Licensing Fees 2015/16 - 18th February 2015.  

 
 

7  Public Protection Enforcement Policy - 4th March 2015.  
 

 
*If a member of the Scrutiny Committee wishes for either of the above Cabinet reports to be 
brought forward for discussion at the meeting please contact Sharon Kauczok, Committee 
Services Officer, Tel no. 01443 864243 by 10.00am on Monday, 23rd March 2015..   

 
 To receive and consider the following Scrutiny reports/Presentations:-  
 
8  CSSIW National Inspection of Safeguarding and Care Planning of Looked After Children and 

Care Leavers who Exhibit Vulnerable or Risky Behaviours.  (Presentation by Bobbie Jones, 
Strategy Inspector CSSIW).  

9 - 102 
 

9  Presentation:  Revised Social Services Complaints/Representation Regulations.  
 

 
10  Proposal to Increase Fixed Penalty Notice Fines for Litter and Dog Control Order Offences and 

to set Fixed Penalty Notice Fines for Community Protection Notices and Public Space Protection 
Orders.  

103 - 108 
 

11  Hospital Discharge.  
109 - 114 

 
12  To record any requests for an item to be included on the next available agenda.  

 
 

 To receive and note the following information item*: -  
 
13  Gwent Wide Integrated Community Equipment Services.  

115 - 118 
 
*If a member of the Scrutiny Committee wishes for the above information item to be brought 
forward for discussion at the meeting please contact Sharon Kauczok, Committee Services 
Officer, Tel. No. 01443 864243, by 10.00am on Monday, 23rd March 2015.  

 
 
Circulation: 
Councillors: L. Ackerman (Chair), Mrs E.M. Aldworth, A. Angel, Mrs G. Bevan, L.J. Binding, Mrs P. Cook 
(Vice Chair), Ms J. Gale, L. Gardiner, N. George, C.J. Gordon, Mrs P. A. Griffiths, G. J. Hughes, A. Lewis, 
S. Morgan, J.A. Pritchard and A. Rees 
 
Users and Carers: Mr C. Luke, Mrs J. Morgan, Miss L. Price and Mrs M. Veater 
 
Aneurin Bevan Health Board: Mrs B. Bolt (Divisional Director Primary Care and Networks) 
 



And Appropriate Officers 



This page is intentionally left blank



Health, Social Care & Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee - 10.02.2015 

 
 

 

 

HEALTH, SOCIAL CARE AND WELLBEING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD AT PENALLTA HOUSE, TREDOMEN, 

YSTRAD MYNACH ON TUESDAY, 10TH FEBRUARY 2015 AT 5.30 P.M. 
 

 
PRESENT: 

 
Councillor L. Ackerman - Chair 

Councillor Mrs P. Cook - Vice Chair 
 

Councillors: 
 

 Mrs E.M. Aldworth, A.P. Angel, Mrs G. Bevan, Ms E.J. Gale, L. Gardiner, N. George, 
C.J. Gordon, Mrs P. Griffiths, G.J. Hughes, A. Lewis, S. Morgan, J.A. Pritchard, A. Rees. 

 
 Cabinet Members:  Councillor R. Woodyatt and D.V. Poole. 
  

Together with: 
 

D. Street (Corporate Director Social Services), G. Jenkins (Assistant Director Children 
Services), J. Williams (Assistant Director Adult Services), M. Jones (Finance Manager), 
C. Forbes-Thompson (Scrutiny Research Officer), S.M. Kauczok (Committee Services 
Officer). 

 
 Users & Carers: Mr C. Luke, Miss H.L. Price and Mrs M. Veater MBE, Sam Crane (ABUHB). 
 
 
 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 
 
 The Chair welcomed Wendy Bourton, Paul Buss, Allan Davies, David Jenkins, Judith Paget 

and Siobhan McClelland (ABUHB), together with Sarah Glynn-Jones and Gillian Huws-John 
(CSSIW) to the meeting. 

 
 
 COUNCILLOR K.V. REYNOLDS 
 
 It was noted that Councillor K.V. Reynolds, Leader of Council, was currently experiencing ill 

health.  Members requested that their best wishes be sent to him for a speedy recovery. 
 
 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
 An apology for absence had been received from Councillor L. Binding. 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



Health, Social Care & Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee - 10.02.2015 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
 Councillors L. Ackerman and J.A. Pritchard declared an interest during the course of the 

discussion on Agenda item 9 - ABUHB Annual Performance Evaluation for 2013-14.  Details 
are recorded in the minutes relating to that item and in the Declaration of Members' Interests 
Register. 

 
 
3. MINUTES 
 

RESOLVED that: - 
 
1. The minutes of the Special Health, Social Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny 

Committee held on 16th October 2014 be approved and signed as a correct 
record subject it being noted that Ffwrm-Bryn should read Fferm-y-Bryn (page 
3, line 7). 

 
2. The minutes of the Health, Social Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee held 

on 2nd December 2014 be approved and signed as a correct record. 
 
 
4. CONSIDERATION OF ANY MATTER REFERRED TO THE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE IN 

ACCORDANCE WITH THE CALL-IN PROCEDURE 

 
 There had been no matters referred to the Scrutiny Committee in accordance with the call-in 

procedure. 
 
 
5. REPORT OF THE CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL SERVICES  
 
 The Scrutiny Committee received a verbal report from Councillor R. Woodyatt, Cabinet 

Member for Social Services. 
 
 Councillor Woodyatt attended two events last week to celebrate the achievements of almost 

one hundred of the Authority's Looked After Children.  The events at Ty Penallta and 
Caerphilly Castle were an opportunity to show the children that the Authority recognises their 
hard work and is extremely proud of their endeavours. 

 
 Since the last Council meeting there have been some temporary structural changes which 

impact on the role of this Scrutiny Committee.  With effect from January 2015 the Public 
Protection Division, which is overseen by Rob Hartshorn, came under the management of the 
Corporate Director Social Services.  With effect from the next meeting of the Scrutiny 
Committee any Public Protection reports will be considered at this Scrutiny Committee rather 
than the Regeneration and Environment Scrutiny Committee.  Rob Hartshorn will deliver a 
short presentation on the role and functions of Public Protection at the next meeting. 

 
 In terms of the agenda for this meeting, Members were informed that there would be two 

presentations.  The first will be from colleagues at the Aneurin Bevan University Health Board.  
This will be followed by a presentation from the Care and Social Services Inspectorate for 
Wales with regard to the annual performance evaluation for 2013/14.  Members will also 
receive a report on the latest budget position and a report on the Wales Audit Review of Local 
Authority arrangements to support Safeguarding of Children. 

 
 The Chair thanked Councillor Woodyatt for his report and invited questions from the Scrutiny 

Committee. 

Page 2



Health, Social Care & Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee - 10.02.2015 

6. CABINET REPORTS 
 
 There had been no requests for the Cabinet reports dated 10th December 2014, to be brought 

forward for discussion at the meeting. 
 
 
 SCRUTINY REPORTS 

 
 Consideration was given to the following presentations and reports. 
 
 
7. PRESENTATION - ABUHB ANNUAL PERFORMANCE EVALUATION FOR 2013-14 
 
 Judith Paget, accompanied by her colleagues from  ABUHB, presented the Health Board's 

Annual Performance Evaluation for 2013-14. 
 
 The Health Board, which was established in 2009, covers six Local Authority areas and 

serves an estimated population of over 639,000, of which 171,300 are Caerphilly residents.  It 
employs over 13,000 staff and is allocated £1.1 billion per year from Welsh Government to 
deliver its services. 

 
 The Health Board's current 3 year plan included the opening of Ysbyty Aneurin Bevan and the 

consolidated minor injury service at the Royal Gwent and Nevill Hall Hospitals in 2010.  In 
2011 Ysbyty Ystrad Fawr (YYF) opened and the Frailty Community Resource Teams and  
Neighbourhood Care Networks were established. 2013 saw the arrival of Single Integrated 
Plans, driving shared agenda through NCNs, the opening of the Rhymney Integrated Health 
and Social Care Centre and the consolidation of Foot and Ankle Surgery at YYF. 

 
 Key developments that had taken place in Caerphilly included work on the Eye Care Pathway 

with patients now being able to access post operative and glaucoma follow up services at high 
street opticians. There had also been success in working with local dental practices in 
connection with the Minor Oral Surgery Pathway. The Stroke Community Rehabilitation 
Service commenced in October 2014 and Step Down services were developed with partners 
in each NCN area. In addition, more children and families are receiving support through the 
expansion of Flying Start. 

 
 In terms of improving models of care, reference was made to LEAP (Listen, Engage, Act, 

Participate) new ways of working with people with mental illness in Caerphilly County Borough 
(Vanguard); 3rd sector services joint procurement approach to reshape services and the 
Family Intervention Team - CAMHS.  In terms of improving health and wellbeing, there had 
been major investment in 2014/15 in obesity, smoking and cardiology and plans to deliver 
more local services.  Moving forward into the new plan, there will be an ongoing focus on 
health prevention. 

 
 Details were received of the Health Board's performance against targets for the year.  A 

strong focus on quality and patient safety had resulted in good progress on controlling 
infection in hospitals and in the management of stroke patients. Much work was being 
undertaken to improve figures for A&E waiting times and Ambulance Response Times. 

 
 Reference was made to the financial challenges ahead and a chart showing the 2014-15 

revenue allocation per head for the Welsh Health Boards was displayed. The ongoing 
pressure is growth in continuing health care expenditure.  The importance of working with 
patients and the public was highlighted and a Patient Quality and Safety Committee meets 
regularly. 

Page 3



Health, Social Care & Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee - 10.02.2015 

 Neighbourhood Care Networks (NCNs) are continuing to develop as multi professional and 
multi agency fora. The networks are leading and influencing local service delivery and pulling 
in a broad range of health and social care professionals to address many local issues 
including health inequality, housing and poverty.  There are three NCN areas in Caerphilly, 
one each in the north, east and south.  Details of their priorities were provided. 

 
 Looking ahead, the Integrated Medium Team Plan 2015/16 - 2018/19, will address reducing 

health inequalities; prevention and improving population health; primary care services; 
bringing care closer to home; chronic conditions management; continuing health care; service 
sustainability; mental health and learning disability; urgent and emergency care and planned 
care. 

 
 Following the informative presentation, a detailed question and answer session ensued.  

During a query raised in relation to Trinant Medical Centre, Councillor Lyn Ackerman declared 
an interest as she is registered with the Practice that was running the Centre. Judith Paget 
referred to the likelihood of some of the very small practices within the Health Board area 
amalgamating to provide a range of services for patients. 

 
 The Health Board responded in detail to a series of questions and comments from a Member 

in relation to the step-up bed chart, tier 2 psychiatric support at Rhymney, continuing 
healthcare, hospital bed numbers, A&E emergency figures and the temporary cessation of 
overnight emergency admissions at the Medical Assessment Unit at YYF.  Judith Paget and 
Siobhan McClelland advised that they had not been aware of any issues with the tier 2 
support at Rhymney.  Ms McClelland invited members to contact her with their concerns in 
order that she could investigate the matter.   The Committee was advised that during the short 
disruption at YYF, patients were re-directed to the Royal Gwent Hospital for treatment. 

 
 In response to observations made by a Member of his experiences of visiting YYF, Judith 

Paget responded that a Trust into Care Audit had taken place during which all wards were 
visited and positive feedback had been received.  The audit had not identified any issues with 
regard to staffing levels or safety.  A working group had been set up to examine issues around 
medication and a major study was looking at demand in GP practices, appointment times, 
capacity etc.  ABUHB compared well with other Health Boards in Wales in terms of GP 
access. 

 
 Reference was made to the work being undertaken in Child and Adolescent Mental Health 

Services (CAMHS).  A Member questioned how improvements could be made to the 
partnership with local authorities.  The Health Board agreed that there was a need to do more 
across Wales in terms of CAMHS. Paul Buss said that he would refer the Members' 
comments to David Williams, Divisional Director (Family and Therapies ABUHB).  Judith 
Paget stressed that the Health Board's wish was to work together to meet the wellbeing and 
emotional needs of children.  Sam Crane referred to the Gwent wide CAMHS Board, which 
comprises the Directors of Children Services from the five local authorities and offered to 
forward details of its activities.  Siobhan McClelland referred to a National Review launch on 
28th February 2015. 

 

 Concern was expressed in relation to the 8 minute Ambulance Response Time figures and 
Members queried what action was being taken to resolve the situation.  Judith Paget said that 
a range of initiatives were being put in place to ease the pressure and additional resource had 
been allocated to the Welsh Ambulance NHS Trust to recruit more staff.   The Health Board 
was working with its colleagues to explore how response times can be improved. 

 
 A Member commented on the signage for the Local Emergency Centre at YYF, which causes 

confusion and raises expectations amongst the public about the type of condition that can be 
treated there.  It was reported that there is ongoing debate at a national level on the naming of 
these types of units across Wales on which consensus was awaited. 

Page 4



Health, Social Care & Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee - 10.02.2015 

 In congratulating the Health Board on the presentation, Mrs M. Veater referred to a request 
she had made at a previous meeting of the Scrutiny Committee for a report on progress with 
the Carers Strategy. Judith Paget said that she would be happy to provide this report and 
asked for details of any other reports that are awaited from the Health Board. 

 
 Reference was then made to waiting times for Orthopaedic and Opthalmology services*.Alan 

Davies advised that there were various reasons for the increases in waiting lists, including 
staffing issues. In moving forward, the Health Board has been using other NHS facilities and 
is looking at ways in which it can protect its services and respond more effectively to emerging 
pressures.  * Councillor J.A. Pritchard declared an interest in this matter. 

 
 The Chair thanked members of the ABUHB for attending the meeting and for responding in 

detail to the issues raised. 
 
 
8. CSSIW ANNUAL PERFORMANCE EVALUATION FOR 2013-14 
 
 The Chair welcomed Sarah Glynn-Jones and Gillian Huws-John (CSSIW) to the meeting to 

present CSSIW's Annual Performance Evaluation for CCBC's Social Services for 2013-2014. 
 
 The report sets out the key areas of progress and identifies areas for further improvement. 

The summary of findings shows a clear vision for the shape of social services to meet future 
demand and to enable people to live their lives independently; the direction of travel is aligned 
to the principles set out in the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.  There is 
evidence that the Council has listened to and understands what matters to the people of 
Caerphilly. There is a need to build on current quality assurance systems to provide a 
framework for review and measurement of success in terms of outcomes for people. 

 
 In response to last year's areas of improvement, it was noted that there had been progress in 

developing practitioner awareness of the Shared Lives project; developing methods to identify 
and engage with carers; compiling resources for signposting and developing citizen centred 
care and improved performance in relation to statutory visits to looked after children.  In 
addition, a permanent appointment to the post of Director of Social Services had been 
secured. 

 
 Within Adult Services, the Authority is continuing to shape services to reflect local needs and   

initiatives are in place to develop prevention and early intervention services. Restructuring is 
taking place to align with health services moving towards integration. There is clear 
signposting for people to access advice and support and a move to regional arrangements for 
adult safeguarding. 

 
 The numbers of delayed transfers of care due to social care reasons has increased and the 

Council remains in the lower quartile in Wales.   A task and finish group with representatives 
from health and social services has recently been set up to examine this and develop 
communication between discharging hospitals and social services. 

 
 Children's services has seen continued strong performance in assessment and plans for 

permanence (100% performance maintained from the previous year.  The year 2013-2014 
saw a drop in performance in relation to statutory visits undertaken to looked after children. 
There has been good progress in improving this to 99.2% completed within timescales.  
Whilst there has been an overall decrease in referrals to children's services, those that 
proceed to allocation for initial assessment have increased from 67.1% to 79.9%.  In addition 
the number of open cases allocated to someone other than a social worker has decreased 
from 32% to 19.9%.  Performance indicators have demonstrated that the number of 
placement changes for children and young people looked after by the Council has increased 
and the Council has made the continued recruitment of foster carers a priority. 

Page 5



Health, Social Care & Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee - 10.02.2015 

 In terms of the key areas of progress, the Council has successfully worked with others to 
implement the regional adoption service and is commencing a pilot mental health strategy.  It 
has improved performance in undertaking statutory reviews of looked after children within 
timescales and developed a 16 plus team to provide a focus on longer-term outcomes for 
young people leaving care services.  The Council has put in place measures to identify carers 
and improve carer support mechanisms.  It has continued to improve educational progress for 
children and has strategies in place to maintain this and has developed methods for 
assessing outcomes for older people. The Council has commenced reconfiguration of 
services in line with national strategies and has implemented a joint workforce development 
team. 

 
 Areas for improvement had been identified as follows:  Development of the commissioning 

strategy for older people; Interrogate reasons for delayed discharge and develop strategies to 
monitor and improve this; Continue to develop methods for supporting and developing skills of 
foster carers; Examine the factors contributing to the rise in numbers of children placed on the 
register and continue to develop outcome measures for new services; Continue to develop 
methods/frameworks for quality review; Develop mechanisms for corporate oversight. 

 
 During the course of the ensuing discussion, reference was made to the implications of the 

Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014, the possible reasons behind delayed 
transfer to care figures and the factors contributing to the rise in the numbers of children 
placed on the child protection register. 

 
 The Chair thanked Sarah Glyn-Jones and Gillian Huws-John for their very detailed 

presentation and drew Members' attention to the recommendation in the report. 
 
 Following consideration it was moved and seconded that the recommendation in the report be 

approved.  By a show of hands this was unanimously agreed. 
 
 RESOLVED that the contents of the Annual Performance Evaluation Report 2013/14 

be noted. 
 
 
9. BUDGET MONITORING REPORT (MONTH 9) 
 
 Mike Jones, Financial Services Manager, highlighted the key issues within the report, which 

sets out the projected financial position for the Social Services Directorate for the 2014/15 
financial year based on information available as at month 9 (December 2014).  Full details are 
attached at Appendix 1 to the report.  The report also identifies the 2014/15 savings targets 
that have been achieved by the Directorate and the progress that has been made towards 
delivering the targeted savings that have not yet been achieved. 

 
 The 2014/15 month 9 position shows a projected underspend of £2,984k the details of which 

are summarised in paragraph 4.1 of the report.  The Children Services Division is currently 
projected to underspend by £1.132m whilst the Adult Services Division is currently projected 
to underspend by £1,796k. 

 
 The underspend of £332k within our Own Residential Care Service is largely due to additional 

income from residents in Council's homes for older people.  The projections indicate that the 
average income of the current cohort of residents is higher than those that were resident at 
the time that the budget was set.  Within Home Assistance and Reablement the projected 
underspend of £678k is largely attributable to services for older people.  An additional £1m 
was invested in this service for 2014/15 in anticipation of increasing demand from an ageing 
population.  The anticipated rate of increase has not transpired resulting in a sizeable 
underspend. 

Page 6



Health, Social Care & Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee - 10.02.2015 

 In terms of progress made against the 2014/15 revenue budget savings targets, the 2014/15 
revenue budget settlement for Social Services included targeted savings of £2.062m.  
Progress made against the individual savings targets included in this figure is summarised in 
paragraphs 4.7.1 and 4.7.2 of the report. 

 
 Of the £2.062m Directorate savings target for 2014/15, £1.848m will be delivered in 2014/15 

with a further £0.184m delivered in 2015/16 as a result of actions already taken. This leaves 
just £30k of savings within the direct care management structure, which can be delivered in 
2015/16 if the proposed restructuring of day services is implemented.  Although the actual 
savings delivered in 2014/15 fall short of the £2.062m target, there will be no need to draw 
upon service reserves as other underspends are anticipated in 2014/15. 

 
 Officers responded to the various issues raised by Members in connection with the report.  

Arising from a query raised in connection with paragraph 4.5.10, the Director said that he 
would like to explore the benefits that social care enterprises could offer and possibly invite 
someone along to give a presentation to a future meeting. 

 
 Following consideration and discussion, it was moved and seconded that the 

recommendations in the report be approved.  By a show of hands this was unanimously 
agreed. 

 
  RESOLVED that:- 
 

1. The projected underspend of £2,984k for 2014/15 be noted. 
 

2. Progress made against the savings targets included in the 2014/15 budget 
settlement for the Directorate be noted. 

 
 
10. WALES AUDIT OFFICE REVIEW OF LOCAL AUTHORITY ARRANGEMENTS TO 

SUPPORT SAFEGUARDING OF CHILDREN 
 
 Gareth Jenkins, Assistant Director Children's Services, presented the report which informed 

Members of the findings of the Wales Audit Office Review into the Local Authority 
arrangements to support the safeguarding of children and the actions being undertaken within 
the Authority as a result. 

 
 The findings of the review were published in October 2014.  The review was reported to 

Cabinet on 10th December 2014 where it was agreed that a cross directorate group of key 
officers would be established to implement the recommendations made by the WAO. 

 
 The review focused on "Does the Council's governance and management arrangements 

provide assurance that children are safeguarded?"  The main questions that the review 
sought to answer are set out in paragraph 4.1.  Paragraph 4.2 sets out the conclusions. 

 
 Members were informed that the review did not identify any weaknesses in the operational, 

day to day safeguarding arrangements for children and young people in Caerphilly. The 
recommendations relate to the corporate governance of those arrangements.  Following on 
from the conclusions referred to in paragraph 4.2, the review makes five proposals for 
improvements, as set out in paragraph 4.4. 

 
 A cross directorate Corporate Safeguarding Group has been established to develop and 

implement an action plan to address the recommendations in the review.  Membership of this 
group includes service areas that either have a key strategic contribution to make to the 
agenda or provide direct services to residents of Caerphilly.  The first meeting of the Group 
took place on 2nd February 2015 and monthly meetings are scheduled until the corporate 
policy is drafted for ratification.  Thereafter it is likely that the Group will continue to meet twice 
yearly to monitor compliance with the Policy.  The key issues, to be considered when 

Page 7



Health, Social Care & Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee - 10.02.2015 

responding to the five recommendations are set out in paragraph 4.8 of the officer's report.  
Progress against the Action Plan will be reported through the Audit Committee and Cabinet. 

 
 Officers responded to the various queries raised by Members and confirmed that the policy 

will address the levels of training that staff groups will require. 
 
 Following consideration and discussion it was moved and seconded that the 

recommendations in the report be approved.  By a show of hands this was unanimously 
agreed. 

 
  RESOLVED that: - 
 

1. The conclusions and recommendations contained in the WAO Review be 
 noted. 

 
2. The establishment of the Corporate Safeguarding Group to develop the Action 

lan required to address the recommendations be endorsed. 
 
 
11. REQUESTS FOR ITEMS TO BE INCLUDED ON THE NEXT AVAILABLE AGENDA 
 

 There were no requests for any items to be prepared for consideration at a future meeting. 
 
 
12. ITEMS FOR INFORMATION 
 
 The following items were received and noted without discussion. 
 
 1. Improvement Objective 1 - 204-15 Six Month Update. 

2. Summary of Members' Attendance - Quarter 3 - 1st October 2014 - 31st December 
2014. 

 
 
 The meeting closed at 8.05 pm.  
 
 
 Approved as a correct record subject to any amendments agreed and recorded in the minutes 

of the meeting held on 24th March 2015. 
 
 

__________________ 
CHAIR 

Page 8



 

 

 

HEALTH SOCIAL CARE AND WELLBEING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 

24TH MARCH 2015 
 

SUBJECT: CSSIW  NATIONAL INSPECTION OF SAFEGUARDING AND CARE 

PLANNING OF LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN AND CARE LEAVERS 

WHO EXHIBIT VULNERABLE OR RISKY BEHAVIOURS 

 

REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES 

 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To present the key findings of the CSSIW “National Inspection of Safeguarding and Care 

Planning of Looked After Children and Care Leavers” published on 30th January 2015 
(attached at Appendix 1) and the correlating Caerphilly specific Inspection Report which was 
received in August 2014 (attached at Appendix 2). 

 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 Scrutiny Committee will be aware that as part of the CSSIW’s National Inspection, Caerphilly 

Children’s Services were inspected in March 2014.  The findings of this Inspection were 
reported in August 2014 and an Action Plan to respond to the recommendations was 
developed (attached at Appendix 3). 

 
2.2 The National Report was originally intended to be published in September 2014 and it was 

proposed that both reports should be presented to Committee together.  However, there were 
significant delays and the National Report was not published until January 2015. As a result of 
the timetable slipping, Scrutiny Committee will see that many of the actions identified for 
Caerphilly have already been completed or are on track for completion.  

 
2.3 The Local Authority Inspection Report focussed on 5 key questions and areas for 

improvement were identified for each.  The National Report focuses on 4 key themes so it is 
not easy to compare the findings of both reports however, the areas for improvement 
identified in the Caerphilly Report also feature in the National Report and as a result, it is safe 
to assume that the issues identified locally are common to the majority of Local Authorities 
across Wales. 

 
 
3. LINKS TO STRATEGY 
 
3.1 Safeguarding, Looked After Children and Care Leavers are all key statutory duties and 

responsibilities of the Council. 
 
 
4. THE REPORT 
 
4.1 As stated above, the National Report focuses on four key themes as follows: 
 

Agenda Item 8

Page 9



Theme 1:  The Corporate Priority 
 
4.2 This theme consists of seven key areas: 

• Corporate Parenting 

• Partnership Working 

• Placements 

• Advocacy 

• Participation 

• Workforce and 

• Safeguarding Children Boards 
 
4.3 The findings of the National Report resonate with the Caerphilly Report with key messages 

relating to how the Corporate Parenting priorities are identified and achieved, membership of 
the Corporate Parenting Group, engagement of key partner agencies and strategic links with 
other statutory Partnerships and Boards. 

 
4.4 Placement choice and placement stability were highlighted both locally and nationally as 

being particularly challenging for Councils and as a result key areas for improvement in 
Caerphilly include the revision of the Foster Carer Recruitment Strategy and the co-ordination 
of services to support placements and prevent disruption and breakdown.  Both areas are 
being addressed but will require time to deliver anticipated results. 

 
4.5 Advocacy was recognised as being a priority for Looked After Children and Care Leavers but 

more attention needs to be paid to utilising the views of young people to inform practice 
development and service delivery.  NYAS, the advocacy provider commissioned by Caerphilly 
are members of the Corporate Parenting Group and it is proposed that a young person will 
also be invited to join the Group to represent LAC and Care Leavers. 

 
4.6  The National report refers to concerns in the Workforce particularly in relation to recruitment, 

retention and caseload levels.  Committee is asked to note that these are not issues reflected 
in Caerphilly and indeed the Local Inspection reported a stable workforce who were clear that 
safeguarding is a priority and were clear about their responsibilities. In addition access to 
managerial support and the quality of supervision were reported to be particularly positive. 

 
 Theme 2:  Care and Pathway Planning 
 
4.7 This theme relates to Questions 2 and 5 in the Local Inspection Report and the National 

findings certainly reflect the position in Caerphilly.  The quality of Care Planning is variable 
and often lacks focus on outcomes.  For longer term, settled placements, planning often did 
not reflect updated assessments that had been undertaken.  However, the quality of Pathway 
Planning was recognised to be stronger and more consistent being described by Inspectors 
as a dynamic process in Caerphilly.  

 
4.8 The identification, assessment and management of risk was identified as a National priority for 

improvement. Whilst this was not identified as a specific area for Caerphilly to focus on, 
Children’s Services had already identified the need to improve processes and implement a 
consistent and standardised model across the service area.  As a result it is proposed to 
adopt a model recognised to be good practice within the National Report currently operating 
across a number of Local Authorities. 

 
4.9 Committee will be aware of the tensions can exist between the Council and the Health Board 

in relation to the provision of adequate CAMHS support for children and young people. The 
National Report helpfully recognises that this is an issue that has to be addressed nationally.  
However, in response to the Inspection findings the five Gwent Heads of Service have 
formally written to the Directors Group to engage Aneurin Bevan University Health Board 
(ABUHB) and alert them to the Inspection findings. 

 
4.10 Locally we are able to report that the highest priority CAMHS cases are provided with services 

when they are required however there is a recognised service gap for lower tier CAMHS 

Page 10



support and Scrutiny Committee will be aware that this has been adopted as a strategic 
priority by the ABUHB Child and Family Partnership. 

 
 Theme 3:  Safeguarding 
 
4.11 Both locally and nationally, CSSIW recognised that child protection processes were well 

embedded in practice and were being used appropriately and effectively.  Specifically in 
relation to the focus group of the Inspection ie young people demonstrating vulnerability and 
risky behaviours, there was a recognition that the arrangements across Gwent for responding 
to Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) were robust with the Gwent Missing Children Project 
playing a critical role in identifying risks and managing CSE cases. 

 
4.12 Whilst recommendations in relation to risk assessment and risk management were made, 

Scrutiny Committee will be pleased to note that there were no areas for improvement in 
relation to safeguarding for Caerphilly. 

 
 Theme 4:  Reviews 
 
4.13 The National Report acknowledges consistent performance and compliance with statutory 

guidance and timescales for Reviews but identifies the need for improved monitoring of Care 
Plans by the Independent Reviewing Officers (IRO’s) between Statutory Reviews. 

 
4.14 The effectiveness of the IRO role has been questioned by the National Report which 

recommends enhancing their Quality Assurance responsibilities and improving their 
engagement with Looked After Children and young people to make the Review process more 
meaningful.  

 
4.15 This was a particular concern in Caerphilly with children and young people informing 

Inspectors that they preferred not to attend their Reviews because they did not feel involved 
and felt uncomfortable.  Although the sample group was small, improving engagement and 
participation is clearly a priority for Children’s Services and is addressed in the Action Plan. 

 
4.16 Locally, although IRO’s have worked to improve quality assurance, the Inspectors could find 

no evidence of this in the case files inspected and as a result recording practice needs to be 
improved. 

 
 
5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report therefore a specific 

equalities impact assessment is not required. 
 
 
6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 There are no known financial implications arising from this report.  There is a recognised need 

to invest in additional training for staff involved in risk assessments and risk management but 
the costs involved will be met through re-prioritising existing budgets. 

 
 
7. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no direct personnel or HR implications arising from this report. 
 
 
8. CONSULTATIONS 
 
8.1 The views of those consulted have been incorporated into this report. 
 

Page 11



9. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
9.1 That Members note the content of both the Local Authority Inspection Report and the National 

Inspection Report and the progress made on implementing the Local Authority Action Plan. 
 
 
10. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 To ensure Scrutiny Committee is fully aware of the Inspection findings and are assured that 

progress is being made in response to the identified areas for improvement in Caerphilly. 
 
 
11. STATUTORY POWER  
 
11.1 Local Government Act 2000. 
 
 
Author: Gareth Jenkins, Assistant Director 
Consultees: Children’s Services Divisional Management Team 
 Social Services Senior Management Team 
 Cabinet Member for Social Services 
 
Background Papers: 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 CSSIW National Inspection Report – January 2015 
Appendix 2 CSSIW Inspection of Caerphilly County Borough Council Report 
Appendix 3 Caerphilly Children’s Services LAC Inspection Action Plan February 2015 

Page 12



National Inspection of safeguarding 

and care planning of Looked after 

Children a nd Care Leavers

who exhibit vulnerable or 

risky behaviours

January 2015
Page 13



2 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Print ISBN 978 1 4734 2957 4

Digital ISBN 978 1 4734 2806 5 

© Crown copyright 2015  

WG23530

Page 14



1National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Contents 

 

1. Introduction

2. Background 

3. Methodology 

4. Characteristics of the file sample 

5. Summary of findings 

6. Key messages and findings

7. Themes 

  Rights based practice and the voice of the child is a theme that is reflected throughout 

the report

• The corporate priority

• Assessment and care planning

• Safeguarding

• Reviews

Page 15



2 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

1. Introduction 

This report explores the quality and effectiveness of care and pathway planning in 

relation to safeguarding and promoting the outcomes of children and young people 

looked after by the local authority or who are care leavers. 

Care and Social Services Inspectorate Wales (CSSIW) undertook an inspection in all local 

authority areas in Wales and the report draws on evidence from 220 cases as well as 

the views of children, young people and their carers, and from professionals across both 

local authorities and partner agencies. 

Page 16



3National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

2. Background to the inspection 

The potential vulnerability of children in care and care leavers has long been recognised, 

and was recently highlighted by high profile court cases and inquiries including 

Rotherham, Rochdale and Oxfordshire. The reports by the Children’s Commissioner for 

Wales - ‘Lost after Care’1 and Missing Voices’2 reiterated the vulnerability of looked after 

children and care leavers. 

Research tells us that whilst children and care leavers have positive experiences in care, 

issues such as inappropriate placements, lack of accurate assessments and multiple 

placement breakdowns, all potentially impact their safety. These factors increase the 

vulnerability of children in care and potentially exacerbate young people’s own risk-taking 

behaviour. The findings from these and other national reports reinforce the need for 

ongoing vigilance in terms of protection as part of care planning. 

Although the above inquiries did not directly relate to practice in Wales, the issues 

raised were of such concern that it was determined CSSIW should undertake a thematic 

inspection of care planning practice, with a particular focus on safeguarding and risk 

management.

This inspection also provided an opportunity to reflect on the progress made in relation 

to issues identified in earlier national reviews undertaken by CSSIW, including:

• National Review of Independent Reviewing Officers Services 2008-09.

• National report Safeguarding and Protecting Children in Wales the review of 

local authority social services and local safeguarding children boards published 

October 2009.

• National inspection in respect of ‘The role of the Statutory Director Social Services 

published June 2013 National Inspection of the role of the Statutory Director.

1 Lost After Care July 2011 Children’s commissioner for Wales

2 Missing Voices March 2012 Children’s commissioner for Wales

Page 17



4 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

3. Methodology  

This national report summarises the findings from inspection visits undertaken across 

Wales’ 22 local authorities between January and May 2014. The inspection was part of 

CSSIW’s national thematic inspection programme.

The national inspection aimed to explore the quality of care planning in promoting:

• Effective support and protection of looked after children and care leavers.

• The identification and management of vulnerability and risk including that resulting 

from the young person’s own risk-taking behaviour.

• Improved outcomes for looked after children and care leavers.

• Rights based practice and the voice of the child.

The inspection also considered how the authorities’ understanding of the needs of and 

risks to looked after children and care leavers informed: 

•  The authorities’ corporate parenting responsibilities.

• Strategic and service planning.

• The expectations of and contributions made by other agencies, including  the police, 

education, health and the voluntary sector.

• The extent to which policy and guidance provided an effective framework for good 

interdisciplinary practice.

Each inspection visit involved three inspectors undertaking three and a half days of 

fieldwork. A range of documentation was provided by the local authority and examined 

by inspectors prior to the visit.

A sample of 10 cases were selected for inspection in each local authority against defined 

criteria that concentrated on work undertaken within a specific time period with: 

Looked after children, over 11 years of age, and care leavers identified as potentially 

vulnerable and/or involved in risky behaviour (appendix 3).

During the inspection each inspector tracked one of the 10 sample cases by accessing 

case records, and undertaking individual meetings with the young person and their family.  

Interviews were also conducted with the social worker and team manager with case 

responsibility, as well as a multi agency group meeting convened with all professionals 

and carers involved in delivering the current care plan. Individual or group interviews were 

also held in each local authority with elected members, officers, staff, partner agencies 

and providers.

Inspectors examined the remaining cases using the local authority’s electronic and paper 

case file record systems. A total of 66 cases were tracked in detail and a total of 220 

cases were examined during the national inspection.

Page 18



5National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

To promote a culture of shared learning and transparency, CSSIW extended the 

opportunity in each local authority for an officer from social service to join the inspectors 

for the first day of case file reading.

Discussion groups were held in each local authority with both looked after children 

(aged 11+) and care leavers. The young people attending these meetings often included 

those from the wider looked after children and care leaving population. This report 

therefore draws on the evidence provided from a total of 171 looked after children and 

young people, 129 care leavers and 178 returned survey responses. The quotations 

included in this report are from children and young people spoken to during the 

inspection visits. 

The practice examples highlighted in the report illustrate activity in a particular aspect of 

work. It has not been possible to include all the examples seen and there is no implication 

that they reflect or suggest exemplary practice in every aspect of the case, or that other 

approaches seen by inspectors were of a lesser value, importance or significance. 

Page 19



6 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

4. Characteristics from the file sample 

What we know

According to published data3:

• The number of looked after children in Wales over recent years has grown from 2,991 

in 1998 to 4,591 in 2004, 4,784 in 2006 to 5,755 in 2014 (as at 31 March each year).

• The number of looked after children across local authorities in Wales ranges from 

67 to 684.

• The largest category (58%) of need for children starting to be looked after was 

“abuse or neglect”. 

• In the year to 31 March 2006, 47% of children aged 16 or over who ceased to be looked 

after, had at least one GCSE or GNVQ. This had increased to 58% in 2014.

• 55% of the young people in touch with local authorities who had their 19th birthday in 

the year ending 31 March 2014 were in education, training or employment. 

• 10 to 15 year olds made up the largest group of the total looked after children 

population with 2,025 children. There were 975, 16 to 17 years old looked after children 

(31 March 2014).

• Research studies have highlighted that both current age and age at point of entry into 

care  are crucial variables and that young people entering the system over the age of 11 

often experience less placement stability.4  

The criteria for children and young people include in this inspection deliberately targeted 

some of the most challenging and complex case management issues, and the sample 

only represented a small cohort of each local authority’s wider looked after children and 

care leaving population. 

Prior to becoming looked after, most of the children and young people had 

experienced some degree or combination of:

• Absent /chaotic and often grossly inadequate parenting.

• Chronic abuse and neglect.

• Sexual abuse, often at a young age or over a sustained period. 

• Exposure to the impact of relationship breakdown, domestic abuse, offending 

behaviour, substance misuse and mental health issues.

3 National Assembly statistical bulletins 

4 Understanding permanence for looked after children: A review of research for the Care Inquiry April 2013 

Page 20



7National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Since becoming looked after, the young person’s experiences included complex 

combinations of the following: 

• Disengagement from birth family.

• Greater identification with birth family and a strong view of their own family home as 

their base.

• Unhappiness with the circumstances resulting in them becoming looked after and not 

wanting an alternative family.

• Inability to settle either at home or in care.

Other common issues included:

• Disengagement or underachievement in education.

• Over identification and dependence on friends and peers. 

• Social isolation.

• Poor emotional well-being including low self-esteem.

• Lack of trust in adults including professionals.

• Engagement in risk taking behaviour or associated risk resulting from going missing, 

potential to become the victim or perpetrator of crime, substance misuse and self 

harming behaviour.

Messages from children and young people 

“I am happy, my foster carer is lovely and I know I cannot live with my mum but me 

and my brother are OK … School is fine but still I would rather that things were different 

and I wasn’t in care”.  (12 year old looked after child)

Page 21



8 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

5. Summary of Findings 

Theme 1: The Corporate Priority

Summary Findings

Corporate parenting 

• The review confirmed that there was good member and corporate officer awareness 

of safeguarding and corporate parenting responsibilities. However, the extent to which 

this translated into tangible action that supported children’s services to deliver improved 

outcomes for looked after children and care leavers, was variable. 

• Authorities’ strategic focus was increasingly on the development of early intervention 

strategies to reduce the need for children to become looked after. However, in some 

authorities this focus was not sufficiently matched by an enduring strategic emphasis 

on securing permanency and good outcomes for those already looked after. The best 

authorities recognised the need for both.

• Most local authorities had developed a shared corporate parenting strategy and had the 

equivalent of a corporate parenting board in place, but there was considerable variation 

in the status attributed to these arrangements by both the local authority and partner 

agencies.

• Delivery against corporate parenting priorities was often still too narrowly focused 

on the activities and role of councils’ children’s social services departments. 

The engagement of health and other external partners in councils’ corporate 

parenting governance arrangements was either not evident or found to be limited.

• Local authorities need to assure themselves that membership of the corporate 

parenting board is of sufficient breadth and seniority across all departments to ensure 

the services provided to looked after children and care leavers effectively protects and 

promotes their well being.

• The ability of corporate parenting boards to maintain a comprehensive overview of 

the progress of children who are looked after and for care leavers remained variable. 

Greater attention is needed by boards as to how well looked after children are doing as 

well as a closer understanding of the qualitative factors that enable looked after children 

to secure success.

• A number of local authorities had analysed the demographic profile of their looked after 

children and care leavers’ population and demonstrated an understanding of strategies 

to manage demand. However, few had developed a profile of their assessed needs or 

could point to a detailed thematic picture regarding vulnerability and risk. This should 

become core corporate parenting board business and should inform commissioning 

intentions. 

• Members, officers and partner agencies need to do more to assure themselves that 

strategic aims are effectively developed, owned and translated into timely action across 

local authority services and partner organisations.

Page 22



9National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Strategic partnership working 

• Despite a greater emphasis on supporting educational achievement by looked after 

children, this often remained too narrowly defined in terms of academic attainment. 

• Local authorities’ corporate parenting ambitions for looked after children need to be 

supported and owned more effectively by schools.  This was reflected in the reaction 

of individual schools to the admission of looked after children or the responsiveness 

they showed to meeting their needs.

• The engagement of health boards in supporting the emotional and mental health needs 

of looked after children was generally found to be weak and much remains to be done 

to meet the aspirations of the policies and guidance associated with ‘Towards a Stable 

Life’ and ‘Together for Mental Health’.

• Most authorities were yet to develop a flexible continuum of supported and 

independent accommodation for care leavers. Given the age profile of the looked after 

children population, this is an area that will require significant attention.

• Councils need to have a stronger focus on building more effectively integrated support 

for care leavers. Vulnerable young people were being let down by rigid eligibility criteria 

in relation to services for adults. 

Placements 

• Despite local authorities’ strong commitment to ensuring placement choice and stability 

most were struggling to recruit foster carers in sufficient numbers to provide the range 

and choice of placements needed, particularly for those young people with challenging 

behaviour and with additional needs. Local authorities also reported similar shortages in 

the independent sector. This apparent deficit in the foster carer market raises complex 

challenges across Wales.

Advocacy 

• All local authorities had commissioned formal advocacy services and there was a strong 

commitment to promoting access to these services. All young people seen during the 

inspection were aware of advocacy and those who had used it were mainly positive 

about the service, if not the outcome. 

• Most corporate parenting boards received regular feedback from the advocacy and 

participation services, as well as information and feedback regarding any complaints 

received from looked after children and care leavers. Local authorities recognised that 

the advocacy service was not always available to children placed outside Wales in their 

first language and they were actively seeking to address this.

Participation

• Local authorities were working hard to create ways to engage looked after children in 

the wider participation agenda, but enabling looked after children and care leavers to 

influence policy and practice remained challenging for most. Some care leavers believed 

that their insight into being ‘looked after’ could be better utilised by the authority to 

support other looked after children.

Page 23



10 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Workforce 

• Despite a strong emphasis on workforce and improvement in recruitment, there was 

evidence of an imbalance in the level of experience of social workers in children’s social 

services. Local authorities were often reliant on less experienced staff and caseloads 

were frequently high. These staff were often managing complex cases, and this placed 

significant additional burdens on managerial supervision to ensure safe and effective 

practice. Some authorities were also experiencing recruitment difficulties at team 

manager level. 

• In some authorities, caseload pressures meant that staff were unable to prioritise 

and address looked after children’s needs consistently. This meant that the quality 

and timeliness of the service was inconsistent across Wales.

Safeguarding Children Boards 

• Links between the corporate parenting board and the safeguarding children boards 

need to be strengthened to ensure explicit ownership of a joint safeguarding agenda 

for looked after children.

• Safeguarding children boards need to strengthen the systems in place to gather, 

share and analyse multi agency information in respect of concerns about the welfare 

of looked after children, including those placed outside their home local authority 

boundary. 

• Safeguarding children boards need to develop a more systematic approach to assuring 

themselves of the quality of safeguarding practice in relation to looked after children 

and care leavers.

Theme 2: Care and Pathway Planning

Summary findings

Assessments 

• The care plans of those children and young people who were looked after for 

long periods were often not informed by an updated assessment that supported 

decision-making. 

Care planning 

• Often, the quality of the care plans seen did not reflect the positive intervention and 

support that was being provided, or identify that discernable differences were being 

made to the child’s life. 

• Care plans are only as effective as the outcomes they achieve for looked after children 

and care leavers. Most children and young people had a current care plan or pathway 

plans but the quality was not always sufficient to shape the services they required. 

• The extent to which the children, young people and the people caring for them had 

been involved in the development of the care plan was not always clear.

Page 24



11National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Pathway planning 

• Initial pathway plans were not consistently underpinned by a good quality assessment 

and not all care leavers had a pathway plan. 

• Care leavers were generally positive about the support they received from their 

personal advisors, although they did not always understand the difference in the role 

of their social worker and personal advisor or the different planning mechanisms. 

Case recording 

• The quality of case records overall was not of a consistently high standard, and social 

work visits and reports were not always easy to find on the authorities’ own electronic 

system. 

Risk and vulnerability 

• The inspection confirmed that the vulnerability of looked after children and care leavers 

was understood by staff and considerable work had been undertaken to heighten 

awareness in the identification and management of risk factors.

• The extent to which young people contributed to or were aware of risk management 

plans was not always clear. 

• Risk assessments and risk assessment matrices need to be better understood as 

a means of informing professional judgment and decision making. There needs to be 

a shared understanding of risk across all professionals and agencies. The progress 

made in mitigating risk was not always evaluated or well recorded.

• The assessment and management of risk particularly when involving more than one 

agency needs to be more effectively recorded and shared. Local authorities and 

partners would benefit from streamlining the risk management systems they have 

in place to prevent duplication and ensure a greater clarity of shared purpose with all 

parties involved. 

• Local authorities and partners would benefit from shared learning processes to identify 

what has worked well for children in mitigating risk. This learning should explicitly 

include the perspective of children, young people and their carers.

Emotional and mental health 

• Despite some very committed work by individuals within health, the employing health 

services did not give sufficient priority to the emotional and mental health needs of 

children in care and care leavers. This resulted in the burden of responsibility being 

placed on local authority children’s social services. 

• There was recognition of a long standing disconnect between the access threshold 

applied by the Children and Young People’s Mental Health Service (CAMHS) and the 

presenting emotional resilience needs of looked after children and care leavers. 

• The issue of looked after children and care leavers’ rights to an appropriate range of 

provision to meet their psychological and emotional health needs, when they need it 

and for as long as they require it, including the transition into adulthood, needs to be 

urgently addressed on an all Wales basis.

Page 25



12 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Theme 3: Safeguarding

Summary Findings

Child Protection 

• Child protection processes were used appropriately to manage concerns about 

the welfare or safety of children that were defined as in need of protection, and 

interventions resulted in prompt initial action. 

• Managers had some well-developed information systems to support oversight of 

compliance in respect of statutory child protection procedures, but these could not 

always be interrogated regarding the looked after status of the child.

• There was good evidence that agencies took the risks to looked after children seriously. 

All agencies were found to be working proactively together in relation to child sexual 

exploitation and children who go missing from placement. 

• Whilst close adherence to policy is essential, the factors that often made a difference 

in managing these issues included the quality of the assessment, the skill of staff in 

helping children with such complex needs and the resilience and quality of the children 

and young people’s relationship with their carers. 

• Although statutory child protection procedures and thresholds were generally well 

understood, greater clarity was needed regarding the relationship between child 

protection, risk management and care planning processes, particularly for looked after 

children and care leavers exhibiting ‘risky’ behaviour. The development of a mechanism 

such as multi-agency risk conference would be one means of ensuring effective 

coordinated actions to reduce risk.

Theme 4: Reviews

Summary Findings

Compliance with Guidance 

• The inspection identified that reviews were for the most part timely and convened 

as needed to reflect the presenting circumstances of the young person. Attendance, 

although prioritised by relevant professionals, was not always consistent.

• The relationship between the review and other decision-making mechanisms needs to 

be more explicit. Clarity is needed regarding the status of “conclusions” or “decisions” 

reached which are then subject to another internal process or panel. 

• Local authorities need to ensure oversight, at intervals, of the operation of their 

reviewing processes, considering both the ways they maintain the momentum in 

implementing plans for children, and also lessons for the local authority in improving 

services.

Page 26



13National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Independent Reviewing Officers 

• All authorities had independent reviewing officer (IRO) arrangements in place but the 

resilience of the service was inconsistent and case loads were often reported to be 

demanding.

• The independent reviewing service often did not see itself as providing a core quality 

assurance function and having a role in driving up performance. Independent reviewing 

officers within and between authorities were not always sufficiently confident in 

exercising their own authority or the authority of their role.

• Despite efforts to make reviews more inclusive, independent reviewing officers did not 

always meet with children and young people prior to or following reviews in a way that 

was meaningful. Overall the independent reviewing service needs to improve how it 

engages, listens to and reflects the views of looked after children.

Review reports 

• Social work and other agencies’ reports to the looked after children reviews were not 

always timely and in some instances not of a quality to capture significant events or the 

progress made against the plan.

• The minutes resulting from the review meetings were not always promptly provided or 

of a quality to support the shared ownership of what had been agreed.

Review process  

• Most young people interviewed told inspectors that they were actively encouraged to 

attend their reviews and that they were also regularly informed about and encouraged 

to use the independent advocacy service. 

• Despite considerable effort by staff, and even when provided with the support of an 

advocate, many looked after children told inspectors that they preferred not to attend 

their review. 

• Many of the concerns raised by children reflected a thematic deficit in the capacity of 

reviews to be a meaningful or effective way of ensuring that care plans achieve what 

they need to achieve to improve outcomes. 

Messages from looked after children and care leavers 

“I didn’t like being in care but it was the best thing for me, as if I hadn’t gone into care 

I don’t think I would have any sort of life now. I am at university and I am doing OK but 

I still worry about my family.“ (Care leaver)

Page 27



14 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

6. Key Messages and Findings

Members, officers and partner agencies need to have arrangements in place to assure 

themselves that strategic aims are effectively developed, owned and translated into timely 

action across both local authority and partner organisations, to improve outcomes for 

looked after children and care leavers. 

Too many looked after children and care leavers are still not able to access the range of 

appropriate services to meet their psychological and emotional health needs, when they 

need them and for however long they require them. Urgent action is required on an all 

Wales basis to address this deficit in service provision.  

Whilst statutory child protection process and thresholds are generally well understood, 

greater clarity is needed regarding the relationship between child protection 

arrangements, risk management and care planning processes particularly for children 

looked after and care leavers. The development of a mechanism such as a multi agency 

risk conference would be a consistent method to ensure effective coordinated action is 

taken to reduce risk.

Whilst there was a strong strategic focus on the development of early intervention 

strategies to reduce the need for children to become looked after, this was not always 

matched by an enduring strategic emphasis on securing permanency and good outcomes 

for those children already looked after. It is critical that local authorities and their partners 

recognise the need for both an early intervention strategy and a permanency strategy that 

secures best outcomes for children already looked after.  

Many of the concerns raised by children reflected a thematic deficit in the capacity of 

reviews to be a meaningful or effective way of ensuring that care plans achieve what 

they need to achieve to improve outcomes. The effectiveness of existing statutory 

arrangements for care planning and reviewing cases would benefit from being revised to 

better support improved outcomes for looked after children and care leavers. Any review 

of statutory arrangements must be undertaken in conjunction with children and young 

people.  

Page 28



15National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

7.  Themes

Theme 1: The Corporate Priority  

The inspection considered how local authorities discharged their corporate parenting roles 

and responsibilities to promote the stability, safety and improved outcomes for looked 

after children and care leavers.

Issues Identified 

Structural Arrangements 

The structural arrangements underpinning the delivery of children’s social services 

were variable across local authorities and it was not possible to conclude that the vision 

underpinning one structural model was better than another, to secure good outcomes for 

looked after children and care leavers. However, it was evident that the following features 

were associated with better outcomes for looked after children:

• Stable structural arrangements and continuity of senior children’s services leadership.

• Strong corporate and elected member focus on meeting the needs of looked after 

children, particularly through robust corporate parenting arrangements.

• An effectively developed strategic approach to population needs analysis, service 

design and permanency planning.

• Well developed, and flexible services that are responsive to the needs of care leavers.

• Good engagement with and listening to the voice of looked after children and care 

leavers.

• A realistic appreciation of the costs of meeting the needs of looked after children linked 

to good quality assurance.

• Structural arrangements that effectively reflect the accountabilities of the statutory 

director of social services.

Strategic Leadership 

All local authorities included children’s social services, corporate parenting and 

safeguarding as a priority in their strategic policy documents. All the strategic documents 

reviewed reflected the Welsh Government’s seven core aim commitments that summarise 

the United Nations convention on the rights of the child.

Members and corporate officers were more cognisant of their authority’s safeguarding and 

corporate parenting responsibilities since that was identified in CSSIW national inspection 

Safeguarding Children in Wales 20095. However, the extent to which this translated into 

tangible action that supported children’s services to deliver improved outcomes for looked 

after children and care leavers, was too variable.

5 CSSIW national report Safeguarding and Protecting Children in Wales the review of local authority social services and 

local safeguarding children boards published October 2009

Page 29



16 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Inspectors confirmed the findings of the 2013 National Inspection of the role of the 

Statutory Director that: 

“The Head of Paid Service has a pivotal role in empowering the statutory Director of 

Social Services and ensuring that they are supported by the corporate infrastructure 

to meet their statutory accountabilities”.6

There was growing corporate recognition by officers and members regarding the 

complex challenge councils face in balancing the diverse and dynamic needs of the 

looked after children population, against increasing and significant resources pressures. 

Most authorities, particularly those who had experienced an ongoing rise in the numbers 

of looked after children, had undertaken significant work to interrogate the reasons behind 

this and had developed systems that captured the general profile of this population and 

the children on the edge of care.  

Local authorities were actively using this information to inform their placement strategy 

to decrease the number of children and young people in care placed out of area. 

Although there are good reasons to want to reduce the number of children placed out 

of county, the primary consideration underpinning any decision should always be to meet 

the needs of the child. 

Local authorities were also proactively looking at ‘safe reduction strategies’ in relation to 

their looked after children populations. For the older age range of children this involved 

the use of alternative legal orders such as Special Guardianship Order; reunification with 

family, often using placement with parent regulations; or profiling those young people able 

to move towards independent living. To be successful, the complexity and specialist nature 

of such work needs to be understood and resources allocated to ensure the potential risks 

to the child associated with placement disruption are minimised.

It was of concern that the corporate drive on early intervention was often shaped 

principally by the need to reduce costs against a shrinking budget base. Whilst this 

is clearly appropriate in financial terms, expectations regarding the speed with which 

services could be safely reconfigured and realise savings were not always realistic, 

looking to the immediate rather than the medium and longer term. In addition, the 

extent to which such strategies required sustained investment was often significantly 

underestimated.

Conclusion

A critical factor in the development of an effective strategic focus on securing better 

outcomes for looked after children was the extent to which partner agencies actively 

contribute to this priority. Despite some good working relationships, the engagement of 

partners in joint planning arrangements was limited and often confined to the provision 

of advice. This was illustrated in the areas of emotional well-being and the provision of 

accommodation for care leavers. In both of these areas there was too little evidence that 

partners were actively designing or developing services dedicated to looked after children 

and care leavers. 

6 CSSIW National inspection in respect of ‘The role of the Statutory Director Social Services published June 2013

Page 30



17National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Corporate parenting boards

All local authorities had governance arrangements in place to oversee and deliver on 

their corporate parenting responsibilities and most had developed a shared corporate 

parenting strategy reflecting the principles of Welsh Government guidance ‘If This Were 

My Child’. However, the arrangements across local authorities were at different stages 

of development. 

Practice example: Corporate parenting 

Several authorities had developed or were in the process of developing corporate 

parenting pledges to children in care and care leavers as part of their corporate parenting 

strategy. The intention was to monitor and evaluate progress against the pledges. 

(Newport, Pembrokeshire)

For example such pledges included:

• To provide looked after children with good quality, stable placements where they feel 

safe, valued and cared for by excellent carers.

• Ensure that looked after children achieve the best possible educational outcomes.

• Improve the health outcomes of looked after children and provide them with appropriate 

health care and advice.

• Support and encourage looked after children to enjoy a wide experience of leisure, 

cultural, sport and social activity to enable them to fulfill their potential.

• Support looked after children and care leavers to prepare for the future and make 

positive choices for independent living, in order to become successful, fulfilled 

members of society.

Other examples included:

• A charter for looked after children that set the standards that the local authority would 

aim to deliver for looked after children. (Carmarthenshire)

• One authority had acted to adopt the United Nations Conventions on the Rights of the 

Child and the rights of children into council policy. (Swansea)

 

Inspectors found considerable variation in the status attributed to corporate parenting 

boards (boards) by both councils and partner agencies, and differences in the seniority of 

membership and arrangements for ensuring effective scrutiny and accountability. The best 

boards had a membership that was able to challenge performance, direct improvement 

and influence outcomes for looked after children and care leavers. In some good 

examples, the chief executive and the leader of the council were also identified as being 

strong champions for children and young people.

The effectiveness of a number of boards had been hampered by organisational change, 

fluctuating membership, and a perceived lack of authority. In these circumstances boards 

were yet to progress beyond the level of a discussion forum. Members became more 

confident in their corporate parenting role with experience.

Page 31



18 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

The ability of the board to maintain a comprehensive overview of the progress of children 

who are looked after and for care leavers was variable, and most boards remained largely 

unsighted regarding the quality of their service provision including placements.

In too many cases, delivery against corporate parenting priorities was still narrowly 

focused on the activities and role of councils’ children’s social services departments. 

The more developed boards received accompanying narratives with their data that 

included an analysis of performance linked to intended outcomes that also identified 

potential risks. In some instances, anonymised case examples were used to reinforce the 

impact and experience of the child. Most boards received reports from wider service areas 

such as health, housing and leisure, but a frustration was often cited regarding the extent 

to which boards were able to exert influence on these services against identified issues. 

The statutory duties enshrined in Section 27 of the Children Act 1989 and the Children 

Act 2004 make it incumbent on health, education, housing, and other partners to improve 

the well being of children in their area, including looked after children. Despite some 

recognised progress, the contribution made to corporate parenting functions by the wider 

local authority was often found to be too dependent on the extent to which it reflected 

the existing priorities of other council departments, or simply the aspiration of key lead 

officers, rather than reflecting a shared corporate ambition for looked after children. 

Safeguarding 

Corporate parenting boards had a greater recognition of their safeguarding responsibilities. 

Some authorities had benefited from their investment in Safeguarding and Quality 

Assurance Units working across children and adult social services or children’s social 

services and education. In some instances these were viewed as providing a more 

holistic approach to information gathering. Most boards now receive some data regarding 

children missing from care, children in care missing education or at risk of child sexual 

exploitation, but this needs significant further development across all authorities and 

should become core corporate parenting board business. This would be supported through 

strengthened links with safeguarding children boards that ensure explicit ownership of 

a joint safeguarding agenda for looked after children.

The complex interrelationship between young people’s looked after status and their 

vulnerability is one that needs to be continually reinforced. Members and officers outside 

children’s social services had a good understanding that children and young people 

became looked after because they were ‘vulnerable’, but found it difficult to appreciate 

the extent to which young people were vulnerable because they were looked after. 

This ongoing vulnerability was evident at a number of levels:

• Deficit on entering the looked after system – in a significant number of cases seen, 

children brought substantial deficits with them in terms of educational attainment, 

challenging behaviour or emotional damage; those outside of children’s social services 

and specialist services did not always understand that being looked after was not 

enough itself to mitigate these factors.

• Choice of placement and matching – the inability of authorities to secure a sufficient 

range of placement options meant that matching children to placements was 

often a question of compromise. This in turn increased the likelihood of placement 

Page 32



19National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

breakdown. As the cycle progressed and the number of breakdowns increased, 

the ability of a placement to meet individual need successfully and promote good 

individual outcomes diminished. 

• Looked after status as stigma – The inspection saw examples where the simple fact of 

being looked after caused difficulties for children in other aspects of their lives whether 

in their local neighborhood or school.

• Looked after status as risk - being identified as ‘looked after’ also heightened the 

potential for being targeted by unsafe adults.  

Clearly these matters continue to raise policy issues and wider questions for society as 

a whole. 

Practice issue:  Safeguarding and technology 

Access to IT and the use of mobile phones was a subject which evoked strong views from 

young people. It was disappointing that over half of the young people who responded to 

the CSSIW service user survey reported difficulties in accessing the internet to complete 

the survey. The vulnerability of these young people might make internet access a risk 

but lack of access effectively excludes them from the positive aspects of information 

technology. 

Carers were reported to have a high degree of anxiety about young people’s access to 

the internet. This is a significant issue and highlights the corporate parenting dilemma of 

not wanting to disadvantage looked after young people whilst also acting to ensure that 

effective protection is in place that takes account of their potential vulnerability. 

 
Education 

A greater emphasis was being given to the educational achievement of looked after 

children. The underpinning ambition of authorities was increasingly that children in 

education should not be disadvantaged by their looked after status. Local authorities 

had invested in specialist staff or services within education directorates to appropriately 

promote this agenda. 

Most corporate parenting boards effectively monitored attendance, school stability and 

attainment, as measured in terms of key stages or examination results. The best avoided 

the trap of recognising achievement purely in terms of academic metrics and had a 

more holistic view of achievement that included the progress made in relation to the 

child’s known potential. However, corporate parenting ambitions were not always as well 

reflected in the reaction of individual schools to the admission of looked after children or 

the responsiveness they showed to meeting their needs. School placements were often 

determined by the known attitude of the school to looked after children rather then their 

quality.

Corporate parenting arrangements were often less well developed regarding the progress 

and experience of young people once they had left school and moved into further 

education. The exceptions to this being the interest shown in the growing number of 

young people entering university and also the requirement to monitor compliance against 

young people not in education and employment (NEET).

Page 33



20 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Practice examples: Corporate parenting 

• One authority had established a ‘virtual school’ as a sub group of the corporate 

parenting team. This was aimed at providing members and officers with the opportunity 

to interrogate information providing a better understanding of school related issues such 

as performance, school attendance and fixed term exclusions. (Conwy)

• The role of a designated teacher for looked after children had been maximised by 

the education support service. This increased the capacity and enhanced the service 

provided. (Carmarthenshire) 

 
Housing 

A number of local authorities had worked hard to strengthen the relationship between 

children’s social services and housing. Most had developed young peoples’ homelessness 

strategies and protocols for the assessments of 16 and 17 year olds, further strengthened 

in light of the Southwark and Lambeth judgments7 8. The planned introduction of the 

Welsh Government’s “When I am Ready” scheme had also raised the profile of placement 

and the accommodation needs of young people post-18 years. Some authorities were 

officially piloting the scheme at the time of the inspection or had elected to introduce early 

arrangements in line with the principles of the scheme. 

Although housing protocols and strategies were usually inclusive of care leavers, 

the extent to which authorities had developed a flexible continuum of supported and 

independent accommodation was highly variable. The ability of some local authorities to 

meet the needs of care leavers along this continuum was often significantly influenced by 

a fundamental gap in the supply of appropriate accommodation. There is evidence that this 

has been exacerbated by changes to housing benefit entitlements. 

In the best examples local authorities mitigated these factors through the establishment 

of shared functions, often by establishing a care leaver/young person homelessness 

post located in a housing advice service. Functions of this kind, however designated, 

acted to support the preparation of individual pathway plans in readiness for taking 

up accommodation; provided an effective bridge between care and community 

based support; and performed a role in assisting care leavers whose first attempts at 

independent living failed.

Less satisfactory arrangements were characterised by a low level of preparation for coping 

with independent accommodation; little allowance for failure especially in relation to those 

with lower social and emotional resilience; unrealistic expectations about care leavers’ 

abilities simply to present as homeless to generic homelessness services; and what is 

best described as a ‘cliff-edge’ effect in moving from a direct care setting to independent 

living.

7 The Southwark judgement made by the Law Lords in May 2009

8 A v Lambeth High Court judgement July 2010

Page 34



21National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Given the significant and continuing growth in the size of the care leaver cohort across 

Wales, authorities will need to have effective strategic plans that anticipate the resource 

requirements needed to improve the prospects of success for care leavers as they 

approach independent living. Given the nature of the challenges faced by young people 

as they establish themselves in the wider community, the need to design and provide 

services has to be more fully embraced as a more direct responsibility by universal 

services, the broader community and third sector agencies.

The considerable challenge that this presents is already acknowledged by children’s social 

services but the extent to which housing providers have modernized their approach to 

develop a more flexible range of accommodation remains unclear. There are some notable 

exceptions where forward looking providers have already begun to develop dedicated 

provision in partnership with local authorities. Local authorities and providers will need 

to work in partnership to accelerate this kind of development if the needs of care leavers 

are to be met effectively.

Practice example: Corporate Parenting 

• A ‘team around the child’ programme had been developed and Newport City Homes 

were making more properties available for care leavers.  A tenancy preparation course 

has also been developed. (Newport) 

Good examples were seen across Wales of local authorities utilising third sector housing 

provision such as:

• Llamau that provide a four-bed unit for supported living and gaining independence for 

care leavers. This service was integrated into the 16+ team. (Torfaen)

• Solas that provide supported accommodation for young people aged 16+. (Newport)

 
Transition 

Transitional arrangements to support the pathway of children into adulthood were not 

sufficiently developed to support young people who remained highly vulnerable and 

in need of more intensive support than is provided under the Leaving Care Act. Some 

authorities were beginning to undertake innovative work looking to reconfigure services 

around more flexible, people-centered thresholds.

Practice example: Corporate parenting 

• One authority had recently developed a vulnerable adults panel staffed by 

representatives from children’s and adult services aimed at sharing relevant information 

regarding looked after children moving into adulthood. (Caerphilly) 

• As part of a ‘transformation programme’ one authority was looking to progress the 

introduction of a vulnerable people’s service (aged 18 to 65). This new vulnerable 

people’s service if successful could provide access to services for individuals who do 

not currently meet adult service thresholds. (Conwy)   

Page 35



22 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Economic wellbeing  

Services to improve the economic wellbeing of looked after young people and care 

leavers were found to be underdeveloped. Most authorities had not sufficiently exploited 

the opportunities they can provide as an employer to support looked after young people 

and care leavers into the work environment. Some authorities were more ambitious than 

others in their efforts to improve looked after children and care leavers’ employment, 

education and training, and had for example developed work experience schemes for 

looked after children. Initiatives such as good quality apprenticeship schemes were often 

only aspirational and at the discussion stage or at an early stage of implementation.

Practice examples: Corporate Parenting 

• The local authority had developed work placement traineeships and apprenticeship 

schemes for looked after young people and care leavers. Further support for young 

people in relation to work readiness was also available through the ‘Just Ask Plus’ 

service. (Bridgend)

• The local authority had launched a work placement scheme championed by senior 

officers within the council aimed at ensuring that looked after young people and care 

leaver had the opportunity to access work experience. (Cardiff)

• The local authority had developed work placement and traineeships for care 

leavers. Part of the corporate ambition was identified as breaking the cycle of care. 

(Carmarthen)

• The local authority had embedded a not in education, employment or training (NEET) 

project in the looked after children/leaving care team, funded by the National Lottery for 

four years.  The project focused on developing educational and occupational outcomes 

for young people leaving care and sought to engage with prospective employers in the 

area. (Ceredigion)

•  The local authority had appointed a Children and Young People’s Rights Officer and was 

developing two trainee posts for young people. Care leavers who met the criteria were 

to be prioritised for one of the posts. (Pembrokeshire)

Leisure 

Planning in relation to involvement in sport, leisure and/or other community based 

activities was often very inconsistent, but there were some good examples of children and 

young people being proactively supported to pursue their interests. Many young people 

raised the issue of needing permission to participate in activities from social services 

and reported that this caused some delay at times due to the need for risk assessments. 

Inspectors also saw examples of opportunities being offered but not being taken up and 

of looked after children and care leavers being given leisure passes. Most authorities 

recognised that they had been slow in progressing initiatives to promote leisure and 

recreation opportunities. 

Page 36



23National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Practice example

• There had been good corporate co-operation to provide looked after young people with 

free access to leisure and sporting activities. (Denbighshire)

Health

Despite some good working relationships, the engagement of health or other external 

partners in council’s corporate parenting governance arrangements was either not evident, 

or remained highly variable. The information scrutinised by corporate parenting boards 

was largely confined to the numbers of children and young people registered with primary 

health services and compliance with the number and timeliness of looked after children 

health assessments. 

The resilience of authorities’ relationships with health services remained overly dependent 

on children’s social services providing funding and resources to assess and meet the 

therapeutic needs of looked after children and care leavers. In some instances children 

services were also funding the looked after nurse service or had experienced a reduction 

in this service despite a growing looked after children population.

Conclusion

Local authorities need to assure themselves that membership of the corporate parenting 

boards is of sufficient breadth and seniority across all department to ensure the services 

provided to looked after children and care leavers effectively protects and promotes their 

well being. 

Elected  members, officers and partner agencies including health, need to do more to 

assure themselves that strategic aims are effectively developed, owned and translated 

into timely action to support improved outcomes for looked after children and care leavers.

Advocacy and engagement  

All local authorities had commissioned and developed formal advocacy arrangements 

and children’s social services had made significant progress in promoting access to these 

services. However, authorities recognised that the advocacy service was not always 

available to children placed outside Wales in their first language and they were seeking 

to address this. 

Practice examples 

• The authority had commissioned formal advocacy arrangements for looked after 

children and care leavers and information about how to contact the service was 

available, including a DVD produced by the Children in Care Council. Additionally, care 

leavers had access to a (universal) advocacy service at the ‘one-stop-shop’ co-located 

with the leaving care team. (Wrexham)

• All looked after young people were routinely contacted before their reviews to see if 

they wanted to have an advocate to support them. (Monmouthshire) 

Page 37



24 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Many authorities had participation groups to seek the views and opinions of children/

young people about their care. Most corporate parenting boards received regular feedback 

from the advocacy and participation services as well as information and feedback 

regarding any complaints received from looked after children and care leavers. In some 

authorities, board members had opportunities to meet with young people and in a few 

examples, the membership of the corporate parenting board included former service 

users and or young people delegates elected from the participation groups. 

The young people interviewed as part of the inspection had very mixed views regarding 

whether they welcomed opportunities to meet together or with officers and members. 

Some looked after children clearly found it very supportive and empowering while others 

stated that they didn’t like or want to viewed ‘the same’ as other looked after children. 

Some care leavers believed that their insight into being ‘looked after’ could be better 

utilised by local  authorities to support others, but equally highlighted the importance 

of understanding the ‘unique experience’ of a looked after child or young people. 

Despite some positive exceptions, authorities were not always able to evidence how the 

views and experience of children and young people were routinely used to inform service 

development, improve professional practice or have a tangible influence on outcomes. 

Children who lived away from their home authority were often particularly disenfranchised 

from meaningful involvement in the shaping of services for looked after children. 

Conclusion

Despite a real belief in the importance of promoting the engagement and participation 

of looked after children and care leavers, and notwithstanding some positive practice 

examples, inspectors found that local authorities were still striving to find ways of 

delivering this commitment in a way that was meaningful for both the young people 

and for the organisation.

Practice examples 

• The local authority had an established looked after children /care leavers forum/

participation group (Rainbow Group) chaired by a care leaver and supported by a social 

worker. Young people told us they had been able to bring issues to the leadership 

team around changes they wanted made, for example that foster carers could make 

decisions regarding ‘sleep overs’, instead of having to get permission from local 

authority managers. (Merthyr Tydfil)

• The local authority had commissioned a consultation with the looked after children 

population and had responded to the concerns raised by children and young people 

about frequent changes of social worker and placement moves. Fieldwork teams had 

been restructured to improve social workers’ capacity to complete direct work with 

young people. (Blaenau Gwent)

• The local authority had developed a ‘buddy’ group that involved former care leavers 

acting in an advisory role to meet children who were currently looked after. The buddy 

group has been trained and supported to undertake this work. (Conwy)

Page 38



25National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

• ‘Speak Out’ events for looked after children, supported by the independent advocacy 

service and attended by the head of children services and elected members had been 

undertaken and helped inform the corporate parenting board. (Gwynedd)

• The local authority held a “corporate parenting challenge” where looked after children 

and care leavers met with members and professionals to review the progress made 

against corporate parenting objectives in the last year and identify next steps together. 

(Swansea)

• To promote the voice of the child, membership of the corporate parenting panel 

includes two young people. The post-16 team (route 16) organises  three consultation 

events each year to ask looked after children for their views. The feedback from these 

events was then reflected in the looked after children improvement programme.  

(Neath Port Talbot)

Information sharing

Most children’s services had well embedded information and performance systems. 

Inspectors found that members, officers and partners were routinely informed about 

children’s social services’ compliance with statutory requirements in relation to looked 

after children and care leavers. Where local authorities’ performance systems worked 

well there was an emphasis on capturing reliable, cross directorate information that was 

regularly analysed and reported against intended outcomes. 

However, wider local authority and partner agency performance systems were not always 

as well attuned to identifying the contribution that agencies made to the delivery of the 

corporate parenting functions. It was evident that all agencies gathered discrete data in 

order to meet their own pre-existing requirements, and that there were some examples 

where this data was further analysed to enable insight into the needs of looked after 

children. This bringing together of ‘data silos’ enabled a fuller picture, but stopped short 

of a genuinely integrated and whole systems approach to multi-disciplinary understanding 

of need or joint management of whole systems performance. This meant that most 

authorities were yet to develop a detailed profile of their looked after children and care 

leaver populations’ assessed needs including their vulnerabilities and associated risks. 

This would necessitate a more systemic approach to information gathering.

Panel arrangements  

Senior officers and managers in children’s services were generally well informed about 

individual looked after children’s vulnerability and risky behaviours. Many children’s 

services had developed internal panel arrangements to provide oversight of planning 

and permanency decisions. In some instances these panels were also the means of 

allocating additional targeted resources and identifying placement pressures. Where 

these arrangements worked well, the remit and interrelationship of the panels was clear 

and supported a holistic view of the child, timely decision-making, and the escalation of 

cases as needed. Inspectors saw evidence of some assertive intervention and challenge 

to prevent drift. However, the plethora of panel activity in some authorities did not support 

the effective analysis of information and the line of sight on the child was fragmented, 

leading in some cases to serial decision-making rather than decision-making in the round.

Page 39



26 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

In some instances the activity of ‘referral to a panel’ itself became viewed as the plan, 

and the bureaucratic demands of some panel arrangements delayed decision-making. 

Information from these panels if effectively collated could support a better understanding 

of assessed need. 

Placements 

The importance of promoting placement choice and stability for looked after children was 

well understood and reflected in relevant strategic documents. The progress in updating 

and tracking placement delivery against strategic aims was less well embedded in some 

local authorities. Most local authorities had developed systems so that once a child 

entered the looked after care system, their circumstances were reviewed by a panel and 

all changes of placement and services were agreed or ratified by these mechanisms.

In the cases tracked by inspectors, the rationale for matching children with specific care 

placements was not always well recorded on the child’s file. Whilst most local authorities 

had matching protocols in place, in the most complex cases, the overriding matching 

determinant was the availability of a suitably experienced carer or the willingness of an 

external placement to accept the referral. Some good examples were seen where children 

were given a real choice in their placements, and in a few instances young people told 

inspectors that they had an opportunity to “try out” several possible placements before 

moving. Some children recognised they had waited for the “right placement” but valued 

the time taken by their social worker to “get it right”. In contrast, in other examples 

children and their families did not have a good understanding of why placements had 

been chosen and young people often described and internalised the decision as resulting 

from their own “negative” behaviour. Young people told us in these circumstances they 

felt they had little ability to exert influence or choice around where they were placed.  

However, some of these views need to be balanced against the authority’s child protection 

responsibilities to take protective action. 

Messages from children and care leavers:  Placements 

• “I said I wanted a single carer, they took that into consideration and my foster carer is 

single…. It’s easier.” (Looked after child)

• “They didn’t listen to me, I was placed (out of county) and made the best relationship 

of my life but they still moved me back.”  (Looked after child)

• “The placement was fine but it never felt like my family and I didn’t want to stay, 

so I left when I could. Social services still help me. I like living on my own and feel 

more in control.” (Care leaver)

• ”I have had some terrible times moving placement. I was taken to a foster home –  

I had never been there before, I had to sleep in a room with two other children I had 

never met. My social worker only stayed with me for 10 minutes. I think of that as one 

of the saddest things that has happened to me.” (Looked after child) 

• “I am happy where I live because they treat me good like I am one of the family and 

I trust them and they trust me.” (Looked after child)

Page 40



27National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Young people often highlighted the quality of their relationship with their carer as the most 

significant factor in determining how they viewed their looked after experience. Inspectors 

saw a number of examples of carers going above and beyond expectations to support 

young people but also heard that, for some, being looked after intrinsically meant being 

different.

Local authorities were found to be genuinely concerned to maintain family, school and 

community links and actively promote the ethos of family based care within the child’s 

own community where possible. Most also demonstrated a strong commitment to 

meeting the needs of looked after children, even when this required the use of external 

specialist placements that incurred significant costs. However, local authorities were 

honest in acknowledging the realistic need to contain these costs. In some cases this 

meant the authority only utilized purchased placements when all other options had been 

exhausted. 

All local authorities had systems in place for authorising external or out of area placements 

and most were actively developing systems to monitor the notification of children placed 

by other local authorities within their borders. 

Local authorities had prioritised the need to increase their range of in-house foster carers, 

but despite concerted efforts and some success, all were struggling to recruit foster 

carers in sufficient numbers to provide and retain the comprehensive range and choice 

of placements needed, particularly for those young people with challenging behaviour 

and with additional needs. A growing difficulty in accessing such placements through 

independent providers was also reported. This apparent shortage in the foster carer 

market raises complex socio-economic questions about the way looked after young people 

are viewed by society, about what it is that incentivises potential foster carers to come 

forward and about their preparedness to take on children with complex needs.

Messages from fostering service workers 

• “There is a gap in provision for specialist support for children and young people who 

experience placement breakdowns. It is difficult to find carers to manage challenging 

behaviour and the high level of emotional needs which have already led to previous 

disruption for the child”.

 

In a few local authorities, the stated ambition to maintain the young person in the locality 

and particularly to maintain the school placement appeared to be the priority rather than 

meeting the young person’s needs. In these circumstances young people were found to 

experience a significant number of predictable placement breakdowns. It is important 

that members and officers interrogate placement information and develop a better 

understanding of what placement moves mean in relation to the child’s experience.

More attention and debate is needed given some young people’s need for the opportunity 

to experience an emotionally neutral placement i.e. residential care, particularly if they 

have experienced dysfunctional and/or abusive family relationships together with a series 

of foster placements. Given the wide range of children’s needs and backgrounds, it is 

evident that residential care will represent the best option for some children; for these 

children, foster placements as a necessary first resort may not best meet their needs 

Page 41



28 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

and can be counterproductive. Where residential placements are used, children and 

young people need to be in good quality service provision with strong commissioning 

arrangements in place to assure the quality of the service.

Practice example 

• The authority had developed an internal service, the Miskin project to work with young 

people who are looked after to support placement stability (also to prevent care or 

facilitate discharge from care). This project also provided a SERAF based service for 

young people potentially at risk of sexual exploitation. (Rhondda Cynon Taf)

• To develop a better range of placement choice and avoid the need for children to move 

out of area, the authority had re-commissioned their own resources and commissioned 

specific independent residential providers to create capacity within the authority area. 

(Swansea)

• Children’s services had a commissioning strategy in place which outlined a detailed 

breakdown of the looked after children’s population. A holistic approach to addressing 

the need to support more children to live with their families, balanced with the need  

to transform services for looked after children, was outlined in the document.  

(Vale of Glamorgan)

‘Towards a Stable Life and Brighter Future’

Multi-agency panels to support the requirements of the Stable Lives and Brighter 

Futures guidance had been established to varying degrees in all local authorities. 

There was evidence that where they were functioning effectively, they were bringing 

together assessment intelligence about individual children, enabling a level of quality 

assurance about the capacity of placements to meet educational, health and social 

needs and playing a role in addressing drift. Some provided a vehicle for challenge where 

resources and services were not meeting needs.  However, panels functioning at this 

level were not widespread and in too many cases the effectiveness of the panel was 

undermined by issues such as attendance, a lack of proactive focus on the quality of 

placements, or an absence of contingency planning. 

Children placed out of area are inherently the most challenging within any looked after 

children population, but panels rarely looked at new solutions to individual challenges, 

and children’s services were often impotent because they could not direct the right kind 

of resources to address need. A frequent example of this was where a panel agreed that 

a young person needed intensive psychological intervention but was unable to agree how 

this should be provided or who should resource it. In other cases, panels were ineffective 

in ensuring that children who were receiving support from CAMHS professionals within 

the health authority area, continued to receive a similar level of support when they moved 

to another health authority area. Continuing health care arrangements remained ineffective 

in many cases.

Some concerns were also apparent in relation to education, with examples of children 

whose educational prospects were good or better having in effect to settle for much lower 

aspirations when placed out of area. This was often a function of the need to prioritise the 

Page 42



29National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

placement’s ability to contain or address risky behaviour, often leaving agencies with less 

scope to stipulate good quality and appropriately ambitious educational programmes when 

seeking placements. This again related to residential or independent placements often 

being seen by partners as a placement of last resort rather than the most appropriate 

placement for a child. 

It was often the case that young people became increasingly challenging as they moved 

through a series of placements, and that the focus inevitably shifted on to the need to 

stabilise behaviour so that the young person might have at least some opportunity to 

derive benefit from the placement. This raises the question of whether commissioning 

arrangements are able to ensure that high cost providers add value to the child’s prospects 

of successful long-term outcomes. Although there were some good examples where 

this was the case, too many were failing children on one or more dimension of the child’s 

overall needs. 

Conclusion 

A more sophisticated interagency approach is essential if local authorities are to evaluate 

the effectiveness of placement and permanency strategies and predict future resource 

needs. Local authorities and partners are yet to develop a detailed profile of the assessed 

needs of looked after children and care leavers including their vulnerabilities and 

associated risks. 

Multi-agency arrangements for placement decisions remain ineffective and need to be 

strengthened to include:     

• Decisions routinely informed by a shared comprehensive assessment of the social care, 

health and educational needs of the child or young person 

• A negotiated protocol for sharing payment for placements that have a healthcare 

component, and the effective use of pooled and aligned budgets for looked after 

children and young people likely to require highly specialised care placements for 

a significant period.

• Joint mechanisms to monitor the quality of services for children and young people who 

have been placed out of the area, including how to support care leavers if they choose 

to remain out of the area, and how these services are sourced from local providers 

(including CAMHS and adult mental health services). 

Workforce 

Most local authorities succeeded in filling vacancies, though there were concerns about 

maintaining the improved staffing levels and supporting the increased proportion of less 

experienced staff. These staff were often managing complex cases, which when added 

to their lack of experience placed significant additional burdens on managers at all levels. 

Local authorities all highlighted the challenge of recruitment and retention of experienced 

social workers and increasingly of team managers and principal officers. There are 

worrying signs that the challenge of meeting the increasingly complex needs of a growing 

looked after children population is devolving onto a diminishing base of experienced 

and well-developed practitioners and managers. If unchecked, this drift away from the 

profession has potentially serious consequences for local authorities’ capacity to meet 

Page 43



30 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

their duties to looked after children. It raises significant practice issues, which for looked 

after children include the difficulty of maintaining good working relationships with social 

work professionals and management oversight of cases. 

The factors most closely associated with retaining experienced social workers are well 

known. These include: workload, remuneration, positive working conditions and cultures, 

supervision and professional and career development. All local authorities were giving 

attention to these issues but this was often in the context of continuing high referral rates 

and competing financial pressures.

It was positive that all local authorities shared the same ambition to routinely allocate 

a social worker to every looked after child and also a personal advisor as appropriate. 

However, this commitment was not always put into practice and some cases were 

unallocated or allocated to an experienced support worker. In these instances managers 

acted to maintain a level of oversight, and ensure compliance with (for example) statutory 

visits but continuity for the child and progress against the plan was often lost. 

Inspectors identified considerable variation between and within authorities in the 

caseloads of staff working with both looked after children and care leavers. Caseloads in 

some authorities were known to be high. The continuity of arrangements were also often 

vulnerable to the impact of competing caseload priorities. This was often compounded by 

gaps in teams particularly where sickness absences and maternity leave positions were 

uncovered.

Inspectors saw examples, in all local authorities, of some excellent social work 

interventions and work by support workers which was making a difference and helping 

to improve the outcomes and life chances of the child. In these cases staff often saw 

themselves as corporate parents for the child. They had worked hard to form a positive 

working relationship to ensure the child was listened to and was involved in their own 

plans. Social workers were often found to be very strong advocates on the child’s behalf. 

Practice example 

• The transition into the 16+ team was managed in a way that minimized the effect of 

the change in workers on young people. Young people were very positive about these 

arrangements as they included a significant period of joint working between teams. 

(Powys) 

• In order to minimise the disruption to the child, the social worker from the looked after 

children team co-worked the case prior to its transfer from the family intervention team. 

This system of double allocation was viewed as supporting opportunities for children to 

make more sustainable working relationships with social workers. (Anglesey) 

 

In contrast, in some cases, social workers and their managers expressed their worry 

that they did not always know the children well enough at the time they were making 

important decisions about their lives. It was of concern that even where the social work 

relationship worked well, too many examples were seen of young people excusing their 

social worker’s inability to keep appointments or be on time because they understood 

that they had to prioritise other work on their caseload such as going to court or child 

protection.

Page 44



31National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Messages from looked after children and care leavers 

• “My social worker is lovely and has helped me a lot. She is always late and 

sometimes doesn’t make it at all. She is so busy and has too many children to see”.  

(Looked after child)

 

It was disappointing that in some cases where social workers described a manageable 

workload, many continued to cite lack of time as impeding their ability to prioritise direct 

planned work with young people. In a number of examples, specialist teams of unqualified 

staff undertook and were very skilled at this work.  

Many looked after young people and care leavers told us that they were unhappy about 

the significant number of changes in social workers they had experienced. Social workers 

were described as mainly being visible during periods of crisis and children and young 

people wanted positive contact with social workers. This was often characterized as the 

ability to develop trust in the social worker, particularly in their ability to be the bridge 

with their family and to keep them informed. A number of young people believed social 

workers sought to overprotect them from difficult realities. The social worker was valued 

most as someone able to resolve immediate problems and make decisions.

Conclusion

It would be timely for Welsh Government and local authorities to re-define the social 

work role. In many examples inspectors identified that the social worker’s focus was task 

driven and measured against compliance with statutory functions such as the attendance 

at meetings. Opportunities to work alongside the young person, even within this narrow 

context, were not always recognised as a form of direct work. Important questions need 

to be asked as to why despite the ongoing focus on the workforce, experienced social 

workers leave the profession and why social work management is not viewed as a more 

positive career route.  

Messages from looked after children and care leavers:

• “If ever I need (my social worker) I text her and she rings me back in the morning.”  

(Looked after child)

• “She’s never given up on me, I’d given up on myself but they (16+ team) never stopped 

being there.” (Looked after child)

• “I’m really glad I’ve had the same worker now for 2 or 3 years, she really knows me 

and treats me like a person.” (Looked after child)

• “Why have I had so many social workers - 6; I keep having to repeat myself… it gets 

confused; I feel like they have all listened to me though.” (Looked after child)

• “First time I met my new social worker he told me I was moving placement and 

I had to go with him … it’s worked out OK but that’s not a good way to get to know 

someone.” (Looked after child)

• “Social workers just do the business. I don’t think it is their fault. It’s the job.”   

(Looked after child)

Page 45



32 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Supervision 

Most social workers and managers expressed confidence that they had access to policies, 

protocols and procedures, relevant training, accessible advice and support from managers 

and regular formal and informal supervision. 

Supervision protocols were in place and staff were mainly positive about the supervision 

they received. However, the written supervision records seen by inspectors were of mixed 

quality and often focused overly on immediate issues rather then the management of the 

overall plan. Despite staff reporting that supervision included constructive challenge and 

the opportunity for contingency planning, this was not well recorded and there was limited 

evidence that time was given to reflective practice. 

The guidance relating to social workers’9 first and second year of practice was generally 

well established and viewed positively. Inspectors saw some good examples where 

additional mentoring, group learning and peer support opportunities were provided to help 

develop confidence in practice. However, the level of caseload protection and designated 

time to take up these supports was variable. In some instances, staff needed to be more 

rigorous in prioritising their own time to make use of the training provided. 

Practice example 

The arrangements for supervising staff consisted of a practice leader supporting a low 

number of social workers as a unit so that case discussion and direction was more 

accessible. There was a focus on reducing bureaucracy and promoting direct work with 

service users. Social workers and practice leaders were positive about this model of 

working. (Denbighshire) 

Safeguarding Children Boards 

Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCBs) had actively progressed the move from a local 

authority footprint to a public service delivery model of six Safeguarding Children Boards 

(SCBs) and are each at very different stages in their development. 

The onus for leading the SCB remained with children services and a director of social 

services chaired all regional boards. However, not every director of social services is a 

board member in their respective region, representation is being delegated. This meant 

that the Director of Social Services did not always have the same visible presence on 

the SCBs. Local authorities will need to assure themselves that the SCBs reporting 

arrangements support the statutory director of social services to deliver against their 

statutory safeguarding accountabilities.

SCBs had developed sub group arrangements and some included the equivalent of 

an operational board at local authority level, as a means of identifying local issues and 

practice priorities. In some areas the interface between these arrangements was not well 

understood and the standing afforded to the sub groups,particularly the local groups, by 

partners was mixed. SCBs will need to review their governance arrangements, as they 

evolve, to prevent duplication or gaps in safeguarding activity. 

9 Making the most of the first year in practice: a guide for newly qualified social workers (Care Council Wales 2008).

Page 46



33National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Some SCBs, particularly those with high numbers of independent providers in their region, 

had developed sub groups with a focus on looked after children. A number of social 

services and health partners maintained a database of all looked after children placed by 

other authorities, and some proactive work was being taken forward with independent 

providers aimed at strengthening the system for notification of children placed within 

Wales across authority boundaries. 

LSCBs and Safeguarding Children Boards had been active in embedding protocols and 

training aimed at improving the identification and management of child sexual exploitation, 

child trafficking and children who go missing. Some SCBs had streamlined these into a 

“risky behaviours” protocol. A number of SCBs had also developed sub groups to focus 

on practice in these areas.  This activity although not specific to looked after children 

had acted to reinforce them as a SCB priority. Safeguarding Children Boards will want to 

evaluate themselves against the recommendations from the independent enquiry reports 

arising from recent high profile cases, for example, the Jay report10.

Conclusion

Safeguarding children boards need to strengthen the systems in place to gather, share and 

analyse, multi agency information in respect of concerns about the welfare of looked after 

children, including those placed outside their home local authority boundary. 

Whilst SCBs undertook case audits that included looked after children as part of the 

sample, there was little evidence that work was systematically undertaken by the boards 

to assure themselves regarding the quality of safeguarding practice, in relation to looked 

after children and care leavers, or to learn from service users’ experience.

Agencies and SCBs were found to be responding in policy terms to the changing or newly 

emergent issues that potentially expose looked after children to risk. However, there is 

a danger that as each of these developments prompts a separate new strategy, policy or 

procedure, the fundamental focus on child protection becomes blurred in the complexity 

of overlapping protocols.

Practice examples 

• The Western Bay Safeguarding Children Board had acted to audit agencies’ compliance 

and practice in relation to child sexual exploitation. The analysis of this work was then to 

inform the board’s future work plan. 

• The business plan for the Safeguarding Children Board in Powys had acted to prioritise 

such vulnerable groups of children and young people as those placed in Powys by other 

authorities. This had been identified as a particular issue given the higher number of 

these placements in comparison to the local authority’s own looked after population.

10  Independent enquiry into Child Sexual Exploitation in Rotherham (1997 to 2013) published 2014.

Page 47



34 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

• The Cwm Taff Children’s Safeguarding Board had reviewed and developed a range 

of joint protocols/policies to streamline these into a Risky Behaviours Protocol. 

They had also established a risky behaviour task and finish group that were developing 

multi-agency risk assessments and plans.

• The Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Safeguarding Children Board had revised the risk 

assessment and management tool and there has been a focus on implementing 

protocols in respect of child sexual exploitation. The board also regularly reviewed 

progress in respect of a thematic inspection of arrangements for managing young 

people who display sexually harmful behaviour.

Theme 2: Assessment and care planning

The inspection considered how care and pathway planning was informed by relevant 

assessments, including risk assessments, which supported a comprehensive response 

to the needs and experiences of children and young people.

The inspection focused on current practice, and as most of the cases reviewed involved 

children and young people who had been in the looked after system for some time, this 

report does not consider the timeliness of the initial decision to accommodate the child in 

detail. However, examples were seen of young people who had been left too long without 

an effective service before they became looked after. Inspectors found no evidence of 

children entering the care system unnecessarily. 

Issues Identified 

Referrals 

Referral and operational information sharing arrangements within and between 

professionals were well embedded in most local authorities. These arrangements acted 

to ensure that where concerns were identified in respect of children, including looked 

after children and care leavers, referral responsibilities and contact points were known 

and information was passed to the appropriate social services professional. 

Assessment 

Looked after children guidance sets out clear expectations that ‘when a child or young 

person becomes looked after, an up-to-date core assessment is required and is used to 

inform his or her first care plan’. The remit of this inspection meant that inspectors only 

reviewed a small number of cases where the child or young person was a recent entrant 

into the looked after system. While all these cases had a core assessment, the quality was 

inconsistent, and there was a lack of professional analysis needed to inform care planning. 

Core assessments did not appear to be consistently shared with partners or service users. 

Most social workers and their managers had a good immediate understanding of the 

young people they worked with, including knowledge of presenting vulnerabilities 

and risky behaviours. However, there was often significant over-reliance on informal 

information sharing between the workers involved with the case, and pertinent 

information was not always clearly recorded in the case file.

Page 48



35National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Inspectors identified that despite the significant changes in the circumstances of 

some children and also changes in social worker, the care plans of those young 

people who remain looked after for longer periods were rarely informed by a relevant 

shared assessment and analysis of need. Initial pathway plans were also not routinely 

underpinned by a good quality assessment. 

Some good examples of holistic assessments and analysis were seen. The best of these 

were often instigated and undertaken by the external placement providers to direct 

their work, rather than being provided or commissioned by the placing local authority. 

In some examples, the lack of updated information directly impacted on the placement’s 

understanding of the child’s needs. 

Case recording, although recognised as a priority, was found to be of variable quality and 

timeliness was said to be subject to work pressures. The case recording seen was often 

descriptive and practically focused rather then evaluative. In some instances, the quality 

of recording meant that the overview of the child’s progress in care was fragmented and 

there was a potential for information relevant to the safeguarding and protection of the 

child to be lost or overlooked.

Conclusion 

While assessments should not be over-intrusive, repeated unnecessarily or continued 

without any clear purpose or outcome, they should be recognised as a valuable tool for 

supporting reflective practice and key decision-making. This is particularly relevant where 

the child or young person has experienced significant changes and events including 

a change in social worker. 

Risk assessments and risk management

Inspectors identified the vulnerability of looked after children and care leavers was well 

understood by staff, and considerable work had been undertaken to heighten awareness 

in relation to the identification and management of risk factors. Local authorities and 

agencies had developed a range of procedures and service functions that all included 

the requirement to undertake and update risk assessments.

Case examples 

Case examples were seen across Wales that demonstrated partners working well 

together to provide a good and safe service with clear outcomes for the young person. 

The case examples were often extremely complex and presented ongoing difficulties 

as the young people involved frequently stepped outside the boundaries of safe 

management. Despite this, professionals worked to help the individuals involved to make 

informed choices. These case examples also demonstrated the need for staff and carers 

to be resilient, as issues often occurred concurrently and new issues emerged at any time.

Page 49



36 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Risk assessments are complex and were found to be understood as a means of delivering 

assurance against a number of interrelated expectations, including:

• Keeping young people safe.

• Improving outcomes.

• Evidencing defensible decisions in a risk adverse operational environment.

• Supporting collaboration and inter-agency working.

• Informing and improving commissioning.

Professionals often described aspects of risk assessment and risk management activity 

as a positive means of promoting confidence and legitimising their actions. However, 

in contrast, young people and their families often experienced risk assessment more 

as a means of defending decisions and restricting their activity. 

Although inspectors saw some good risk assessments, the quality was variable. 

Some assessments were overly formulaic and lacked the necessary detail, while others 

were so detailed that issues became obscured. Often, the young person’s presenting 

behaviours were not well understood in the context of their recent experiences, such 

as a foster placement breakdown. In a small number of cases, the poor recognition of 

the risks and lack of prompt remedial support directly contributed to the breakdown 

of the placement and the young person’s escalating engagement in risky behaviours. 

The focus on the child was at times lost in the plethora of risk assessment processes. 

Risk assessments were often found to be: 

• Understood as a series of discreet processes rather than being integral to the 

management and reduction of risk.

• Not underpinned by a common language or a shared understanding of risk and shared 

between professionals within and across agencies.

• Focused on responses rather than positive outcomes and on targeting services rather 

than needs.

• Based on insufficiently updated information and analysis that maintained a focus on the 

outcome and the safeguarding consequences for the child.

• Not sufficiently engaged with the young person or their family to promote their active 

involvement. 

• Accompanied by additional bureaucratic demands reflecting the different processes.

Some local authorities had invested in whole service training programs in relation to 

a particular risk framework. These models included a range of tools to help support a more 

structured approach to the detailed assessment and management of risk. Training in 

these frameworks needs to be continually updated and consolidated to ensure that staff 

are skilled and confident in its application. It was disappointing that despite significant 

investment by children’s social services in such frameworks, partner agencies were often 

not aware of these models and had not been trained in them.

Page 50



37National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Risk management 

The best examples of the use of risk assessments were when they were translated 

into risk management plans that were shared and owned by professionals, carers and 

importantly the young person. These plans were focused and set out the action required, 

by whom, in what timescale and in what circumstances. Evidence was seen that such 

plans were reviewed to reflect changes in circumstances and to consider the extent to 

which identified risk had been mitigated. In less effective examples, the risk management 

plans were generic, did not include the information needed to support the required 

response to need, and were not shared or available to other professionals including the 

police and emergency duty teams. These plans often fell into disuse with little analysis of 

their impact and were only considered again at the point of crisis.

The inspection identified that although they were subject of a plan to manage identified 

risks, young people were often not aware of nor had contributed to the plan. Where they 

had been involved, they did not always share the view that their presenting behaviour 

was “risky” or that it differed from that of their peers. In some examples, young people 

described the restrictions imposed on them by such risk management processes as 

an “over-reaction”. Any protective action will be ineffective if the young person does not 

understand (for example) the concerns associated with them going missing or related to 

potential exploitation. 

Despite some good work, inspectors found social workers were often not confident in 

their skills in working with young people who are hard to engage. In some instances, 

there appeared considerable over-dependence on the carer to deliver the detail of the plan 

and provide the emotional support to the young person. Inspectors saw some determined 

work being undertaken by very committed and dedicated carers often during unsociable 

hours. The range of support available to carers across Wales, including that provided by 

other agencies such as the police and health at crisis points, was found to be very patchy 

and this significantly impacted on placement stability and carers’ willingness to sustain the 

placement.

Individual agencies often maintained their own elements of the risk management plan 

and there was significant reliance on informal communication links with the social worker 

to capture and communicate progress between the professionals. In some instances, 

the quality of recording as well as changes in staff and placements made it difficult to 

determine if all the identified risk issues had been resolved. This can have significant 

implications for young people particularly (for example) where the risks relate to the child 

or young person’s abusive behaviour towards others.

Few risk management plans ensured a clear focus on the implications for the child 

should the plan not deliver, and did not include or inform effective contingency 

planning. This often resulted in young people being moved in a crisis. Planning in these 

circumstances was frequently resource-led rather then needs-led resulting in both the 

young person and the social worker feeling “out of control”.

It is important that risk assessments and risk assessment matrices are not seen as an 

end in themselves and are understood as a means of informing professional judgment. 

The application of risk assessment tools was not always well understood in relation 

to looked after children and it is important that social workers and other professionals 

Page 51



38 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

have the skills, experience and the confidence to undertake this work. Relevant risk 

assessment training specific to adolescents would improve consistency in this area. 

Conclusion 

Overall the systems used by authorities did not routinely ensure that risk management 

plans were aligned and reflected within the care plan and the pathway plan. In the good 

examples seen, risk was re–evaluated as part of the planning and review process. 

Practice examples 

A number of children’s social services had invested in whole service training:

• On a framework for analysis tool. This tool includes a scoring system that supported 

a shared understanding of need and risks and provides a starting point against which 

progress could be gauged. (Conwy)

• A risk model that provided staff with a risk assessment framework. The suite 

of tools included a means of routinely screening cases, to inform decision-

making, also a structured approach to the assessment of risk of significant harm. 

(Gwynedd and Isle of Anglesey) 

• The Signs of Safety model and tools designed to help conduct risk assessments and 

produce action plans for increasing safety, and to reduce risk and danger by identifying 

areas that need change while focusing on strengths, resources and networks. 

(Swansea)  

Care plans 

There is only one care plan and this should contain information about how the child’s 

current and longer-term needs will be met to ensure that everyone is working to achieve 

an agreed permanence plan and improved outcomes for the child. 

In the cases reviewed, most children and young people had a care plan but these often 

failed to reflect ambition, as described by members and officers. The care plan format 

itself did not always support a focus on the objectives of the plan, or how the desired 

outcomes for the young person were to be achieved. Most plans contained either very 

broad overarching statements or identified short-term task-focused actions. The format 

was often not ‘child friendly’ and it was apparent that they were not consistently shared 

with young people and/or their families. Many young people told us they were either 

not aware they had a plan or if they had seen it they didn’t really view it as having any 

relevance. The significance of the care plan was not well appreciated by staff as the means 

of shaping the service for the child; rather, there was a risk that completing the care plan 

template was seen as yet another bureaucratic requirement. 

This was disappointing as the quality of the care plan frequently did not capture the 

positive intervention and support being provided by the workers involved, or identify the 

positive and discernable difference that was being made to the child’s life, often despite 

the limited resources available.

Page 52



39National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Case example 

The young person interviewed showed ownership of plan and said that she enjoyed 

participating in reviews; she was confident her voice was heard and gave examples of 

this. The young person described her journey and how she had had multiple placements 

but how the commitment of the staff had helped her. She had ambition for the future and 

was hoping to go on to higher education. (Looked after child)

 

Most care plans seen identified practical details such as contact arrangements with the 

extended family. Few plans reflected the ongoing work needed with the family to help 

them meet the child’s needs during contact, or reflected on the changing significance of 

the family as a possible source of support for the young person, as they moved towards 

leaving care and independence.

Partner agencies generally understood planning and review expectations, but there was 

little evidence that the care plan was routinely shared with them. Rather, the plan was 

mainly understood in terms of what was reported during the statutory review and through 

informal communication with the social worker. Partner agencies’ contribution to the plan 

was not always specified.

In most cases, although the views of looked after children and young people and their 

parents were sought, they were poorly reflected within the plan. In one example the care 

plan recorded the aspiration that the young person would remain in placement until 18, 

when in fact the young person had clearly stated their intention to leave care before then.

Conclusion

Inspectors confirmed many of the conclusions of the 2008-2009 CSSIW National Review 

of Independent Reviewing Officers Services,11 including that:

“the quality of care plans for looked after children across Wales generally needs 

improvement. Inspectors identified three areas in particular which need to be improved. 

These were:

•  clear child-focused outcomes and actions to support these 

•  a clear relationship between the assessment and the care plan for the child

•  timely updating of care plans to reflect changes in a child’s circumstances.”

Care plans are only effective as the outcomes they achieve for looked after children and 

care leavers. The significance of the care plan should be the clarity it brings to how the 

services provided and the actions undertaken deliver improved outcomes for the child. 

This transparency should then support the review process to monitor the progress made. 

11 2008-2009 CSSIW National Review of Independent Reviewing Officers Services.

Page 53



40 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Case example 

The views of the young person and his mother had been carefully considered and 

although the current arrangements didn’t reflect either of their wishes, there were good 

safeguarding reasons for this (mother’s mental health), which have been articulated in 

the documents. Views of family were heard and taken account of - consideration had 

been given to retaining family links and ensuring that contact took place with family, 

despite not being safe for him to return home. The local authority had been sensitive to 

the importance of the child’s Welsh cultural identity when making placement decisions. 

(Looked after child)

Health Assessment and Planning 

All local authorities had arrangements in place to ensure that the primary health needs of 

looked after children were met, although these arrangements were often less secure in 

relation to care leavers. 

The arrangements local authorities had in place to deliver the specialist health service for 

looked after children differed. These arrangements appeared to be working best where, 

for example, the looked after children’s nurse specialist was embedded within children’s 

services or a specialist multi agency looked after team, and viewed as an integral part of 

the looked after children system. 

Inspectors saw some very committed proactive work being undertaken by staff with 

children, young people and their carers. The young people and carers reported that 

they valued the support they received from the looked after nurse and could describe 

interventions provided by the service including advice about diet, healthy eating and 

sexual health. The use of school nurses to undertake health assessments, for older looked 

after children, was seen as a means of improving ease of access, to health advice and 

lessening young people’s anxieties about being identified as ‘different’.

The timeliness and quality of health assessments, as well as the level of engagement of 

young people in prioritising their own health needs, remained variable. In some cases, 

even when assessments had been undertaken, relevant health information was not 

always available to the review and was not translated into a plan. In some local authorities 

the lack of capacity of the health worker as well as the absence of an accessible secure 

email system had impacted on this information exchange.

The health arrangements for care leavers were not as well embedded and there was 

evidence that young people left care with only a limited understanding of their health 

history. Information may be provided appropriately, but can easily become “lost” to the 

young person due to the changes in their circumstances. The availability of flexible health 

advice and services including those needed to meet the mental health needs of young 

people remains a significant issue across Wales.

In most of the cases reviewed, the biggest gap in services identified by inspectors and 

highlighted by all staff, including specialist health staff, was the limited availability of 

resources to meet the emotional mental health and wellbeing needs of children on the 

edge of care, looked after children and care leavers. Despite the shortfall in these services 

being highlighted over a number of years and identified as blighting the life chances of 

vulnerable young people, these concerns remain largely unresolved. 

Page 54



41National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Messages from Social Workers 

• ”Many of our care leavers have deep seated emotional problems which in adults would 

be described as mental health problems. They need specialist and skilled help – they 

have had some really bad experiences which they have to carry round with them for 

years.”

• “CAMHS does not work with vulnerable looked after children .You have to work hard to 

get a therapeutic service for a young person. If there is a diagnosed mental illness the 

CAMHS service is inflexible, wanting appointments during school time and it means 

hours of travel for the young person to get to the appointment.”

• “I refused to leave the young person’s placement until someone from CAMHS finally 

agreed to come out to see her… even then it was like they were doing me a favour … 

it just shouldn’t be that hard for young people to get a service.” 

It was positive that most children’s social services were taking positive and proactive 

steps to realign current services to establish a level of in-house therapeutic provision. 

However these changes were often very recent and service availability was limited and 

mainly targeted at those young people at risk of placement disruption.

Inspectors also saw some very committed work by individuals within health, but found 

that the employing health services did not give sufficient priority to the emotional and 

mental health needs of children in care and care leavers. This resulted in the burden of 

responsibility being continually placed on local authority children’s social services.

The disconnect between the access threshold applied by the Child and Adolescent Mental 

Health Services (CAMHS) and the presenting emotional resilience needs of looked after 

children and care leavers remained an outstanding issue.  Inspectors identified a number 

of cases where the delay in accessing services to meet the young person’s emotional 

needs directly contributed to the instability of the placement and the escalation of the 

individual’s own risky behaviour. 

There remained an unrealistic expectation that a relatively small, mainly inexperienced 

children’s social services workforce can adequately deliver the range of skilled 

interventions needed to meet the remedial psychological needs of a growing child in need 

and looked after children and care leaver population.

Conclusion

The issue of looked after children and care leavers’ rights to an appropriate range of 

provision to meet their psychological and emotional health needs, when they need it and 

for as long as they require it, including the transition into adulthood, now needs to be 

urgently addressed on an all Wales basis.

Page 55



42 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Practice examples 

• Multi Intervention Service Torfaen (MIST) project run by Action for Children provides a 

long term therapeutic service, for children with traumatic experiences, jointly funded by 

health, education and social services. MIST provides a joint funded CAHMS service for 

children aged eight and over. The service is well used and weekly updates are provided 

to social workers on the work being undertaken. The MIST project also supports staff 

and foster carers, who they train and provide a 24-hour on call service. (Torfaen) 

“I’ve changed loads, they were amazing, they helped me through very dark times.” 

(Care leaver)

• A number of children’s social services had been proactive in trying to compensate for 

the shortfall in the availability of therapeutic services by establishing and funding  

in-house therapeutic provision that included (for example) access to psychologists and 

play therapy. (Newport, Gwynedd, Carmarthenshire)

• The local authority had developed support services to help young people who had 

experienced loss and uncertainty. The service then moved young people on by 

mentoring and working to maximise their potential. (Flintshire)

• In the local authority the CAMHS team have developed a training DVD for schools to 

support children and young people with emotional problems, which they were also 

rolling out to social workers. (Pembrokeshire)  

Education and the personal education plan

Inspectors found considerable variation in the timely completion and quality of the 

personal education plan. The more effective personal education plans included the views 

of the child and their family (as appropriate), academic targets for the young person and 

the action needed to support improvement against the potential of the child. The less 

effective personal education plans tended to focus more on behaviour management and 

attendance and were not sufficiently ambitious for children and young people. Many local 

authorities recognised the need to improve the format of their personal education plans 

in order to better engage with young people.  

Inspectors found that the personal education plan was often viewed by staff as having 

limited value, and the more significant driver for change was the effectiveness and 

ambition for looked after children promoted by the Looked after Children’s Education 

Service (LACES) team. 

Where the LACES arrangements worked well, staff were proactive in identifying 

the young person’s education needs and securing the additional help they required. 

These professionals also had a key role in directly negotiating and resolving issues within 

schools and colleges. 

Inspectors saw some good attention being given to the emotional well-being of children 

when they moved between schools. There was a greater emphasis on the provision of 

computers, additional tuition, and mentoring for looked after children but this was too 

often linked to those children predicted to do well academically. 

Page 56



43National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Young care leavers with aspirations to go to university or who had clear vocational 

ambitions were often well supported. However, those young people with less clear 

ambition did not always receive the encouragement they needed to remain in education 

or support to take up employment. There was strong evidence that young people at risk 

of not being in education, employment or training were being monitored and receiving 

greater attention. 

Conclusion 

Despite some good operational relationships with schools and colleges, the case 

examples seen highlighted the difficulty young people experience in their engagement 

with formal education, particularly when they want to be independent and leave their 

placement at 16. The support provided to enable achievement, in addition to being too 

heavily focused on academic attainment, often gives too little attention to the importance 

of providing “second chance” opportunities to support looked after children and care 

leavers who ‘fail’ in conventional terms. This is reflected in the attitude of too many 

schools.

Practice example 

• A DVD had been produced by looked after children and young people to provide foster 

carers and social workers with their views on promoting attainment in education. 

The authority seeks to ensure that personal education plans are meaningful and they 

are updated to capture and reflect the young person’s ability. (Conwy)

Pathway plans

The pathway plan, which includes the care plan, is prepared for an eligible child (who is still 

a looked after child) when they are 16, in order to prepare a young person for the transition 

to adulthood. Most care leavers had a pathway plan and unlike the care plan, young 

people were often more aware of these plans and understood their relevance in relation to 

shaping the services they received. The practical focus of pathway plans was described as 

being more “helpful” than the care plan.

In the best example of pathway plans, the young person’s contribution was explicit. 

The pathway plan clearly stated the desired outcomes, how they were to be achieved, 

timescales and contingency arrangements. In some positive examples, plans were in 

place for children to stay with their foster carers beyond 18 and they had good information 

regarding their ongoing entitlements. In less positive examples, some young people didn’t 

know where they would live once they left care or what resources or services would be 

available to help them. Most young people interviewed raised issues regarding the speed 

of consent and inconsistent funding decisions, but also recognised the need for decisions 

to be made that reflected their individual circumstances.

Inspectors identified that some confusion remained for staff and more significantly for 

young people regarding the relationship between the care plan and the pathway plan prior 

to the young person turning 18. Young people also expressed confusion in the respective 

roles of the social worker and the personal advisor. 

Page 57



44 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Arrangements for the allocation of personal advisors for looked after children aged 16 to 

18 were inconsistent across Wales. In some instances the personal advisors for over 18’s 

had not been involved in developing pathway plans for the young people they were about 

to start working with. There was also little evidence that social workers from adult services 

attended the pathway plan review meetings for care leavers likely to be transitioning into 

adult service.

Some continuity was provided where the independent reviewing officer (IRO) continued to 

chair the pathway plan reviews, but many young people indicated that they preferred the 

pathway planning process to be more informal. 

In some of the cases reviewed, safeguarding issues that had been managed as part of 

the care plan remained unresolved at the point the young person was leaving care. Local 

authorities need to be more vigilant in ensuring matters are addressed in a timely way 

through the direct work undertaken with the young person and their family. 

These issues included: 

• support for vulnerable young people placed away from the local authority who did not 

want to return to the area;

• lack of exploration of the risks for the individual resulting from their potential 

reunification or loss of ongoing contact with the birth family;

• known but unresolved issues resulting from the young person’s own “risky behaviours” 

and vulnerability. 

Practice Example 

• Pathway plans had been revised in consultation with care leavers, resulting in  

a format that was well designed and promoted good engagement with young people.  

(Powys and Pembrokeshire)

• Local authorities had developed or were developing a preparation for independence 

checklist. This aimed to track young people’s progress towards independence and 

ensure they had been equipped with the essential skills necessary for independent 

living. (Gwent local authorities)

• Every care leaver is issued with a document detailing all the financial aspects of their 

entitlement to support, as well as how to access other sources of support, for example, 

attending further and higher education courses; benefit entitlements whilst in education 

and advice on those colleges and universities that offer financial; and other support 

specific to young people leaving the care system. (Swansea) 

• The local authority had developed a creative scheme to support young people’s budget 

management. (Blaenau Gwent)

The role of the personal advisor 

The configuration and resilience of the leaving care arrangements differed across Wales. 

There were examples where local authorities had or were developing specialist teams for 

young people post-16 as a means of ensuring a better-planned transition to independence. 

Page 58



45National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Others had or were developing specialist teams for young people post-16 as a means of 

ensuring a better-planned transition to independence. In a few areas, these arrangements 

included ‘drop in’ facilities where young people could access support from a social worker, 

personal advisor and youth worker as well as housing, employment, health and substance 

misuse advice. However, this type of positive wrap-around approach was unusual and for 

most local authorities mainly aspirational.

Practice examples 

• The authority had expanded the multi agency nature of its specialist post-16 supports 

and the ‘Just Ask Plus’ service included a drop in centre that provided access to 

personal advisors, youth workers, employment, health, and substance misuse advice. 

Case responsibility for looked after children transferred to this service when the young 

person reached 16 years old. (Bridgend)

All young people had a personal advisor in line with guidance, but some personal advisors 

managed significant caseloads. The quality of the content of the pathway plan often 

reflected the expertise and confidence of the personal advisor, particularly regarding the 

young person’s entitlements. Where they had a good level of experience and knowledge 

of services, inspectors saw evidence of them being able to advocate strongly on behalf 

of the young person. 

There is no prescribed professional or occupational qualification determining which 

professional should carry out the personal advisor function. Care leavers were often 

much more positive about the support they received from their personal advisors 

than from their social worker. This has to be viewed in the context of the different 

responsibilities of the roles and also the young person’s ability to exert greater control 

of their lives, as they become older. 

All care leavers are entitled to support but cannot be compelled to accept offers of 

support. This makes the personal advisor role all the more significant as it is often 

their ability to work alongside the young person that determines the level of ongoing 

engagement. The value placed on the personal advisor arrangements by young people 

was often associated with:

• the opportunity to work with someone who they saw as a support rather than an 

authority figure;

• availability of the personal advisor, at a time of change when many agencies and 

services were disengaging from them;

• the young person feeling ready to accept and more able to use the support offered; 

• the flexibility and responsiveness of personal advisors.

Young people also appreciated the personal advisor’s use of technology and social media 

as a means of maintaining contact.

Despite some very positive approaches to pathway planning, most young people 

described feeling unprepared for independence. Some believed that independence was 

raised at a time when they knew they didn’t want to be in care, but when they equally 

didn’t realise that they were not emotionally ready for independence.

Page 59



46 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Conclusion

Most looked after children currently move to live independently as soon as they reach 18, 

but they are often not equipped with the practical and social skills necessary to manage 

independent life and need considerable support. The level of training and preparation to 

develop the skills for independent living were often found to be underdeveloped and put 

in place on an ad hoc basis. A more co-ordinated approach is needed across Wales to 

improve outcomes for care leavers.

Messages from looked after children and care leavers:

• “My personal advisor is brilliant and really helping me to sort out my move to college, 

and she is prepared to do all sorts of stuff. She has come with me for interviews and 

that she is so supportive gave me confidence.” (Care leaver)

• “Personal advisors always seem to be there for you. They never give up on you and 

go the extra mile. They actually do care about what happens to you.” (Care leaver)

• “Personal advisors are just interested in you as a person. They really want to help you 

and it’s easy to talk to them!” (Care leaver)

• “My personal advisor is great but they can’t make the decisions I need and they have 

to wait for answers the same as I do.” (Care leaver) 

Theme 3: Safeguarding

The inspection considered the operational systems and procedures in place to ensure that 

responsive coordinated action was taken to mitigate risk and achieve safe continuity of 

care.

Issues identified  

Child protection and safeguarding mechanisms 

The inspection confirmed that practitioners, professionals and organisations across Wales 

are striving to safeguard and protect looked after children and care leavers. There was 

clearly a heightened awareness and response amongst everyone involved regarding the 

vulnerability of this group of children and young people and a greater awareness of the 

complexity of the task. 

Managers had some well-developed information systems to support oversight of 

compliance in respect of statutory child protection procedures, but these often did not 

differentiate and so could not be interrogated regarding the looked after status of the child.

Whilst local authorities has adopted different organisational structures to manage child 

protection work, child protection processes were mainly being used appropriately to 

manage concerns about the welfare or safety of children looked after and care leavers.

However, the inspection highlighted differences in practice regarding:

• the approach taken in relation to managing emerging risks;

• the status, use and timing of multi agency planning meetings rather than strategy 

meetings to determine action;

Page 60



47National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

• processes used where the child’s looked after status meant there was no reason to 

hold a child protection conference, but an ongoing multi-agency approach was required 

to address risk.

The risk management pathway for looked after young people and care leavers exhibiting 

‘risky’ behaviours therefore would benefit from greater clarity. 

Safeguarding children in a range of specific circumstances 

All agencies were found to be working proactively together in relation to child sexual 

exploitation and children who go missing from placement. Police forces across Wales 

were reported as having strengthened their focus on these issues and a number of 

specialist services were highlighted as supporting a more co-ordinated approach within 

authorities. 

Sexual Exploitation Risk Assessment Framework (SERAF) 

The SERAF process was well embedded as an assessment tool across Wales. Significant 

training had been provided on the use of this framework and the approach was found to 

have a good multi agency profile. In some examples the use of the SERAF had informed 

some positive protective action and direct work with the young person. The inspection 

also highlighted some positive prevention work being undertaken with placements and 

establishments to support safe care.

However, in other examples it was difficult to identify from the file or elicit from staff 

what the direct work involved, and what apart from a change of placement had “worked 

well” in reducing risks. This information was also often poorly reflected in the subsequent 

review discussion and in the updated care plan. 

Looked after children who run away or go missing from their care placement

The inspection identified heightened priority given to children and young people who 

go missing from care, including children in care placed by other local authorities. 

Young people can go missing or absent themselves from placement for a number of 

reasons and can also be encouraged and adversely influenced in this behaviour by their 

peers and their family networks.

Good multi-agency work was seen aimed at ensuring that the individual circumstances of 

children who were missing, or had been missing, were considered in a timely sensitive 

way, in some examples on a daily basis. Evidence was also seen of direct work being 

undertaken with the young person on their return, particularly by foster carers, to reduce 

the escalation of such behaviours and support young people in developing their own keep 

safe strategies.

Local authorities and police forces applied the definition of “absent without consent” 

and “absconding” differently, but the cases reviewed reflected that the looked after status 

of the child immediately heightened the level of social services’ and police response. 

There appeared to be a good working relationship with the police and most local 

authorities convened strategy meetings as needed.  Evidence was also seen that the 

police consider prosecution in respect of those harbouring young people if needed. 

Page 61



48 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

The operational relationships between children’s social services and the police 

public protection units were mainly positive; this was often attributed to improving 

communication and trust between services resulting from a greater stability in the 

children’s social services workforce. 

Some inconsistency in approach and attitude towards young people was identified in the 

response of local police services. This often reflected issues regarding the availability of 

information, particularly where the child was placed outside their home authority. In some 

cases where repeat “missing” incidents were reported, there was a frustration in the 

perceived lack of progress made in managing the behaviour, and in these circumstances 

the placement became viewed negatively and not meeting the needs of the young person. 

Frequent examples were seen where young people used the police as a safe means of 

brokering a return back to their placement after being out late. Whilst this safeguarded the 

child, it was also a source of tension for the police.

The police reported that they routinely undertook return to placement interviews with the 

young person and that incidents could not be closed until this was completed. However, 

there was limited evidence that relevant information was then routinely shared with social 

services. In most cases social workers told us that they also undertook a similar activity. 

A number of forces had introduced or had firm plans in place for an independent voluntary 

sector service to conduct these visits in the future and to engage with social services in 

relation to any identified need. 

In some instances young people told us they used going missing from placement as 

a means of forcing the end of a placement, or as a means of exerting control, wanting 

“something else” but not always knowing what it was. 

Messages from extended family

“The court took my grandson from me because they said he wasn’t safe, but social 

services can’t stop him running away and putting himself at risk.” (Grandmother of 

a looked after child)  

In a number of cases, despite some extensive work, the escalation of ‘missing’ episodes 

and the associated risks led to the disruption of the local placement. The need for a robust 

response often resulted in an out-of-authority residential placement being identified in a 

crisis. In a number of examples, moving away from the home area, despite its own built-in 

risk, did help children to stay safe. 

In a small number of cases due to the level of concern, the local authority acted 

appropriately to apply for a secure order. In these instances the young person was 

regretfully deprived of their liberty as the only means of keeping them safe. In some of 

these cases the significant issue was then how to identify a safe ‘follow on’ placement 

and end the secure arrangement in a timely way when, often, very little appeared to have 

changed for the child.

The successful management of risks associated with being missing from placement 

cannot be understood only in terms of how well professionals adhere to a protocol. 

The impact of any intervention was often determined by the young person’s perception 

Page 62



49National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

of the need for any protective action, and how far they were able to accept any 

intervention in the face of competing social pressures. 

The essential factors that seem to make a difference in managing these issues included: 

the quality of the assessment; the skill of staff in helping children with such complex 

needs; but often more importantly the resilience and quality of the young person’s 

relationship with their carers. 

Practice example 

• Gwent-wide Missing Persons Project is a multi agency safeguarding hub, operated by 

the police, and focusing on missing children including looked after children. 

The missing person’s project ensures strategy meetings are held where the overall risk 

is assessed in the light of the child’s circumstances, not just their presenting behaviour. 

The arrangements included a shared risk assessment, which was available to workers 

online and could be updated easily to reflect a young person’s situation and levels of 

risk. The service was undergoing evaluation at the time of the inspection having been 

in place since April 2013. (Gwent local authorities)

• Given the geographical challenges of working across Powys, children’s services had 

developed good communication networks across the local authority. This included 

partner agencies and an ability to update and send out alerts in relation to any young 

person considered to be at risk. Dyfed Powys Police and the Safeguarding Children’s 

Board were actively introducing a ‘Vulnerable Children Living Away from Home’ 

(Missing – Pre-Placement Risk Assessment) (Powys)

• Arrangements had been strengthened across the North Wales Safeguarding Children 

Board area by the police appointment of missing persons co-ordinators. Funding was 

also in place for additional workers who would de-brief young people who went missing 

to improve information about risk. (North Wales local authorities)

Sexually harmful behaviour 

Child protection processes were found to be well understood in relation to children 

involved in sexually harmful behaviour. The framework for managing these issues was 

included as part of core child protection training. 

However, the complexity of the issues is significant and there are only limited specialist 

resources available to meet the assessment and therapeutic needs of the children and 

young people involved in these behaviours. These were often commissioned on a spot 

purchase basis, although some authorities were working to develop more in-house 

expertise.

The concern must be that young people often disengage from these services initially 

and issues, although managed, remain unresolved. There needs to be greater clarity 

regarding any outstanding risk and the ongoing opportunity for the young person to access 

appropriate services. 

Page 63



50 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Conclusion 

Although statutory child protection procedures and thresholds were generally well 

understood, greater clarity was needed regarding the relationship between child 

protection, risk management and care planning processes, particularly for looked after 

children and care leavers exhibiting ‘risky’ behaviour. Staff themselves indicated that they 

would welcome the development of a mechanism such as multi-agency risk conference, 

which would be a means to ensure effective coordinated actions reduce risk.

Practice examples 

Examples were seen where:

• The local authority had invested and piloted its own multi agency backed therapeutic 

service for sexually harmful behaviour. (Carmarthenshire)

• The local authority had acted to develop a service for children and young people who 

display sexually harmful and inappropriate behaviour. (Conwy)

• Plans were in place to establish a ‘virtual’ team across North Wales, specifically for the 

assessment of young people exhibiting sexually harmful behaviour. (North Wales) 

Theme 4: Reviews

The inspection considered how reviews helped to promote safe care and best outcomes 

for young people.

Reviews 

Reviews are a statutory requirement and the mechanism whereby the local authority 

ensures at regular intervals that they are meeting their obligations to care and plan for 

a looked after child. They also provide an opportunity for the voice of the child to be heard 

independently of the social worker’s involvement, and for that voice to influence the care 

plan. The expectation is that the decisions agreed between the attendees at the review, 

based on updated information, professional judgment and in discussion with the child, 

carer and family, should be progressed and reflected in the updated care plan.

Issues identified  

The independent reviewing service 

Local authorities’ independent reviewing services were found to be compliant with 

guidance and all had independent reviewing officer (IRO) arrangements in place that were 

able to maintain independence from operational services. The level of experience of staff 

in this role was often more variable. There was good evidence of the commitment of local 

authorities to ensure continuity of IROs for individual children and young people.  

In some local authorities, despite small numbers of looked after children, caseloads were 

challenging because the IRO service was invested in one person. In other examples the 

service was under pressure because IRO teams struggled to keep pace with the growing 

Page 64



51National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

numbers of looked after children. This was exacerbated by the number requiring additional 

reviews due to an unplanned change in circumstances and those reviews needing 

additional time because the child was placed out of authority. 

The inspection found that the role of the IRO was generally well understood in relation to: 

• chairing statutory reviews, ensuring a focus on the individual needs of the child;

• ensuring that plans take full account of the child’s wishes and feelings; 

• ensuring the child has timely access to independent advocacy; 

• supporting improved care planning and decision-making to prevent unnecessary drift.

There were significant differences identified across Wales regarding the contribution of 

the independent reviewing service to the local authority’s corporate parenting role and 

responsibility. Some examples were seen where the IRO team were represented on the 

corporate parenting board and most provided routine written and verbal reports. In the 

best examples, the IRO was able to provide an insight into the impact decisions had for 

children. 

In some local authorities, the IRO met on a regular basis with the statutory director of 

social services or the head of children’s services. This was to support chief officer line of 

sight on practice and provide a discussion platform regarding the quality of care planning 

and review practice. It was disappointing that despite these positive mechanisms, 

the Independent Reviewing Officers still often did not perceive themselves as having 

a significant profile or sufficient authority to exert influence.

Quality assurance of services for children

The IRO was generally viewed by senior officers as being a crucial part of local authorities’ 

accountability mechanisms for ensuring that children in care receive a positive service. 

Some local authorities had or were creating safeguarding and quality assurance teams 

that included the IRO and reinforced the contribution their role made to this agenda. 

Despite some positive exceptions, inspectors concluded that quality assurance 

arrangements in most authorities remained under-developed. IRO reports seen 

by inspectors were often focused on practice compliance rather than on outcomes. 

Some proactive work was being undertaken between the IRO and operational teams, 

to improve communication and feedback on practice in individual cases. However, the IRO 

often viewed their own priority as managing the review and developing the plan, rather 

than undertaking a wider quality assurance function or focusing on outcomes.

Escalation processes were in place and inspectors saw examples of the IRO referring 

issues to team managers and senior officers where there were concerns about practice 

and the progress of plans. In the examples seen, once raised, the issues were taken very 

seriously and acted upon. Learning from these practice concerns needs to more routinely 

captured and used to drive improvement. 

Page 65



52 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Monitoring progress against the plan

Concerns were identified in a number of authorities that the IRO was not routinely 

kept informed of significant events that impacted the child’s care plan between formal 

reviews. This included examples where decisions were delayed or changed by other 

decision-making panels. The impact of this had greater significance where the IRO did not 

undertake or did not see themselves as having a responsibility to monitor progress, and 

compliance between reviews. In the best examples, mechanisms were well embedded 

to ensure the IRO was able to maintain an oversight of the case and contribute to the 

progress of the plan. In these examples the IRO also routinely contacted the child 

between reviews to gain their perspective on progress. 

Conclusion 

Overall the responsibilities of the IRO and how they discharged their functions was found 

to be variable. Many IROs were not sufficiently confident in exercising their own personal 

authority or the considerable authority of their role. However, it was equally evident that 

many IROs did not see themselves as exercising a role outside of the review event itself. 

It was disappointing to note that in these examples, the IRO did not appear to recognise 

their clear corporate parenting responsibilities to follow up perceived deficits in care 

planning and support for young people, and take action as is commensurate with their 

role. 

Reviews 

The inspection found that most local authorities had developed mechanisms to ensure 

compliance against statutory expectations in relation to planning and review processes. 

For the most part, reviews were timely and convened as needed to reflect the presenting 

circumstances of the young person.

Issues identified that impacted on the effectiveness of the review in promoting good outcomes 
for children and young people

The interface between the review and other decision-making mechanisms needs to be 

more explicit. Clarity is needed regarding the status of conclusions or ‘decisions’ reached 

which are then subject to another internal process or panel. Mechanisms between these 

arrangements need to be clear, not only to prevent drift and duplication in planning, but to 

minimize the child’s anxiety and uncertainty about what has been decided in their interest; 

the child should know what has been decided. 

Some looked after children did not consistently receive statutory visits and the quality of 

recording often reflected a lack of understanding of the purpose of such visits.  A number 

of local authorities had already identified statutory visits as an area for improvement. 

Time constraints were often reported as hindering social workers and the IRO meeting 

with children and young people prior to their reviews, or meeting them in a way that 

enabled them to prepare the child for the review and discuss the potential impact of any 

decisions. Worryingly, this was particularly the case in relation to children placed away 

from the home authority.

Page 66



53National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

There was often an uneasy relationship regarding who ‘owned’ the review. 

Reviews were recognised as the means by which professionals discharged their care 

planning responsibilities. The child at the centre of the review equally needs to be able 

to exert their influence over the conduct of the meeting, who they want to attend and to 

have an impact on the decisions made. 

Where parents were perceived as challenging or difficult, the review meeting became 

more of a “negotiation” or “consultation” process where adult issues could dominate 

the agenda – for example, “I don’t attend my reviews because my mother always goes 

and she is such a pain.” (Looked after child) In these instances the IRO sometimes 

appeared to be trying to pacify parents or carers. 

Although children’s written contributions to reviews were often sought, it was rare to see 

any real thought being given to the way in which it would be shared. This is particularly 

crucial if a child needs to communicate difficult messages to adults attending the review.  

Some young people asked: “How can you say what you really think if the person is sitting 

in the meeting?” Children and young people often experienced the need for professionals 

to share information as a “lack of privacy”.

Social work and other agencies’ reports to the looked after children reviews were not 

always timely and in some instances not of a quality to capture significant events or 

progress made against the plan. In some cases the poor standard of reports and the 

lack of attendance of the allocated worker compromised the outcome of the meeting. 

Equally, the minutes resulting from the review meetings were not always timely or of 

a quality to support the shared ownership of what had been agreed. 

Children and young people were not routinely provided with a copy of their review or 

given further opportunity to discuss the decisions with the IRO.  Although many young 

people said they didn’t want a copy of the review this may be because review documents 

are a poor vehicle for capturing issues that are relevant and important to the child.  

There were sometimes tensions regarding who owned the recommendations and the 

care plan decisions. Whilst it was clear that the IRO is not the case manager, they do 

have a role in monitoring that the local authority does what the plan says. The relationship 

between the IRO and the operational teams should be one of constructive challenge and 

needs to be further strengthened.

In too many cases, inspectors found that the IRO did not sufficiently challenge drift 

and delay in children’s lives. In examples where such challenges were seen, it often 

only occurred after the same issues had been raised at a number of reviews. This was 

commonly the case in relation to the need for therapeutic work. In some examples, 

the barriers to progress were due to known persistent gaps in service; however, delays 

for example in accessing CAMHS provision or appropriate placements should always be 

robustly addressed. The IRO often identified that they were less confident in their ability 

to influence or challenge the contribution made by other agencies to the care plan. 

In a number of cases, plans were so focused on managing immediate and short-term 

contact issues including risks, that professionals did not retain sufficient focus on the 

longer-term plan. In a number of examples young people effectively determined the 

plan for themselves by going home and refusing to return to placement. The lack of 

contingency planning for this possibility as well as the age of the individual involved 

often meant social services had little recourse but to agree to the change in the plan.

Page 67



54 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Messages from looked after children and care leavers 

• “My carers were alright but I was never really a part of the family, really I was just 

waiting to get to 16 so I could leave … I’m back with my mum now … I went for a visit 

and decided I wasn’t going back, we get along OK because I’m older and I make my 

own decisions.” (Care leaver)

Conclusion 

Local authorities should ensure oversight, at intervals, of the operation of their reviewing 

processes. Consideration should be given to the way reviews maintain the momentum in 

implementing plans for children, support contingency planning and identify any lessons for 

the local authority in improving services and the engagement of looked after children.

Practice example 

• Of those seen, review reports were thorough and included consideration of the 

effectiveness of the plan. There was evidence that reviews were capturing the voice 

of the child or young person. (Cardiff)

Contact 

Inspectors saw considerable attention and good efforts being made by professionals to 

ensure children and young peoples had safe positive contact with their family and friends. 

The significance of contact cannot be underestimated in determining how children and 

young people experience being looked after. Although unable to live with their families, 

contact can provide additional safeguards for young people regarding the quality of their 

care, but can also create significant safeguarding issues if not appropriately managed.

Contact arrangements were identified as much more difficult to manage positively when 

children had an insecure attachment to their parents and where parents did not accept 

that their children should be looked after. In these circumstances the comments and 

criticisms of the parents as well as promises that the child “can come home at 16“ acted 

to undermine the placement as children had divided loyalties. Sensitive work is needed 

with both the birth parents and the child to help them understand these complex issues. 

Children and young people views about contact were very varied:

• Some young people wanted more contact and experienced any delay in decision 

making around this issue as “upsetting and stressful”, while some young people 

acknowledged that this could result in them “voting with their feet” on occasions. 

• In other cases young people told inspectors that they found the practicalities of the 

arrangements difficult – for example: “Nobody asked me when contact would be 

best for me. I have contact every Wednesday when it is football practice after school 

so I have to miss that. I will never get into the team although the PE teacher says 

I’m good.” (Looked after child) 

Page 68



55National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

• Children and young people often expressed confusion about why contact had to be 

supervised and were unhappy about not having contact with siblings especially if they 

had remained at home. There were some good examples of children being helped to 

understand the reasons for the contact arrangements but this needed to be periodically 

refreshed.

• The high level of contact in some cases highlighted the need for more effective ongoing 

work with the family to support them both in meeting the child’s needs during contact, 

but also to explore the possibility of reunification in the future. 

The engagement of looked after children in reviews

Most young people interviewed told inspectors that they were actively encouraged to 

attend their reviews. There was also evidence that children were regularly reminded about 

the purpose of the review through leaflets and consultation documents. 

Some but not all looked after children had been issued with looked after children packs, 

and in some local authorities looked after children had helped to design these. There was 

a mixed reaction to such packs - some young people experienced them as helpful while 

others said: “Talk to me, don’t give me a leaflet”. Many young people acknowledged the 

importance of having access to different forms of information as they recognised that they 

didn’t always remember what they had been told.

Practice issue 

• Young people did not have any definite ideas about what would be the best way for 

them to receive information about being a “looked after” child. When asked if they 

would use an ‘app’, they mainly dismissed this as a poor use of their data capacity.

Young people expressed mixed views regarding the significance of the independent 

reviewing officer (IRO). Some regarded the IRO as having an important role, especially 

where they provided a level of continuity in planning arrangements, due to changes in 

social worker. Many young people liked their IRO, but viewed them as “yet another” 

professional. Some young people described the IRO as someone who “turned up” 

periodically. 

Message from looked after children and care leavers

• “I really like my IRO, she really knows me well. She makes my review easy. I know 

she will try her best to get people to listen to what I say.” (Looked after child)

Young people said that the way they perceived the IRO and the review often depended 

on the extent to which they wanted a particular issue addressed. This was often related to 

contact; the extent to which the meetings could make decisions; and the extent to which 

they agreed with the plan. The child and young people’s perception of the review was 

often further complicated by how they felt about their current placement and ultimately 

about the fact that they were a looked after child.

Page 69



56 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Inspectors saw some good commitment to consultation with children and families 

across Wales and persistent and creative efforts to make reviews more meaningful 

and accessible. In some local authorities, all looked after young people were routinely 

contacted before their reviews to see if they wanted to have an advocate. In other 

examples young people were encouraged to chair their own reviews. The IRO commented 

positively on the way that foster carers and some school staff supported children to 

contribute to their reviews. 

The IRO was often very sensitive in seeking to manage complicated family arrangements 

in a way that supported the child and enabled family members to contribute positively. 

Messages from children and young people 

Reviews 

• “They do listen, I said I didn’t want my sister at my review and she wasn’t invited.” 

(Looked after child) 

• “I didn’t like the review meetings in school but they listened to me and changed the 

venue to home. It’s much better now.” (Looked after child)

Practice issue 

Arrangements and placements were found to work best when the child understood why 

they were in care, had come to understand and accept that they parents could not look 

after them, and when parents “gave permission” for the child to become attached to their 

carer and supported the placement.  

• “I think his foster carer is doing a great job and he has come on so much while he has 

been there...Have you seen his school report?... I am so proud of him … I cannot give 

him what he is getting there. I feel sad about it but I know he is in the right place.”  

(Father of young person)

• “I can’t thank them enough for what they have done. He is much more settled and they 

have helped me understand that I am not good for him … Don’t get me wrong, I love 

him and all that, but we just can’t live together. He is more settled in his (residential) 

placement. I think he just accepts that we cannot get on.“ (Mother of 16 year old boy)

Advocacy 

Advocacy can have a key role in empowering children and young people to fully participate 

in decisions that affect their lives. During the inspection, children and young people told us 

they were regularly informed about the availability of the independent advocacy service, 

and those who had used an advocate were positive about the support that had been 

provided. 

Despite this significant emphasis on advocacy, there is a widely held view that the take 

up and referral to the advocacy services across Wales remains low. Some professionals 

questioned if this was because of the issue-based nature of the independent advocacy 

provision. It was noted social workers and carers saw themselves as very proactive 

Page 70



57National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

advocates and this was often found to be the case. It was significant that where the 

social worker or the carer experienced a positive outcome for the child, resulting from 

the involvement of an independent advocate, even if it related to a complaint, they 

were more active in promoting the benefits of the advocacy service. It is important that 

formal advocacy services invest in activity that raises the positive impact they can have 

on children and young people’s lives, and that they target this promotion at the relevant 

professionals as well as children and young people. 

Conclusion 

Despite a positive view of advocacy, children and young people were clear that a ‘one size’ 

fits all approach to advocacy does not work well for them as individuals. 

A number of the children and young people interviewed told inspectors that they often 

viewed their foster carers, family, personal advisor or social worker as their advocates and 

they often didn’t want yet another person asking them about their “wishes and feelings”. 

In contrast, the same young people told us that they would use an advocate if they 

wanted to make a complaint. 

The review process 

Despite considerable effort made by staff, and even when provided with the support of 

an advocate, many looked after children told us they preferred not to attend their review 

and that they experienced the process negatively. The reasons for this were complex 

but young people often said the meetings reinforced that they were “looked after” and 

therefore “different”. 

On a practical level, many young people told inspectors that the frequency of the 

meetings meant reviews were often “repetitive” and “boring”. Many experienced being 

the center of attention and having to discuss issues in front of a group of professionals as 

“embarrassing”. During the inspection a number of looked after children and care leavers 

reflected on the process and posed the question “how would you like it?” and they 

described the reviews as “not treating looked after children as children”.

Few young people interviewed believed that they owned the care plan; rather they were 

realistic that decisions were influenced by their age and the need to “keep them safe”. 

Many expressed concern that plans were overly protective and many did not know 

what their foster carers could agree to and what their entitlements were as looked after 

children. Delegated authority was a recurring issue and most young people told inspectors 

that more “permissions” should be delegated to their carers. 

Messages from looked after children 

• “I always go to my looked after child (LAC) reviews, I like it because I get praised” 

(Looked after child)

• “I hate (LAC) reviews; it’s always about what I’m not doing.” (Looked after child)

Page 71



58 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Conclusion 

Many of the concerns raised by children reflect a thematic deficit in the capacity of 

reviews to be a meaningful or effective way of ensuring that care plans achieve what they 

need to achieve to improve outcomes.  There is a need to improve plans and the conduct 

of the reviews so that they meet the individual needs and circumstances of the child in 

a way that is more purposeful and dynamic. Care leavers described the process as ‘not 

fit for purpose’. The issue that now needs to be addressed is whether the planning and 

review system is agile enough to respond to these expectations. 

Case example 

The young person reported that she felt social workers and other professionals had 

listened to her and that they treated her with respect and fairness. She was clear that 

they had her interests at heart even when making decisions that she was sometimes 

unhappy with. She felt she could tell workers when she disagreed and why, and that 

they would change things she asked of them if they could and if it was safe to do so. 

(Looked after child)

Page 72



59National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Appendix 1 

Messages from the survey 

Following the inspection fieldwork, CSSIW requested that local authorities send the 

following survey to all the young people who met the inspection criteria. It was pleasing 

that 178 responses were received. 

The collated findings from the survey of the young people who responded were: 

• 95% said they saw their social workers regularly or at least when they needed to;

• 71% knew what their care plan said;

• 82% attended their reviews always or sometimes;

• 87% felt supported with their education.

CSSIW Safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

survey results 

Safeguarding and Care Planning of Looked After Children and Care Leavers, who exhibit 

‘vulnerable or risky behaviours’ - Survey Results. 

Summary

• The survey was issued to 22 local authorities.

• A total of 178 looked after children completed the survey.

Summary of the responses

Answer Count Percentage

1. How often do you see your social worker?

Every week 14 7.9

Every month 68 38.2

At my reviews

When I need to

Never

19

67

10

10.7

37.6

5.6

Total 178 100.0

Page 73



60 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Answer Count Percentage

2. Do you know what your care plan says?

Yes 127 71.3

No 51 28.7

Total 178 100.0

3. Can you have a say on how you are looked after?

Yes 155 87.1

No 23 12.9

Total 178 100.0

4. If you wanted to change anything do you think your social worker could help?

Yes 149 83.7

No 29 16.3

Total 178 100.0

If no, do you think you could get things changed anyway?

None of the participants responded to this question.

5. Do you attend your Looked After Children (LAC) reviews?

Always 89 50.0

Sometimes 57 32.0

Never 32 18.0

Total 178 100.0

6. Do you get the support you need to make the most out of your education?

Yes 157 88.2

No 21 11.8

Total 178 100.0

Page 74



61National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Answer Count Percentage

7. Do you know who the independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) is?

Yes 111 62.4

No 67 37.6

Total 178 100.0

8. Do you feel like you can talk honestly about what is happening?

Yes 146 82.0

No 32 18.0

Total 178 100.0

9. Who would you talk to if something was wrong? See below for responses

10. Do you know how to make a complaint if you are unhappy with your care?

Yes 154 86.5

No 24 13.5

Total 178 100.0

11.  Did you know you can have an independent person (advocate) to help you if 

you wanted to get something changed?

Yes 138 77.5

No 40 22.5

Total 178 100.0

12. Do you know what the Children’s Commissioner for Wales does?

Yes 45 25.3

No 133 74.7

Total 178 100.0

13. What does corporate parenting mean to you? See below for responses

Don’t know 68 38.2

No response 60 33.7

Response 50 28.1

Total 178 100.0

Page 75



62 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Answer Count Percentage

14.  Can you get advice on any of the following: to keep healthy, to make friends, 

to keep in touch with family and to learn independent skills?

Yes 169 94.9

No 9 5.1

Total 178 100.0

15. If yes, please tick a box (you can select more than one answer)

To keep healthy 151

To make friends 121

To keep in touch with family 145

To learn independent skills 149

Total 566

16. Was it easy to access the internet today to fill out this survey?

Yes 75 42.1

No 103 57.9

Total 178 100.0

Of those children who responded, the following were identified in response to Question 9.

Question 9. Who would you talk to if something was wrong? (NB Some children 

identified more than one person)

Identified People Number of comments

Social worker  51

Other Social Services Staff  9

Residential staff  10

Personal Advisor  6

Foster carer  46

School / Education Staff  15

Page 76



63National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Identified People Number of comments

Child Adolescent Mental Health Services  2

Advocate  2

Friends / peers  11

Family  26

Other  9

Named persons  22

No one  5

Don’t know / no comment  3

 

Of 178 responses to question 13, there were 68 responses of ‘Don’t Know’;  

60 ‘no responses’ and of the remaining 50, the following comments were provided. 

Question 13. What does corporate parenting mean to you?

Corporate parenting is when the family 

works together instead of having demands.

People who look after you

Council Partnership needed between people 

looking after young people and children

Don’t like staff acting as my parents People support me because my mother 

can’t

Everything but we wasn’t given the chance 

to be parents and the reports proved we 

could parent a baby.

Professional parenting

Everything - could change a child life Shared responsibility of me

Full care order Social services and our parents share 

parental responsibility

Government being your guardian? Don’t 

know

Social worker is in charge of me

Happiness Social services act as your parents

Helps you change things in care That there are two parents supporting you 

and not just one

Page 77



64 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Helps your foster family They are not my real parents but they have 

full responsibility for me

I think you should review ‘corporate 

parenting’

They are there for me like a parent

Improving young people’s future and 

education

They kidnap people’s kids and treat them 

different to other kids. Us kids get punished 

for our parents mistakes

In contact with parent? To be on half of the parents responsibility 

e.g. social worker, foster carer

It is extremely important to family life, 

it means you can count on both parents 

if something is wrong with yourself or 

other people.

To cooperate with the children their looking 

after

It means a lot as it helps with what will 

happen in the future

We can understand each other and get on

It means they have a duty to look after 

me up to 21 or 25 in education

Were you have to corporate when your 

parenting

Legal guardian What does that mean

Local authority are looking after me When a young person is looked after by 

the local authority and they become the 

parents

Loving that child/trust When authority help with the care of 

a young person by just having a social 

worker or going in to full time care.

Mam When local authority can look after you.

My carers When two parents cooperate together.

My sister acts as my parent When you are in care.

Not enough help from the one who are 

responsible for me.

Working together to meet the needs of 

looked after children and young people 

and care leaders needs

Not much Not the birth parents

Nothing Other people making parent choices

Page 78



65National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Appendix 2 – Methodology and data profile 

Definition of vulnerable or risky behaviour 

For the purposes of the inspection a broad definition of ‘vulnerable or risky behaviours’ 

was applied that included the following:

• Looked after children (LAC)/care leavers with more than three moves in the last 

12 months.

• LAC placed in residential care in the last 12 months.

• Relevant young people living independently.

• LAC placed at home on a care order (as of April 2012).

• LAC who are in out of county placements/placed across borders as of April 2012.

• LAC/care leavers reported as absconding/missing/absent from placement in the period 

from April 2012.

• LAC/care leavers subject to a strategy meeting or other relevant multi agency meeting 

including case conferences in the period from April 2012.

• LAC /care leavers engaged in challenging behaviour i.e. behaviour that results in 

potentially dangerous or frightening consequences for the individual and or for others 

during the period from April 2012.

• LAC identified as the victims or perpetrators of anti social behaviour or offending in the 

last 12 months.

• LAC/care leavers not in education, employment or training during the period from 

April 2012.

• LAC/care leavers who display or are subject to sexually harmful activity. 

• LAC/care leavers who are or may be subject to exploitation.

• LAC/care leavers identified as engaged in substance misuse/self harm or needing 

mental health services.

Local authorities were asked to provide a profile of risk as outlined against the 

above definitions in relation to looked after children (aged 11+) and care leavers. 

The resulting sample provided, identified 1,696 looked after children. 

Profile of data collated from local authorities for the inspection of Safeguarding and 

Care Planning of looked after children and care leavers who exhibit Vulnerable or 

Risky Behaviour.

This profile aims to give a context to the work of the inspection and the conclusions which 

have been reached.  It is important to note that the data presented in the following charts 

has been collated directly from the local authorities against the above criteria. This data 

has not been validated and is only intended to provide a broad outline of the profile of risk 

for those who are looked after and between the ages of 11 and 18 years of age. The period 

of time which was covered was from April 2012 to December 2013, except for those 

Page 79



66 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

with more than three moves and those placed in residential which covered a 12 month 

period before January 2014. From the profile of cases provided by the local authorities we 

selected 220 cases to be reviewed.

The data been used in the charts which follow to illustrate the findings from the inspection 

this does not include relevant and former relevant young people.

Chart 1 

Number of LAC across Wales aged 10+ in 2013/14 compared with the number of 

looked after children aged 11+ at December 2013 identified as meeting at least one of 

the categories of vulnerability listed above.

NB:  The same child may have been counted in more than one sample group.

1,696 out of a possible population 3,005 10-18. (Excludes 10 year olds) 

Source – not validated (direct from local authorities.) 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

3005

1696

LAC Population

11-18 years

Number of LAC 11+

identified by LA as meeting

atleast one category of risk

Page 80



67National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Chart 2 

Looked after children aged 11+ with more than three moves in the 12 month period 

from January 2013 to the end of December 2013 compared with those engaged 

in challenging behaviour i.e. behaviour that results in potentially dangerous or 

frightening consequences for the individual and or for others; and those identified 

as the victims or perpetrators of anti social behaviour or offending in the last 

12 months.

NB:  The same child may have been counted in more than one sample group.

A significant number young people who experienced more than three moves were also 

identified as being engaged in challenging behaviour. All local authorities consider the 

number of children and young people who had experienced three or more placement 

moves within a period of 12 months; however as annual data, this performance indicator 

does not reflect the true extent of this indication of vulnerability. The majority of authorities 

did not provide information on the additional number of placement moves children 

experienced over three per year. Young people were reporting they had moved twenty 

or even thirty times since they became looked after and this was reflected on case files. 

The information sharing and risk management arrangements between children’s services 

and youth offending services across Wales were found to be effective. 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

240

526

Number of

LAC 11+

with more than

three moves in 

the last

12 months

Number of

LAC 11+

engaged in

challenging

behaviour

Number of

LAC 11+

identified as 

the victims or 

perperator

of anti social 

behaviour

or offending

394

1696

Number of

LAC 11+

identified by LA

as meeting at

least one

category of

risk

Page 81



68 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Chart 3

Looked after children aged 11+ reported as absconding/missing/absent from 

placement compared with numbers of looked after children 11+ who are or may be 

subject to exploitation; and those subject to a strategy meeting or other relevant 

multi agency meeting including case conferences in the period from April 2012.

NB:  The same child may have been counted in more than one sample group.

When requesting information we did not distinguish between ‘unauthorised absence’ 

and those who had been reported missing. All local authorities had a protocol in place 

to manage the latter situation and the reporting process to be used in either situation. 

As can be seen from the numbers illustrated more young people are reported missing 

than those believed to be at risk from child sexual exploitation.

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

255
325

Number of

LAC 11+

who are or

may be

subject to 

exploitation

Number of LAC 11+

as having had

episodes of 

absconding/

missing/absent

from placement

in the period from

April 2012

Number of

LAC 11+

subject to a

strategy

meeting or

multi agency

meetings

688

1696

Number of

LAC 11+

identified by LA

as meeting at

least one

category of

risk

Page 82



69National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Chart 4

Looked after children aged 11+  subject to a strategy meeting or other relevant 

multi agency meeting including case conferences compared with those engaged 

in challenging behaviour i.e. behaviour that results in potentially dangerous or 

frightening consequences for the individual and or for others; and those identified 

as engaged in substance misuse/self harm or needing mental health services.                                                                                                                                        

           

It was not clear that every local authority considered safeguarding data in respect of 

looked after children separately, but this could be used to cross reference with other data 

on vulnerability and risk to better monitor compliance with procedures and whether this 

led to better outcomes. Although the numbers of strategy meetings held in each local 

authority varied, it was evident from the field work that child protection procedures were 

being used appropriately to manage the safeguarding concerns in respect of looked after 

young people aged 11 years and over. Some authorities used multi-agency meetings to 

co-ordinate arrangements to manage risks, but these were not recorded on the electronic 

system so the data was not available.

Most authorities had put arrangements in place to support placements because of the lack 

of availability of CAMHS, or a primary mental health service. The most successful of these 

included direct work for the young person; behaviour management and practical support 

for the carers and consultation for social workers. The quality of the support carers were 

able to provide was an extremely significant factor in influencing the outcomes for the 

young people in the cases reviewed.

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

526

688

Number of

LAC 11+

engaged in

challenging

behaviour

Number of

LAC 11+

subject to a

strategy

meeting or

multi agency

meetings

Number of

LAC 11+ identified

as engaged in 

substance

misuse, self harm

or needing mental

health services

524

1696

Number of

LAC 11+

identified by LA

as meeting at

least one

category of

risk

Page 83



70 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Chart 5 

Looked after children aged 11+ who are in out of county placements/placed 

across borders compared with those placed in residential care in period from 

January 2013 – January 2014.

NB:  The same child may have been counted in more than one sample group.

The lack of good quality residential units which are locally based was seen to influence 

decision making when a young person’s behaviour was becoming too challenging for 

a foster placement. The lack of early therapeutic intervention could be a significant factor 

in the reasons for some young people experiencing multiple placement breakdowns.

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

902

1696

Number of LAC 11+

who are placed

in out of county

placements in

fostering and residential

Number of LAC 11+

placed in

residential care

in the last 12 months

Number of LAC 11+

identified by LA as

meeting at least

one category of risk

240

Page 84



71National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Chart 6

Looked after children aged 11+ who display or are subject to sexually harmful activity 

compared with numbers identified by each local authority as meeting any one of the 

vulnerability / risk categories.

NB:  The same child may have been counted in more than one sample group.

Most authorities had good access to assessment for young people who display or are 

subject to sexually harmful behaviour; however there was a lack of appropriate services 

to support them. The transition arrangements for managing risk for those young people 

approaching 18 years of age were not well managed.

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

235

1696

Number of LAC 11+

who display or are

subject of sexually

harmul behaviour

Number of LAC 11+

identified by LA as meeting

atleast one category of risk

Page 85



72 National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children and care leavers 

who exhibit vulnerable or r isky behaviours

Appendix 3

Acknowledgements

CSSIW would like to thank the children, young people, as well as their family and carers 

who shared their experiences with us. The inspectorate would also like to thank the social 

workers, managers, senior officers, members and partners listed below who took part in 

the fieldwork for all their help and co-operation with this inspection.

• The cabinet member holding the children’s social services portfolio.

• The chair of the scrutiny board/committee for children’s social services.

• Chair of the corporate parenting board or equivalent.

• Chair of safeguarding children board reflecting regional and local arrangements.

• Chief executive officer.

• The statutory director of social services.

• Director of education.

• Director of housing. 

• The head of children’s services.

• Head of adult services.

• Child protection co-ordinator and or the children’s quality assurance officer or equivalent.

• Commissioners.

• Independent reviewing officers.

• Children’s services – service managers.

• Children’s services – team managers.

• Children’s services – social workers.

• Personal  advisors.

• Youth offending service. 

Representatives from the police, health, probation and local authority education services

• Service providers

• Advocacy providers.

The CSSIW inspection team included inspectors from the regional teams and the strategy 

team. Lead inspectors were Katy Young, Pam Clutton and Bobbie Jones. 

Page 86



National Inspection  

Safeguarding and Care Planning of 

looked after children and care leavers, 

who exhibit vulnerable or risky 

behaviours  

Inspection of Caerphilly 

County Borough Council

August 2014
Page 87



Digital ISBN 978 1 4734 2080 9

© Crown Copyright 2014

WG 23017

Page 88



2 

Local Authority – Caerphilly                 Date of Review – 24/03/14 to 27/03/14 

Lead Inspector – Bobbie Jones 

 

 

1.0. INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1. This report provides an overview of inspection findings in respect of: Safeguarding and 
care planning of looked after children and care leavers who exhibit vulnerable or risky 
behaviour, within Caerphilly County Borough Council.  

 
1.2. The inspection was carried out as part of Care and Social Services Inspectorate Wales 

(CSSIW) national thematic inspection programme. The methodology for the review 
included three and a half days fieldwork in each local authority across Wales, between 
January and May 2014. 

 
1.3. The aim of the national inspection was to assess the quality of care planning across 

Wales and whether it effectively:   

 Supports and protects looked after children and care leavers; 

 Identifies and manages the vulnerabilities and risky behaviour of looked after children 
and care leavers; 

 Promotes rights based practice and the voice of the child; 

 Promotes improved outcomes for looked after children and care leavers;  

 Promotes compliance with policy and guidance 
 

1.4. Findings from the individual local authority inspections will inform a CSSIW national 
overview report to be published later this year. 
 

2.     THE INSPECTION  

2.1 The inspection focused on the work undertaken with looked after children over eleven 
years of age and care leavers who were identified as being vulnerable and/or involved 
in risky behaviours, against  defined criteria.  

 

2.2 It is important to recognise that given this focus the case sample reviewed in each local 
authority encompassed some of the most challenging and complex case management 
issues and represented only a small cohort of each authority’s wider looked after 
children and care leaving population.  

 
2.3 As well as inspecting cases in respect of the assessment, care planning and review 

systems the inspection also considered the extent to which the corporate parenting, 
management and partnership arrangements acted to promote improved outcomes for 
looked after children and care leavers. Also how organisational structures including, 
workforce, resources, advocacy and quality assurance mechanisms impacted on the 
quality of care planning. 

 

 
 

Page 89



3 

Local Authority – Caerphilly                 Date of Review – 24/03/14 to 27/03/14 

Lead Inspector – Bobbie Jones 

 

 
 
 

The inspection considered these areas against the following five questions.  

A summary of our findings is presented below 

QUESTION 1  

Did the authority effectively discharge its corporate parenting roles and responsibilities 
promoting the stability, welfare and safety of looked after children and care leavers?  

POSITIVES 

 The corporate parenting arrangements in this authority were embedded. Members 
understood their roles and responsibilities and they demonstrated ambition for looked 
after children. This was evidenced by commitment to supporting academic 
achievement.  

 

 Partnership arrangements facilitated gathering and sharing reliable information about 
many of the potential risks posed by looked after children and care leavers. The 
authority and strategic partners had both formal and informal mechanisms in place that 
enabled a good understanding of the immediate and individual needs of looked after 
children and care leavers engaged in risky behaviours, for example the multi-agency 
Vulnerable Young People and Complex Needs Panels. 

 

 We heard that all managers were visible and accessible and that the authority had 
systems in place that supported active oversight of compliance in respect of its statutory 
responsibilities for looked after children and care leavers. These included, for example, 
the multi-agency Brighter Futures Panel, oversight of children and young people placed 
outside the county and/or those who were presenting specific concerns.  

 

 The authority appeared to have a sufficient volume of suitably skilled and experienced 
staff working with looked after children and care leavers. Staff we spoke to conveyed 
commitment, enthusiasm and motivation to undertake the work they carried out. 

 

 The regional South East Wales Safeguarding Children’s board had been in place since 
April 2013 and had developed a comprehensive strategic plan. Priorities had been 
agreed with ‘adolescents who exhibit harmful behaviours’ planned as a focus for 
2014/15.This development includes significant key actions which could be expanded to 
include risky behaviours in addition to those of child exploitation and missing young 
people.  

 

 There were generally resilient and supportive relationships within social services and 
with partners to ensure looked after children and care leavers, including those who live 
away from their home authority, had access to services that met their needs. For 
example, cooperation between housing and social services departments with regard to 
this group of children and young people was good.  The authority benefited from a 

Page 90



4 

Local Authority – Caerphilly                 Date of Review – 24/03/14 to 27/03/14 

Lead Inspector – Bobbie Jones 

 

recent appointment of a young person’s housing officer who had been effective in 
improving the service received by children and young people.  

 
 

AREAS FOR IMPROVEMENT 

 The local authority had not given sufficient regard at a corporate level to the importance 
of highlighting this group of most vulnerable children and young people. Neither was the 
profile of this group of children and young people collated and shared across partner 
agencies and so was not available to facilitate strategic service planning for this group 
of service users. We noted the recent development of the Children & Families 
Partnership Board, lead by health and attended by social services and education with 
the aim of planning future services as a strong indication of a commitment to redress 
this deficit.  

 

 We did not see evidence of systems to evaluate the effectiveness of the authority’s 
placement strategy. The placement strategy does not include a contemporary analysis 
of the needs of looked after children or care leavers nor does it outline what actions the 
authority has planned to  manage future need. We noted the authority’s commitment to 
addressing this deficit through the process of drafting a revised placement strategy. 

 

 The range and choice of placements able to meet the assessed needs and promote 
good outcomes for looked after children and care leavers involved in risky behaviours 
was not sufficiently comprehensive; as evidenced by the numerous placement moves 
experienced by some children and young people.   

 

 Despite good working engagement the resilience of the authority’s relationship with 
health services remain overtly dependent on children’s social services providing funding 
and resources to assess and meet the therapeutic needs of looked after children and 
care leavers in many cases. 

 

 Ineffective support and encouragement to access and sustain commitment to available 
universal services and gaps in provision, particularly supported accommodation, 
hampered on-going engagement with young adults. We noted the authority’s 
Transitions Operational Group which emphasised early engagement with young people 
with disabilities likely to require statutory adult social services interventions, as a 
prospective model for driving improvement in this area.  

 

 Although the authority had some mechanisms in place to seek the views and opinions 
of children/young people about their care, for example through the advocacy services 
and the Shout Out (care leavers) group, we saw little evidence of how this feedback 
was used to plan and develop future services. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 91



5 

Local Authority – Caerphilly                 Date of Review – 24/03/14 to 27/03/14 

Lead Inspector – Bobbie Jones 

 

 
QUESTION 2 

 
Were care and pathway plans informed by relevant assessments, including explicit risk 
assessments, which supported a comprehensive response to the needs and 
experiences of children and young people?  
 
POSITIVES 
 

 Information sharing arrangements were effective in this authority between teams, 
including the Youth Offending Team and between agencies. There was a clear shared 
understanding and commitment from all professionals to safeguard children and young 
people and to improve outcomes for them. Further evidence of good multi-agency 
working in relation to this group of children and young people was evidenced by the 
authority’s contributions to and utilisation of pan-Gwent intelligence and information 
sharing initiatives such as the Missing Persons Project (MISPER) and Operation 
Artemis (child sexual exploitation). 

 

 There was a culture of shared professional assessment and care planning and 
documentation often included contributions from other agencies, such a Personal 
Education and Health Plans, in support of the overall plan for the child or young person. 
The co-location of the Looked After Children Education Service (LACES) alongside 
social workers; shared access to ICT; and a protocol for professional challenge, 
reported to prompt healthy debate and challenge which was viewed as a constructive 
tool was further evidence of an effective shared approach to joint work with the aim of 
improving outcomes for this service user group.  

 

 We observed that intervention from the authority’s Immediate Response Team and the 
pan-Gwent Skills for Life service were in some cases able to compensate for lack of 
Child & Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) provision. 

 

 Recent restructuring to introduce a 16+ team appears to have improved the focus on 
work with care leavers who spoke positively about their involvement in Pathway 
Planning and about their relationships with Personal Advisors.  

 

 Care leavers were valued and empowered to have a voice and to engage meaningfully 
in decisions that influenced their lives. Pathway planning was evidently a dynamic 
process involving the young person from the outset in determining relevant objectives 
and taking ownership for delivering on some of these.  

 

AREAS FOR IMPROVEMENT 
 

 It was acknowledged that despite the range of foster placements available both within 
and outside of authority boundaries, carers did not always have the skills to effectively 
safeguard the most complex and vulnerable children and young people nor was there a 
sufficient level of support for them to achieve this. 

 

Page 92



6 

Local Authority – Caerphilly                 Date of Review – 24/03/14 to 27/03/14 

Lead Inspector – Bobbie Jones 

 

 There was a significant gap in appropriate services to meet the emotional and 
psychological health and development needs of some children and young people, 
including those associated with risky behaviours thus creating an over-reliance on 
social services. Specifically there is a recognised longstanding disconnect between the 
access threshold applied by CAMHS and the presenting emotional resilience needs of 
looked after children and care leavers. We saw extensive waiting lists for CAMHS with 
some children and young people not receiving a service to address an assessed 
therapeutic need at all.  

 

 The quality of care plans was variable. Most plans clearly articulated overarching 
objectives but very few of these were outcome focussed or clear about how risk was to 
be managed, within what timescales or by whom. The care plans of those children and 
young people who were looked after for long periods were often reliant on informal 
information exchange between professionals rather than updated written assessments; 
this was even in circumstances where there had been significant change. Very few care 
plans explicitly included the child or young persons views nor had plans routinely been 
effectively shared with children and/or their families. 

 

QUESTION 3 

 

Were operational systems and procedures in place that ensured responsive 
coordinated action was taken to mitigate risk and achieve safe continuity of care?  

 
POSITIVES 

 There was a stable workforce in place and we recognised the commitment, skills and 
knowledge of staff at all levels. Most of the social work staff we interviewed had a good 
understanding of the needs and vulnerabilities of looked after children and care leavers.  

 

 Workers were clear that safeguarding was a priority. We saw evidence from case 
reviews and interviews with professionals that staff were aware of their statutory 
responsibilities and of risk management policies and procedures, such as strategy 
meetings, multi-agency panels, case conferences and return to placement checks and 
that these mechanisms were utilised promptly and appropriately to co-ordinate relevant 
safeguarding strategies. 

 

 Staff also told us that they received regular formal supervision and had access to 
training to support their practice; specifically in relation to this group of children and 
young people many staff had completed Sexual Exploitation Risk Assessment 
Framework (SERAF) training. We noted that managers were available for informal 
discussion and/or consultation/decision making regarding safeguarding issues. 
Supervision was reported to be of sufficient quality with a good balance between 
reflective practice and personal/professional development being achieved. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 93



7 

Local Authority – Caerphilly                 Date of Review – 24/03/14 to 27/03/14 

Lead Inspector – Bobbie Jones 

 

AREAS FOR IMPROVEMENT 
 

 Risk assessments and on-going risk management arrangements, particularly when 
more than one agency was involved, needed to be more effectively recorded, shared 
and coordinated.  
 

 Discussion with staff and team managers suggested casework consultation about risk 
issues, including decision-making took place however we saw very little evidence on 
case files to support this.  
 

QUESTION 4 

Did Independent Reviews and quality assurance arrangements promote safe care and 
best outcomes for young people? 

POSITIVES 

 The authority’s arrangements for Independent Reviewing Officers (IRO) were compliant 
with statutory guidance. Communications between team managers, social workers and 
IRO appeared constructive.  

 

 Looked after children review meetings took place in a timely manner, were well 
attended by other professionals and families and ensured that care plans were updated.   

 

 Well established performance monitoring arrangements were in place as were reporting 
pathways to the Corporate Parenting Board in respect of key performance indicators 
relating to looked after children and care leavers. 
 

AREAS FOR IMPROVEMENT 

 IRO told us they were confident to challenge arrangements for children and young 
people although this was difficult to evidence from the case files we reviewed. We noted 
recent work by the IRO manager to improve the quality of review records as a 
commitment to driving improvement in this area. 

 

 The frequency of tracking between review meetings by IRO was insufficient to ensure 
actions were completed and as such did not enhance the review process or help 
counter drift.  

 

 We saw evidence of the authority’s commitment to consultation prior to review meetings 
but children and young people’s response to the offer of consultation was poor.  The 
children and young people we spoke to told us that they preferred not to attend their 
reviews as these meetings made them feel embarrassed and uncomfortable. The 
reasons for this were often linked to the number of professionals attending the meeting 
and a perception that although they were invited to express their views these 
contributions weren’t valued. IRO were surprised by this and divulged that they had not 

Page 94



8 

Local Authority – Caerphilly                 Date of Review – 24/03/14 to 27/03/14 

Lead Inspector – Bobbie Jones 

 

themselves ever sought feedback from children and young people about the review 
process. 

 

 There were quality assurance arrangements in place but these were insufficiently 
cohesive to fully capture learning from the review process.  A recent lack of capacity 
had impacted on the effectiveness of the system to influence improvement.  

 

 Commissioning arrangements for children’s services were underdeveloped. Where 
services had been commissioned, monitoring arrangements were generally confined to 
contractual matters rather than focussed on broader quality assurance metrics based 
around outcomes for children and young people. 

QUESTION 5 

Did care and pathway planning effectively capture and promote the rights and voice of 

the child? 

POSITIVES 

 Professionals within this authority were committed to helping children and young people 
understand their lives, including the impact of their journey through the care system. We 
saw evidence in case files of direct work being undertaken with children and young 
people to help them understand their identity and the changes they have experienced. 
We particularly recognised the positive interventions of the 16+ team. Young people 
told us about the work of their Personal Advisors (PA). They said that PA were able to 
get alongside care leavers to support them to deal with a range of issues, from early life 
experiences to, for example current substance mis-use problems as well as 
encouraging learning and the development of independent living skills. 

 

 The authority’s permanency strategy recognised the importance of helping looked after 
children and care leavers to maintain secure attachments. We saw evidence from case 
files of commitment to arranging and sustaining contact between families sometimes in 
the face of significant obstacles. 

 

 The authority had developed formal advocacy arrangements that ensured looked after 
children had access to appropriate support and had an effective voice. This was 
monitored and reported annually to scrutiny and to the corporate parenting board. The 
children and young people we spoke to knew about the advocacy service and about 
how to access it. We heard that where the service was used that it was highly valued by 
staff as well as children and young people (although this was rarely evident on case file 
recording).  

 

 The advocacy service provider also ran the care leavers participation group Shout Out 
alongside staff from the 16 + team. Care leavers told us that they felt they were listened 
to and treated with respect within this group.  
 

 

Page 95



9 

Local Authority – Caerphilly                 Date of Review – 24/03/14 to 27/03/14 

Lead Inspector – Bobbie Jones 

 

AREAS FOR IMPROVEMENT 

 Limitations on placement choice, including appropriate move-on accommodation for 
care leavers, for children and young people with the most challenging and complex 
needs, frequently militated against meeting the child or young person’s wishes and 
feelings and simultaneously keeping them safe.  

 

 Planning in relation to involvement in sporting leisure and/or other community based 
activities was inconsistent but did include some good examples of children and young 
people being pro-actively supported to pursue their interests, particularly by the 16 + 
team. We also saw examples of opportunities offered but these not being taken up. 

Page 96



Area for Improvement Action Required Person 
Responsible 

Date to be 
achieved  

 

LAC INSPECTION ACTION PLAN – Version 3 – Updated February 2015. 1

CSSIW NATIONAL INSPECTION SAFEGUARDING AND CARE PLANNING OF LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN AND CARE 
LEAVERS WHO EXHIBIT VULNERABLE OR RISKY BEHAVIOURS      
DATE REPORT RECEIVED: August 2014           Updated: February 2015  
 
Area for Improvement Action Required Person 

Responsible 
Date to be 
achieved  

1. Did the authority effectively discharge its corporate parenting roles and responsibilities promoting the stability, welfare and safety 
of looked after children and care leavers?  
 

1.1 The local authority has not given sufficient 

regard at a corporate level to the importance of 
highlighting this group of most vulnerable children 
and young people. Neither was a profile of this 
group of children and young people collated and 
shared across partner agencies and was not 
available to facilitate strategic service planning 
for this group of service users.  
 

• Baseline Data Report to be presented to 
Corporate Parenting Group meeting to identify 
issues affecting this group of children and young 
people 

• Corporate Parenting Group to consider how to 
raise profile corporately – may consider an 
annual report to Scrutiny Committee / Cabinet 

• Review and re-issue Corporate Parenting 
Handbook to all Elected Members 

• Appropriate references to be made to this group 
of children and young people in the revised 
Commissioning Strategy 

• Establish links to Corporate Safeguarding Group 

JE 
GJ 
Corporate 
Parenting 
Group 

March 2015 
 
 
 
March 2015 
 
 
June 2015 
 
Completed 
 
 
Completed 

1.2 We did not see evidence of systems to 
evaluate the effectiveness of the authority’s 
placement strategy. The current strategy does 
not include a contemporary analysis of the needs 
of looked after children or care leavers nor does it 
outline what actions the authority has planned to 
manage future need. The range and choice of 
placements able to meet the assessed needs 
and promote good outcomes for looked after 
children and care leavers involved in risky 

• Commissioning Strategy being revised 

• Final version to be launched through staff 
briefings 

• Need to ensure it identifies vulnerable LAC, Care 
Leavers and risky behaviours 

• Needs to identify range and choice of 
placements 

• Needs to link with 5.1 ‘move on’ accommodation 
for care leavers 

DMT Completed 
 
April 2015 
 
Completed 
 
Completed 
 
Completed 
 

P
a
g
e
 9

7



Area for Improvement Action Required Person 
Responsible 

Date to be 
achieved  

 

LAC INSPECTION ACTION PLAN – Version 3 – Updated February 2015. 2

behaviours was not sufficiently comprehensive as 
evidenced by the numerous placement moves 
experienced by some children and young people. 
1.3 Despite good working engagement the 
resilience of the authority’s relationship with 
health services remain overtly dependant on 
children’s social services providing funding and 
resources to assess and meet the therapeutic 
needs of looked after children and care leavers in 
many cases. 

 

• Links to 2.2 – CAMHS 

• CSSIW recognise this is a national issue to be 
addressed on an All Wales basis 

• Requires 5 Gwent Local Authorities to engage 
with ABUHB to address findings of Inspections 

• Gwent HoS to write to Directors to request this is 
taken forward 

See 2.2 Completed 

1.4 Arrangements for supporting care leavers in 

their transition to adulthood were not generally 
aspirational. Ineffective support and 
encouragement to access and sustain 
commitment to available universal services and 
gaps in provision, particularly supported 
accommodation, hampered on-going 
engagement with young adults. 

 

• Awareness raising in respect of aspirational 
planning through transition processes in 16 plus 
and CWD Teams 

• Reinforce role of TOG 

• Remind IRO’s of their responsibilities to ensure 
adequate transition planning is in place 

TB 
JE 
CD 

Completed 

1.5 Although the authority had some 

mechanisms in place to seek the views and 
opinions of children/young people about their 
care, for example through the advocacy services 
and the Shout Out (care leavers) group, little 
evidence of how the feedback was used to plan 
and develop future services. 

 

• NYAS and Shout Out Group to provide periodic 
reports to the Corporate Parenting on themes 
and lessons learned from feedback 

• Young persons representative to be invited to 
join the Corporate Parenting Group 

• Consultation processes with IRO’s to be 
monitored and formally reviewed.  Links to 4.3 

• Implement mobile telephone messaging and text 
service 

• Engagement in the consultation phase of the 
National ‘Fostering Changes/ In Good Hands’ 
Programme 

JE 
KJ 

Plan in place for 
June and 
December meetings 
 
June 2015 
 
 
Completed 
 
 
Completed 

P
a

g
e
 9

8



Area for Improvement Action Required Person 
Responsible 

Date to be 
achieved  

 

LAC INSPECTION ACTION PLAN – Version 3 – Updated February 2015. 3

 
2. Were care and pathway plans informed by relevant assessments, including explicit risk assessments, which supported a 
comprehensive response to the needs and experiences of children and young people? 
 

2.1 Despite the range of foster placements 

available both within and outside the authority 
boundaries, carers did not always have the skills 
to effectively safeguard the most complex and 
vulnerable children and young people nor was 
there a sufficient level of support for them to 
achieve this.  

• Review of foster carer skills and role of higher 
level carers including career carers 

• Review of foster carer training programme 

• Identify what support services are available for 
more challenging placements to prevent 
disruption and breakdown 

• Make full use of the Gwent wide YOS LAC 
Protocol to provide additional supports to 
placements 

• Fully engage with the national ‘Fostering 
Changes / In Good Hands’ Programme 

JE 
SK 
DMT 

June 2015 

2.2 There was a significant gap in appropriate 
services to meet the emotional and psychological 
health and developmental needs of some 
children and young people thus creating an over-
reliance on social services. There is a recognised 
longstanding disconnect between the access 
threshold applied by CAMHS and the presenting 
emotional resilience needs of looked after 
children and care leavers. Extensive waiting lists 
for CAMHS with some not receiving a service to 
address an assessed therapeutic need at all.  
 

• Links to 1.3 – CAMHS 

• CSSIW recognise this is a national issue to be 
addressed on an All Wales basis 

• Requires 5 Gwent Local Authorities to engage 
with ABUHB to address findings of Inspections 

• Gwent HoS to write to Directors to request this is 
taken forward 

Link to 1.3 Completed 

2.3 The quality of care plans was variable. Most 
plans clearly articulated overarching objectives 
but very few of these were outcome focussed or 
clear about how risk was to be managed, within 
what timescales and by whom. The care plans of 
those children and young people who were 

• Improve care planning to include outcomes 

• Risk management to be monitored through 
Resources Panel, Permanency Panel and 
Statutory Reviews 

• Improve the recording of children and young 
people’s views on case files 

DMT 
 

Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
 

P
a
g
e
 9

9



Area for Improvement Action Required Person 
Responsible 

Date to be 
achieved  

 

LAC INSPECTION ACTION PLAN – Version 3 – Updated February 2015. 4

looked after for long periods were often reliant on 
informal information exchange between 
professionals rather than updated written 
assessments; even in circumstances where there 
had been significant change. Very few care plans 
explicitly included the child or young persons 
views nor had plans routinely been effectively 
shared with children and/or their families.  
 

• Engagement in SSIA Outcomes Framework pilot 
and consider roll-out of learning across all teams 

• Undertake a quality assurance audit of care 
plans 

Pilot February to 
September 2015 
 
June 2015 

3. Were operational systems and procedures in place that ensured responsive co-ordinated action was taken to mitigate risk and 
achieve continuity of care? 
 

3.1 Risk assessments and ongoing risk 

management arrangements, particularly when 
more than one agency was involved needed to 
be more effectively recorded, shared and co-
ordinated. 

• Implement a strategic, whole service approach 
to risk identification, assessment and 
management using the good practice Risk Model 
example 

• Resource training for 2015/16 

• Cross reference with QA audit outlined in 2.3 

• Lateral checks at ‘first contact’ to be 
strengthened by routinely checking: 
� ICS Hazards 
� YOS involvement 
� Violence at Work Register 
� MIRAF 
� Probation  
� Housing 

DMT 
Training 

Summer 2015 
 
 
 
 
 
June 2015 

3.2 Little evidence on files to support case work 

consultation between team managers and staff 
about risk issues.  

4. Did Independent Reviews and quality assurance arrangements promote safe care and best outcomes for young people? 
 

4.1 Difficult to evidence from case files IRO 
challenging arrangements for children and young 
people. 

 

• Improve recording processes of IRO’s to provide 
written evidence of appropriate challenge of 
planning and drift between review meetings 

CD 
KJ 

June 2015 
 
 

P
a
g

e
 1

0
0



Area for Improvement Action Required Person 
Responsible 

Date to be 
achieved  

 

LAC INSPECTION ACTION PLAN – Version 3 – Updated February 2015. 5

4.2 The frequency of tracking between review 
meetings by IRO was insufficient to ensure 
actions were completed and as such did not 
enhance the review process or help counter drift. 

 

• Presentation of 6 monthly and Annual Report on 
Safeguarding & Review Team to DMT to report 
on statutory requirements and local priorities 
highlighted through the Inspection 

• Review and relaunch the Escalation Protocol 
where there are professional concerns in relation 
to care planning 

Annual Report in 
May and 6 monthly 
report in November 
each year 

4.3 Children and Young people’s response to the 

offer of consultation was poor. Children and 
young people spoken to advised that they 
preferred not to attend their reviews as these 
meetings often made them feel embarrassed and 
uncomfortable. Reasons included the number of 
professionals attending the meeting and a 
perception that although they were invited to 
express their views these contributions weren’t 
valued. IRO have not sought feedback from 
children and young people about the review 
process. 

• Endorse the recommendations included in the 
Consultation report prepared by Senior IRO and 
presented to DMT October 2014 

• Text and messaging service to be established 

• IRO’s to attend Shout Out Group periodically 

• IRO’s to collate themes and issues arising from 
consultation documents and feedback received 
and report to DMT through the 6 monthly and 
Annual Report process  

CD 
KJ 

Completed 
 
Completed 
 
Ongoing 

4.4 There were quality assurance arrangements 
in place but these were insufficiently cohesive to 
fully capture learning from the review process. A 
recent lack of capacity had impacted on the 
effectiveness of the system to influence 
improvement. 

• A service wide Quality Assurance Framework 
needs to be developed and implemented. 

• Presentation of 6 monthly Report to DMT for the 
following service areas: 
� Safeguarding & Review 
� Fostering 
� Ty Ni 
� IFSS 
� Immediate Response Team 
� Legal Proceedings 

• Thematic audits to be agreed by DMT as need 
arises 

DMT June 2015 
 
6 monthly reporting 
cycle 

4.5 Commissioning arrangements for children’s 
services were underdeveloped. Where services 

• Contract monitoring processes need to be 
improved 

DMT 
MReid 

Ongoing 
 

P
a
g
e
 1

0
1



Area for Improvement Action Required Person 
Responsible 

Date to be 
achieved  

 

LAC INSPECTION ACTION PLAN – Version 3 – Updated February 2015. 6

had been commissioned, monitoring 
arrangements were generally confined to 
contractual matters rather than focussed on 
broader quality assurance metrics based around 
outcomes for children and young people.  

• Use positive example of steering group to 
oversee Family Support contract – CD 

• Implement the revised Commissioning Strategy 

 
 
April 2015 

5. Did care and pathway planning effectively capture and promote the rights and voice of the child?  
 

5.1 Limitations on placement choice, 
including appropriate move-on 
accommodation for care leavers for children 
and young people with the most challenging 
and complex needs, frequently militated 
against meeting the child or young person’s 
wishes and feelings and simultaneously 
keeping them safe.  

• Continue to explore options for  ‘move on 
accommodation’ with Housing and RSL’s 

• Independent review of use of Ty Ni 

• Increase recruitment of Supported Lodgings 

• Revise Fostering Recruitment Strategy 

• Adopt ‘house style’ to all marketing 

JE  
 
Completed 
Ongoing 
April 2015 
Completed 

5.2 Planning in relation to involvement in 
sporting leisure and/or community based 
activities was inconsistent.  

• Reinforce Foster Carers role in promoting leisure 
activities 

• Engagement of 16 Plus Team with Youth 
Service and Leisure 

• Make explicit reference to leisure activities in 
Pathway Planning 

• Role of IRO’s to monitor through reviews 

JE 
KJ 

 

 

P
a
g

e
 1

0
2



 
 

 

 

HEALTH SOCIAL CARE AND WELLBEING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 

24TH MARCH 2015  
 

SUBJECT: PROPOSAL TO INCREASE FIXED PENALTY NOTICE FINES FOR 

LITTER AND DOG CONTROL ORDER OFFENCES AND TO SET FIXED 

PENALTY NOTICE FINES FOR COMMUNITY PROTECTION NOTICES 

AND PUBLIC SPACE PROTECTION ORDERS 

 

REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES 

 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 
1.1 This report seeks approval for a proposed increase to the level of fines attached to Fixed 

Penalty Notices for litter and Dog Control Order offences and for a proposed fine for Fixed 
Penalty Notices under the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014. The report is 
seeking the views of Members prior to its presentation to Cabinet. 

 
 
2. SUMMARY 

 
2.1 Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) are issued for offences of littering and in relation to Dog Control 

Orders. The current fine for both offences is £75 (or £50 if the penalty is paid within 7 days of 
issue). Fines are currently set at the statutory default level. The maximum level permitted by 
the legislation is £150. Legislation governing the litter and dog control order offences states 
that Authorities must formally stipulate and approve their fixed penalty fines levels if these are 
to differ from the statutory default level of £75. It is proposed that the level of fine for both 
offences be increased to £100 (or £75 if paid within 7 days of the issue). 

 
2.2 The Anti-social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 sets a statutory maximum fixed 

penalty fine of £100 for certain offences under a Community Protection Notice or a Public 
Space Protection Order with local discretion as to the amount to be set. It is proposed that the 
level of fine be set at £100 (or £75 if paid within 7 days of the issue).  

 
 
3. LINKS TO STRATEGY 

 
3.1 The Public Protection Division consists of a wide range of protective and regulatory functions 

that seek to protect, promote and improve the health, safety and economic wellbeing of our 
communities. 

 
3.2 Enforcement of littering, antisocial behaviour, and Dog Control Order legislation contributes to 

the Healthier, Greener, and Safer themes of the Single Plan, Caerphilly Delivers, and 
supports the following Corporate Aspiration: 

 
Our communities must be safe, green and clean places to live to improve resident’s quality of 
life.  
 
 

Agenda Item 10

Page 103



3.3 This report supports the following Corporate Priority: 
 
 Affordability - To deliver a medium term Financial Plan aimed at ultimately providing a period 

of stability that helps the authority to have a range of services in the future that are 
sustainable.  

 
 
4. THE REPORT 
 
4.1 Under Section 88 of The Environmental Protection Act 1990, the Authority has the power to 

take enforcement action for littering offences. At present, when enforcement officers witness 
the offence, they issue a Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN). The current fine is £75 (or £50 if the 
penalty is paid within 7 days of issue). Fines are currently set at the statutory minimum. Most 
fines are paid within 7 days, at the rate of £50.  If a fine is not paid then in most cases the 
offenders are prosecuted. The details of FPNs served for litter during 2013-14 are detailed 
below: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.2 Under the Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 the Authority has the power to 

take enforcement action for dog control offences for locations where Dog Control Orders have 
been made. In March 2013 the Authority made Dog Control Orders to exclude dogs and in 
respect of dog fouling at 97 enclosed children’s play areas and 25 Multi Use Games Areas. 
The current fine is set at the statutory minimum of £75 reduced to £50 if paid within 7 days. 
No Fixed Penalty Notices have been issued in respect of Dog Control Orders. 

 
4.3 Under the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 offences are created for breach 

of a Public Space Protection Order (PSPO), to prevent anti-social behaviour of a persistent or 
continuing nature from happening in a geographical area, the ‘Restricted Area’. Public Space 
Protection Orders will replace the current Designated Public Place Orders, which restrict 
drinking: the current Gating Orders which restrict access to residents only and Dog Control 
Orders   All current Orders can however remain in place and will continue to be valid for three 
years from 20th October 2014, following which they will be converted and treated as Public 
Space Protection Orders.  Councils are able to review the need for current orders during the 
three year transitional period.  

 
4.4 Public Space Protection Orders may also be brought into being for other anti-social behaviour 

issues not related to alcohol, dogs or access. The new regime introduces a fixed penalty 
notice provision that can be used as an alternative to prosecution for breach. 
 

4.5 The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 also introduces Community 
Protection Notices (CPNs) that can be issued against individuals, businesses or organisations 
responsible for anti-social behaviour affecting a community. Breach of a CPN attracts a fixed 
penalty notice. 
 

4.6 The legislative provisions governing the levels at which fines can be set for litter and dog 
control are as follows: 

 FPNs served 
for Litter  

No of fixed penalties issued  1.4.13 – 31.3.14 239 

No of fixed penalties paid 218 

No of cases of non-payment taken to court 3 

No of cases of non-payment awaiting court action  7 

No of cases not paid where no further court action is 
being taken  

11 

No of warning letters issued 33 

Amount Collected (£)  £11,200 

Page 104



 

• Environmental Protection Act 1990 – Section 88(6A) – states that the Authority must 
specify the amount of fixed penalty fine that is to be paid for litter offences. If no 
amount is specified, then the default fine level is £75.   

• Clean Neighbourhoods & Environment Act 2005 – Section 60(1) also states that the 
Authority must specify the amount of fixed penalty fine that is to be paid for dog control 
order offences. If no amount is specified, then the default fine level is £75. 

• Environmental Offences (Fixed Penalties) (Miscellaneous Provisions) (Wales) 
Regulations 2008 – Section 2 states that the prescribed ranges for both the litter and 
dog control order offences must be between a minimum of £75 and a maximum of 
£150. These regulations also state that the Authority can accept a lesser amount if the 
fine is paid within a specified period (e.g. 7 days) and that lesser amount cannot be 
less that £50. 
 

4.7 The legislative provisions governing the levels at which fines can be set for breach of Public 
Space Protection Orders and Community Protection Notices under the Anti-social Behaviour, 
Crime and Policing Act 2014 are as follows; 

 

• PSPOs Section 68- The amount specified must not be more than £100 or a reduced 
amount if paid within a specified period of not more than 14 days. 

• CPNs Section 52- The amount specified must not be more than £100 or a reduced 
amount if paid within a specified period of not more than 14 days. 
 

4.8 The Authority therefore has the discretion to set and/or vary the levels of fines. It is proposed 
that Fixed Penalty Notices issued under The Environmental Protection Act 1990, The Clean 
Neighbourhoods & Environment Act 2005 and the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing 
Act 2014 have fines set at £100 reduced to £75 if paid within 7 days.  

 
4.9 In 2013-14, Public Protection staff issued 239 Fixed Penalty Notices for littering of which 218 

were paid resulting in a total of £11,200 paid fines. Most, though not all, fines were paid at the 
reduced rate of £50. Looking forward to 2015-16, assuming 239 Fixed Penalty Notices were 
to be served and 218 paid at the proposed reduced rate of £75, income from littering fines 
would total £16,350.  

 
4.10 There is a possibility that by increasing the fines, the risk of adverse publicity will also 

increase as, other than Blaenau Gwent CBC that have set their fine at £125 and Gwent Police 
Penalty Notices for Disorder set at £90, fines are likely to be amongst the highest in the UK 
(the statutory maximum in England is £80). Additionally, a potential increase in the non-
payment rate will increase the need for court action and this will have some resource 
implications for both Public Protection and Legal Services. We apply to the court for recovery 
of legal costs, but fines recovered through the courts are awarded to the Home Office rather 
than to the local authority.  

 
4.11 In order to meet the requirements of the legislation in paragraph 4.6 above, the Authority must 

formally specify and approve any variation to the fixed penalty fines for littering and dog 
control offences.  

 
4.12 At present offences of dog fouling committed on land within the county borough which has 

been designated under the Dogs (Fouling of Land) Act 1996 attract a Fixed Penalty Notice 
fine of £75, which cannot be altered and as such these will remain at £75 discounted to £50 if 
paid within 7 days. It is possible to replace all such designations with a Public Space 
Protection Order (see paragraph 4.3), but it is not proposed to do so at this time. In 2013/14 
Public Protection staff issued 47 Fixed Penalty Notices for dog fouling under the Dogs Fouling 
of Land Act 1996. 

 
 

Page 105



5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
5.1 Dog Control Order legislation provides exemptions in particular cases for registered blind 

people, deaf people and for other members of the public with disabilities who make use of 
trained assistance dogs.   

 
5.2 There is no requirement for an Equalities Impact Assessment Questionnaire to be completed 

for this report. 
 
 
6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
6.1  In 2013-14, Public Protection staff issued 239 Fixed Penalty Notices for littering, attracting 

paid fines of £11,200. Looking forward to 2015-16, assuming 239 Fixed Penalty Notices were 
to be served and 218 paid at the proposed reduced rate of £75, income from fines would total 
£16,350. As the Anti-social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 is a new piece of 
legislation it is difficult to predict how many Fixed Penalty Notices might be issued, but the 
number is expected to be relatively low. It is therefore estimated that there will be additional 
annual income of approximately £5,000 as a result of the proposals contained within this 
report. 

 
 
7. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

 
7.1 An increase in the non-payment rate will lead to an increase in the need for court action and 

this may have resource implications for Legal Services that will need to be monitored. 
 

 
8. CONSULTATIONS 

 
8.1 This report has been sent to the Consultees listed below and all comments received are 

reflected in this report. 
 
 
9. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
9.1 Prior to presentation of this Report to Cabinet the Committee are asked for their views on the 

following recommendations to Cabinet: 
 

(i) That the level of fine for Fixed Penalty Notices issued in relation to littering offences 
under the Environmental Protection Act 1990 is increased to £100 (or £75 if paid within 
7 days of the issue). 

(ii) That the level of fine for Fixed Penalty Notices issued for breaches of Dog Control 
Orders under the Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 is increased to 
£100 (or £75 if paid within 7 days of the issue). 

(iii) That the level of fine for Fixed Penalty Notices issued for Community Protection 
Notices and Public Space Protection Orders offences under the Anti-social Behaviour 
Crime and Policing Act 2014 is set at £100 (or £75 if paid within 7 days of the issue). 

 
 
10. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
10.1 To act as a deterrent to irresponsible dog owners and to those anti-social persons that drop 

litter. To prevent anti-social behaviour.  
 
 
11. STATUTORY POWER  
 
11.1 Environmental Protection Act 1990 – Section 88(6A) 

Page 106



Clean Neighbourhoods & Environment Act 2005 – Section 60(1) 
Environmental Offences (Fixed Penalties) (Miscellaneous Provisions) (Wales) Regulations 
2008 – Section 2 
Anti Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 

 
 
Author: Ceri Edwards, Environmental Health Manager 
Consultees: Councillor David Poole, Cabinet Member for Community & Leisure Services 
 Dave Street, Corporate Director, Social Services 
 Rob Hartshorn, Head of Public Protection 
 Gail Williams, Interim Head of Legal Services & Monitoring Officer 
 Lisa Lane, Solicitor 
 David A. Thomas, Senior Policy Officer (Equalities & Welsh Language) 
 Mike Eedy, Finance Manager 
 Sian Phillips, Human Resources Manager 
 
 
Background Papers: None 
 

Page 107



Page 108

This page is intentionally left blank



 1

 

 

 

HEALTH SOCIAL CARE AND WELLBEING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE -  

24TH MARCH 2015 
 

SUBJECT: HOSPITAL DISCHARGE 

 

REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES 

 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To provide members with information on the Joint Hospital Discharge Team (JHDT) 

particularly in relation to winter pressures. 
 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The report will provide information in relation to performance measures for delayed transfers 

of care (DToC). 
 
2.2 The report will outline the use of the Intermediate Care Fund to change practice and 

demonstrated the good work between the JHDT and the Community Resource Team (CRT). 
 
 
3. LINKS TO STRATEGY 
 
3.1 The Welsh Government is very clear that Health and Social Care must work together to 

minimise lengths of stay in hospital for people.  
 
 
4. THE REPORT 
 
4.1 Members will be aware that DToC has been an area of concern for the authority for sometime,  

and one in which we have committed to improve . 
 

4.2 The national performance indicator for DToC during 2013/14 placed the authority 22 out of 22 
in terms of delays recorded, which impact on the whole system. 
 

4.3 DToC are collated on the third Wednesday of every month, known as census day.  This looks 
to capture the number of people whom health boards declare as medically stable and ready to 
be discharged, however, are not able to transfer from hospital due to a wide range of reasons. 

 
4.4 The lists of declared people are jointly validated and the delay reasons are coded to indicate if 

the reason for delay is attributable to health or social.  Examples of delay codes for social care 
reasons: assessment not started, awaiting arrangement of package of care or reablement, 
awaiting placement in long term care.  Examples for health are awaiting specialist equipment, 
Continuing Health Care (CHC). 

Agenda Item 11

Page 109



 2

 
4.5 The data is collated monthly by Health on the HOWIS database, which cannot be updated by 

Local Authorities.  Joint validation has been introduced to ensure both LHB’s and LA’s work 
together to report as one team. 

 
4.6 The JHDT manager validates the lists for ABUHB hospital patients, however, as Caerphilly 

residents access a number of out of area hospitals, such as The University Hospital and 
Prince Charles, these health boards also declare delays on HOWIS with limited/no joint 
validation. 

 
4.7 The JHDT manager has been proactive in working with all health boards and Assessment and 

Care Management Teams to reduce the number of delays for social care reasons and 
improve the experience for people and their carers. 

 
4.8 Several initiatives have been undertaken, including proactive meetings with health board 

managers, redeployment of human resources to different hospitals on a needs/demand basis 
which changes regularly, attendance at daily meetings and working with CRT particularly the 
home care arm to provide temporary packages of care to facilitate discharge as an interim 
arrangement.  As a result the CRT delivered 1,000 extra hours in December to prevent 
unnecessary admissions or facilitate discharge from hospital for people. 

 
4.9 The Welsh Government’s repatriation policy has proved a challenge to the team, as all 

Caerphilly residents who are admitted to hospitals outside the borough should be repatriated 
within 48 hours.  This clearly has an impact on bed availability for people who need to be 
transferred to rehabilitation beds verses those that need to be returned to the borough under 
the policy guidelines. 

 
4.10 The authorities have worked with ABUHB and the four other local authorities to develop winter 

pressures plans to assist with the management of the perceived increase in demand for this 
period of the year. 

 
4.11 On a weekly basis each of the 22 local authorities has to submit a return to the Welsh 

Government to inform a weekly conference call regarding the position in each health board 
region in respect of DToC and impact on what is termed patient flow. 

 
4.12 This weekly report has to give information on current pressures, perceived pressures within 

the next 7 days, action being taken locally to address the issues and any other information 
deemed appropriate.  In addition to this WG has now requested monthly information on the 
number of current open cases for social services, number of hours of domiciliary care and 
reablement being provided and number of long term care beds funded in an attempt to 
illustrate the wider picture in terms of how many people that are being supported in the 
community by Local Authorities and secondary health care. 

 
4.13 The focus of the current performance indicators is very much on discharge and not prevention 

of admission something that is looking to be addressed in the future. 
 
4.14 The table below illustrates the significant improvements that have been made since April 2014 

on the number of people classed as DToC. 

Page 110



 3

Total Number of DTOC’s for Caerphilly 

Total number of DTOC's

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Month

N
u

m
b

e
r
 o

f 
D

T
O

C

2012-2013

2013-2014

2014-2015

 
 

 Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2012-2013 24 25 23 29 28 12 21 24 22 35 27 41 

2013-2014 40 35 31 23 38 27 34 35 41 39 34 37 

2014-2015 27 23 34 18 22 18 17 11 6 18 25  

 
4.15 The table below illustrates the significant reduction in the numbers of delays that are classified 

as delaying for social care reasons, now the higher percentage of delays are for health 
reasons. 

 
Number of DTOC’s for Social Care reasons 
 

Number of DTOC's for Social Care reasons

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Month

N
o

 o
f 

D
T

O
C

's

2012-2013

2013-2014

2014-2015

 
 Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2012-2013 9 7 4 11 9 4 5 7 8 12 10 17 

2013-2014 18 10 15 5 12 6 14 14 14 16 12 14 

2014-2015 9 7 13 4 2 0 0 2 3 3 4  

 

Page 111



 4

 
4.16 The Intermediate Care Fund (ICF) has been used to develop a number of assessment beds 

across the borough with associated staffing levels.  These beds can be used for step up or 
step down and enable an accurate assessment of an individuals needs to be undertaken. 

 
4.17 The assessment beds can be accessed by the JHDT and community staff as they are 

managed and resourced from the CRT. 
 
4.18 Location of beds is as follows: 

 

• Ty Clyd -  7 beds for residential step up/step down 

• Ty Iscoed -  3 beds for residential EMI step up/step down 

• Integrated North Resource Centre -  6 beds for nursing step up/step down beds 
 
4.19  Integrated Care Fund (ICF) monies were obtained to support five full time posts; a (NHS) 

Band 7 Nurse Assessor, a (Social Services) Grade 9 Occupational Therapist post, a (SS) 
Grade 9 Social Worker post, a Band 5 Registered Nurse and a Band 3 Healthcare Support 
Worker (HCSW) plus additional care hours at Ty Iscoed. 

 
Each post holder is notionally attached to one of three inter-related schemes spanning health 
and social care services in the Caerphilly borough, however work as a multi-disciplinary team 
supporting all three schemes. 

 

4.20 Service Aims 
 

The goal of the services provided by this multi-disciplinary team and the three associated 
schemes are to: 

 

• Prevent unnecessary admission to hospital or long-term care; 

• Achieve a reduction in length of stay in an acute hospital setting; 

• Facilitate timely discharge from hospitals; 

• Ensure a multi-disciplinary team completes appropriate assessments to facilitate 
targeting of the correct interventions and maximise potential for independence; 

• Share good practice; 

• Allows patients, professionals and families to make informed decisions regarding their 
future care needs. 

 
4.21  Usage of the beds has been very good and will be subject to a separate evaluation process 

as part of the ICF.  Some early findings are very positive in terms of reducing length of stay, 
reducing DToCs, supporting people returning home and feedback from individual and their 
carers/family. 

 
 
5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 An equalities impact assessment is not required report is for information only. 
 
 
6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 The additional 1,000 hours provided in December cost circa £15K. 
 
6.2 Approximately £210K of ICF money has been used in 2014/15 to support the assessment 

beds. 
 
 
7. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 The are no direct personnel implications associated with this report. 

Page 112



 5

 
 
8. CONSULTATIONS 
 
8.1 All comments received have been incorporated into the report. 
 
 
9. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
9.1 Members note the significant improvement in the number of delayed transfers of care for 

social care reasons. 
 
 
10. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 Delayed Transfers of Care (DToC) is a key performance indicator for adult services. 
 
 
Author: Jo Williams, Assistant Director Adult Services 
Consultees: Social Services Senior Management Team  
 Cllr Robin Woodyatt Cabinet Member Social Services 
 Adult Services Divisional Management Team 

Chris Hill Team Manager JHDT 
 Jason Bennett Team Manager CRT 
 Mike Jones Interim Financial Services Manager  
 

Page 113



Page 114

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

HEALTH SOCIAL CARE AND WELLBEING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 

24TH MARCH 2015 
 

SUBJECT: GWENT WIDE INTEGRATED COMMUNITY EQUIPMENT SERVICES 

 

REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES  

 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To provide members with information on the Gwent Wide Integrated Community Equipment 

Services (GWICES), as requested at a previous Scrutiny Committee. 
 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The report will outline information regarding the partnership, use of Intermediate Care Fund, 

savings made and proposals for continuation of the current partnership agreement and 
section 33 arrangements.  

 
 
3. LINKS TO STRATEGY 
 
3.1 GWICES was initially developed as a partnership between the 5 Local Authorities and 

corresponding 5 Local Health Boards as a result of significant capital grant funding from 
Welsh Government to integrated community equipment services across health and social care 
to improve services for people 

 
3.2 Following reconfiguration of health services, the partnership was reviewed and amended to 

reflect 5 Local Authorities and Aneurin Bevan Health Board. 
 
 
4. THE REPORT 
 
4.1 The GWICES partnership has been in place for many years the current contract for provision 

of the service is with Vision Products who are a sheltered workshop and form part of Rhondda 
Cynon Taff. 

 
4.2 Governance is maintained by the following groups - Equipment Prescribers Group (EPG), 

Operational Management Group (OMG) and Management Advisory Board (MAB).  All 
partners have a representative at all groups. 

 
4.3 EPG have been responsible for “bundling” which means grouping equipment together than 

performs the same function this limits selection for prescribers and reduce the range offered 
which assist with maintaining accurate stock levels and identifying non moving equipment. 

 
4.4 The chair of EPG was part of the Value Wales tendering group, which has been successful in 

significantly reducing costs of certain pieces of stock equipment by establishing a 
procurement framework. 

Agenda Item 13

Page 115



 
4.5 Members of the Management Advisory Board have recently agreed to take up the option of 

extending the contract with Vision until 2018. 
 
4.6 Torfaen County Borough Council are the lead commissioning team for GWICES.  One of the 

team members is an Occupational Therapist (OT) who is responsible for scrutinising all 
special orders, these are one off items not part of standard stock.  These are all reviewed to 
ascertain if there is anything suitable in stock that could do the job as a result of this the OT 
has identified savings of £153k for 2013/14 and a similar figure is anticipated for 2014/15 
based on quarterly savings identified. 

 
4.7 As part of the ongoing work, GWICES has worked with another equipment partnership hosted 

by RCT on a complex equipment project.  This project looked to facilitate exchange of 
equipment between equipment services in Wales. 

 
4.8 The project was approved and funded by Welsh Government in 2013 and the two 

partnerships agreed to pilot this approach, via development of a pricing matrix and grading of 
equipment.  The pilot started in Jan 2014 and over a 12 month period the table below outlines 
the savings: 

 
Number of exchanges Cost of 

purchases new 
 

Refurbished cost Cost Savings 

27 
(includes accessories and 

parts for equipment) 
 

£28,121 £12,230 £15,891 

 
Whilst the above demonstrates financial savings what is also clear has been the time saved 
by the two partnerships exchanging equipment and avoiding placing new orders with 
companies leading to customers receiving equipment quicker. 

 
4.9 The pilot is currently being expanded to look at selling slow/ non-moving stock to other 

organisations.  Learning is being shared across Wales to look to roll the scheme out across all 
partnerships. 

 
4.10 The Intermediate Care Fund has been used successfully in terms of capital and revenue 

funding.  Tranch 1 of the funding was for £350k revenue, of which £100k was identified to 
manage demand for the health board.  The remaining £250k was used to purchase equipment 
for the care review project which is being tried in all boroughs, this will be evaluated by the 
GWICES OT in terms of any cashable savings identified in terms of moving and handling 
equipment for use by one carer.  In addition, the bath lift replacement scheme was increased 
to ensure compliance with Lifting Operating and Lifting Equipment Regulations (LOLER). 

 
4.11 Tranch 2 of the funding identified £95k capital which was used to purchase upgrades and 

additional functionality for the CQUIP  IT system to enable accurate recording and tracing of 
equipment.  A further £370k revenue was available, this was used to purchase standard stock 
equipment which is frequently issued e.g. hoists and slings.  All funding has been fully utilised 
and will assist with expenditure in the next financial year. 

 
4.12 Review of the operating policy for GWICES highlighted different practices in different 

boroughs in respect of equipment that is provided to long-term care homes.  As a result, a 
piece of work was undertaken to agree standardised provision for all establishments, which 
will be reflected in the overarching contracts with each borough.  GWICES will cease to 
provide standard stock equipment from 1st April 2015 as this can be used by many residents, 
i.e. not specific to an individual, GWICES will continue to provide very specialist equipment 
for an individual where identified. 

Page 116



 
4.13 To facilitate this change of practice each home will be asked to validate the equipment they 

have, if they decide they wish to keep it, the equipment will be gifted to them however they will 
be responsible for any servicing, maintenance or repair.  Any equipment they no longer 
required will be collected and the CQUIP data basis updated to reflect this. 

 
4.14 The section 33 partnership agreement is currently being reviewed changed are being 

proposed to remodel the costs for the partnership which when agreed will come into place in 
April 2016 base budgets will then be adjusted accordingly. 

 
 
5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Equalities impact assessment is not required report is for information only. 
 
 
6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 Specific financial information is contained within the body of the report. 
 
6.2 The adult services budget for disability equipment for 2014/15 stands at £735k.  However, the 

budget will be reduced by £132k as part of the directorate’s budget strategy for 2015/16. 
Leaving a budget of around £603k. 

 
6.3 Projected costs for 2014/15 provided by the GWICES lead commissioner as at January 2014 

are £535,439, which equates to a projected in year underspend of £92,520.  
 
 
7. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no personnel implications associated with this report. 
 
 
8. CONSULTATIONS 
 
8.1 All comments received have been included in the report. 
 
 
9. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
9.1 Members note the content of the report. 
 
 
10. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 Report is for information only. 
 
 
Author: Jo Williams Assistant Director 
Consultees: Social Services Senior Management Team 

Cllr Robin Woodyatt Cabinet Member Social Services 
Adult Services Divisional Management Team 
Sean O’Brien Team Manager Occupational Therapy 

 Andrew Watkins Interim Senior Accountant 
 
 

Page 117



Page 118

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Health, Social Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee held on 10th February 2015.
	8 CSSIW National Inspection of Safeguarding and Care Planning of Looked After Children and Care Leavers who Exhibit Vulnerable or Risky Behaviours.  (Presentation by Bobbie Jones, Strategy Inspector CSSIW).
	The National Inspection of safeguarding and care planning of looked after children
	LAC Inspection - Final Report September 2014
	Action plan from LAC Inspection February 2015

	10 Proposal to Increase Fixed Penalty Notice Fines for Litter and Dog Control Order Offences and to set Fixed Penalty Notice Fines for Community Protection Notices and Public Space Protection Orders.
	11 Hospital Discharge.
	13 Gwent Wide Integrated Community Equipment Services.

